
Finance Committee Agenda 
Jefferson County 

Jefferson County Courthouse 
311 S. Center Avenue, Room 205 

Jefferson, WI  53549  
Date:  Thursday September 10, 2020 
Time:  8:30 a.m. 

Committee members:  Jones, Richard (Chair); Kutz, Russell (Secretary); Rinard, Amy; Jaeckel, George (Vice Chair); 
Nelan, Conor  

1. Call to order  
2. Roll call (establish a quorum)  
3. Certification of compliance with the Open Meetings Law 
4. Approval of the agenda  
5. Approval of Finance Committee minutes for August 13, 2020 
6. Communications  
7. Public comment (Members of the public who wish to address the Committee on specific agenda items must register their request at this time) 

8. Discussion and possible action on Flood Mitigation Program plan 
9. Discussion and possible action on Railroad Consortium funding for 2021 
10. Discussion and possible action on closure of CDBG Revolving Loan Fund Program 

11. Discussion and possible action on providing levy funding for Farm Drainage Board 
12. Discussion and possible action on contingency transfer for Jefferson County Comprehensive Plan 
13. Discussion and possible action on 2021 budget update 
14. Discussion and possible action on CARES funds update 
15. Discussion and possible action on determining disposition of foreclosed properties, setting minimum bids for the 

sale of foreclosed properties and considering offers to purchase on foreclosed properties  
16. Convene in closed session pursuant to section 19.85 (1)(e) Wis. Stats. for deliberating or negotiating the purchase 

of  public  properties,  the  investing  of  public  funds,  or  conducting  other  specified  public  business, whenever 
competitive or bargaining reasons require a closed session, for the purpose of discussion and possible action on 
setting minimum bids, selling and considering offers to purchase on tax foreclosed properties and other county 
owned properties and pursuant to section 19.85 (1)(g) Wis. Stats. to confer with legal counsel concerning strategy 
to be adopted by Jefferson County with respect to litigation in which it is or is likely to become involved for the 
purpose of discussion and possible action on claims against Jefferson County 

17. Reconvene in open session for action on closed session items if necessary 
18. Discussion and possible action on 2020 projections of budget vs. actual revenues and expenditures 
19. Review of the financial statements and department update for July 2020‐Finance Department  
20. Review of the financial statements and department update for July 2020‐Treasurer’s Office  
21. Review of the financial statements and department update for July 2020‐Child Support Department  
22. Update on contingency fund balance  
23. Discussion of funding for projects related to the new highway facilities and sale of old highway facilities  
24. Set future meeting schedule, next meeting date, and possible agenda items  
25. Review of invoices  
26. Adjourn  

 
Next scheduled meetings:    Monday, September 21, 2020 (Budget Hearings) 
        Tuesday, September 22, 2020 (Budget Hearings) 

Wednesday, September 23, 2020 (Budget Hearings) 
        Thursday, September 24, 2020 (Budget Hearings) 
        Thursday, October 8, 2020 (Regular Meeting)   
        Thursday, November 5, 2020 (Regular Meeting)   
         
A Quorum of  any  Jefferson County Committee, Board, Commission or other body,  including  the  Jefferson County Board  of  Supervisors, may be present  at  this 
meeting. 

Individuals requiring special accommodations for attendance at the meeting should contact the County Administrator 24 hours prior to the meeting at 920‐674‐7101 
so appropriate arrangements can be made. 



Page 1 of 3 
 

Jefferson County 
Finance Committee Minutes 
August 13, 2020 
 
Committee members:    Jones, Richard (Chair)      Kutz, Russell (Secretary) 
      Rinard, Amy        Nelan, Conor 
      Jaeckel, George (Vice Chair) 
   
1. Call to order – Finance Committee Chair Richard Jones called the meeting to order at 8:30 a.m. 

 
2. Roll call (establish a quorum) – Finance Committee members present were Richard Jones, George 

Jaeckel, Russell Kutz, Conor Nelan and Amy Rinard.   Other board members present were Anita 
Martin.   Staff  in attendance were County Administrator, Ben Wehmeier; Finance Director, Marc 
DeVries;  Assistant  Finance  Director,  Tammy Worzalla;  Communication  Supervisor  Todd  Lindert 
and Paralegal Sarana Stolar.   Members of the public present were Rob Leuty and Matt Slowinski 
from DANA  Investment Advisors,  Bruce  Knipfer  from  Jefferson,  and Michelle  Lickness  of  IKWE 
Development. 

 
3. Certification  of  compliance  with  the  Open Meetings  Law  –  County  Administrator Wehmeier 

certified compliance with the Open Meetings Law. 
 
4. Approval  of  the  agenda  –  Jones moved  items  11  and  12  behind  item  14.    The  agenda  was 

approved as amended. 
 
5. Approval of Finance Committee minutes for July 9, 2020 ‐ A motion was made by Jaeckel/Nelan 

to approve the minutes for July 9, 2020. The motion passed 5‐0. 
 
6. Communications – None.  
 
7. Public Comment – None. 

 
8. Discussion  on  investment  portfolio  and  strategy  – Matt  Slowinski  and  Rob  Leuty  from  DANA 

Investment Advisors addressed the Committee on the current status of the County’s  investments 
and their recommendation of $400,000‐500,000 as a budget goal for 2021 investment income.  No 
action was taken. 

 
9. Discussion and possible action on claims against Jefferson County – DeVries explained the claim 

against the County was recommended for disallowance by the County’s insurance carrier, WMMIC.  
Motion  by  Rinard/Jaeckel  to  approve  the  denial  of  the  claim  and  recommend  approval  of  this 
resolution to the Board of Supervisors.  The motion passed 5‐0.  

 
10. Discussion and possible action on awarding contract  to Edge Consulting – Wehmeier explained 

that the 911 telecommunications upgrade project was progressing and that some potential tower 
sites had been identified.  In order for site development and tower specifications to be developed 
the  County will  need  assistance  from  a  civil  engineering  firm.    Edge  Consulting  has  proprietary 
knowledge of many of our existing sites.   Motion by Jaeckel/Rinard to award the contract for civil 
engineering  for  the  telecommunications  improvement project  to Edge Consulting and  to  forward 
the resolution to the September Board of Supervisors meeting.  The motion passed 5‐0. 



Page 2 of 3 
 

 

 
11. Discussion and possible action on CARES  funding update  ‐ Wehmeier and DeVries updated  the 

Committee on  the purchases  related  to  the County’s  response  to  the COVID‐19 pandemic.    Last 
month, the Committee and Board voted to extend the emergency purchasing clause as it relates to 
the County’s  response  to  the COVID‐19 pandemic, provided  that  the Finance Committee provide 
monthly  oversight  on  such  purchases.   DeVries  has  included  a  list  of  purchases made  that  the 
County has been reimbursed for by CARES funds and also a  list of pending transactions as well as 
other planned expenditures relating to COVID response.  Motion by Rinard/Jaeckel to approve the 
list of purchases made and pending, with  further  reports  to  follow on  the plans presented.   The 
motion passed 5‐0. 

 
12. Discussion  and  possible  action  on  determining  disposition  of  foreclosed  properties,  setting 

minimum  bids  for  the  sale  of  foreclosed  properties  and  considering  offers  to  purchase  on 
foreclosed properties  – Bruce Knipfer of  the City of  Jefferson  addressed  the Committee on  the 
status of his claim with the VA which would provide relief  for property taxes outstanding and an 
ongoing benefit  that would assist with  satisfying  future property  tax obligations.   The assistance 
will  arrive  by  the  end  of  the month.    Since  the  property was  not  foreclosed  on,  no  action  is 
necessary at this time.  No action was taken. 

 

13. Convene  in  closed  session  pursuant  to  section  19.85  (1)(e)  Wis.  Stats.  for  deliberating  or 
negotiating the purchase of public properties, the investing of public funds, or conducting other 
specified public business, whenever competitive or bargaining reasons require a closed session, 
for  the  purpose  of  discussion  and  possible  action  on  setting  minimum  bids,  selling  and 
considering offers to purchase on tax foreclosed properties and other county owned properties 
and pursuant to section 19.85 (1)(g) Wis. Stats. to confer with legal counsel concerning strategy 
to be adopted by Jefferson County with respect to  litigation in which it is or is likely to become 
involved for the purpose of discussion and possible action on claims against Jefferson County –
Motion  by  Jones/Jaeckel  to  convene  into  closed  session.    The  Committee  voted  by  roll  call  to 
convene into closed session.   The motion passed 5‐0. 

 
14. Reconvene  in  open  session  for  action  on  closed  session  items  if  necessary  –  Motion  by 

Jones/Jaeckel to convene into open session.  The motion passed 5‐0. 
 

15. Discussion  and  possible  action  on  2021  budget  update  – DeVries  explained  the  budget  report 
included  in  the Committee packages.   Current  revenue  trends are better  than expected  in most 
areas.  This is creating difficulties in developing a reliable revenue model for 2021.  Expenditures to 
date  are  tracking  nicely with  revenues  as  departments  are mindful  of  the  effect  of  COVID  on 
County operations.   The 2021 budget process has been  launched that proposes 3 scenarios which 
may be useful during  the  year  should  the need  for mid‐year  adjustments  arise.   No  action was 
taken. 

 
16. Discussion  and  possible  action  on  2020  projections  of  budget  vs.  actual  revenues  and 

expenditures – DeVries reviewed the unadjusted July 31 results and comparison to prior years at 
July 31, highlighting areas of concern.  No action was taken. 

 
17. Review of the financial statements and department update for June 2020 ‐ Finance Department – 

No action taken.   



Page 3 of 3 
 

 
18. Review  of  the  financial  statements  and  department  update  for  June  2020  ‐  Treasurers 

Department – No action taken. 
 

19. Review  of  the  financial  statements  and  department  update  for  June  2020  ‐  Child  Support 
Department ‐ No action taken. 

 
20. Update on  contingency  fund balance  ‐ The balance of  the 2020  contingency  funds  is $568,824.  

There are currently no contingency funds budgeted  in the other contingency  line, and the vested 
benefits balance is $300,000. 

 
21. Discussion of funding for projects related to the new Highway Facilities and sale of old Highway 

Facilities. Wehmeier updated the Committee on the progress of the old highway site.   
 

22. Set future meeting schedule, next meeting date, and possible agenda items – The next meeting is 
scheduled  for  September 10, 2020  at 8:30  am.   Potential  agenda  items  include  a  report on  the 
CARES purchases and expenditures to date. 

 
23. Review of Invoices ‐ After review of the invoices, a motion was made by Jaeckel/Nelan to approve 

the payment of invoices totaling $29,641,439.66.  The motion passed 5‐0. 
 

24. Adjourn – A motion was made by Jaeckel/Rinard to adjourn at 10:54 a.m.  The motion passed 5‐0. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Russell Kutz, Secretary 
Finance Committee 
Jefferson County 
/mad 



                                                                                                                                                 6/18/2020

ADDRESS TYPE*
 ESTIMATED 

ACQUISIITON**** 
 TITLE 

SEARCHES APPRAISALS

 
ABSTRACTS/

TITLE 
INSURANCE 

DATE 
NOTICE OF 

VOLUNTARY 
INTEREST 
SIGNED

 5 YEAR 
FLOOD 

INSURANCE 
PREMIUMS 
2014-2019 

 CLOSING 
COSTS 

 RELOCATION 
ASSISTANCE 

COSTS*** 

 BID 
DEMOLIITON/

SITE 
RESORATION OTHER COSTS** TOTAL FINANCING SOURCES MATCH 12.5%

 DWELLING 
N2290 Rock River Road (DNR)A B*  $       245,450.00 1,650.00$       375.00$        2/19/2019 100,000.00$   14,100.00$     4,215.00$               365,790.00$      HMGP/STEWARDSHIP 45,723.75$        

-$                   
W6526 STH 106 (DNR)A V*  $         61,075.00 1,650.00$       375.00$        5/31/2013 11,600.00$     1,715.00$               76,415.00$        HMGP/STEWARDSHIP 9,551.88$          

-$                   
N2364 Rock River Road (DNR)A R*  $       149,125.00 1,650.00$       375.00$        6/16/2011 10,500.00$     20,100.00$     1,715.00$               183,465.00$      HMGP/STEWARDSHIP 22,933.13$        

-$                   

 $       455,650.00 4,950.00$       1,125.00$     110,500.00$   45,800.00$     7,645.00$               625,670.00$      78,208.75$        

**OTHER COSTS:  Incluse costs for appraisal review, parcel management fees, title insurance commitments/reports, acquisition fees, relocation assistance fees, and contingency fees.  See guidance.

***Tenants are entitled to relocation assistance as required by the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 (URA) as well as State Relocation Law, State Chapter 32.19-23.27, Commerce Code chapter 202, whichever pays

more

########################################################################################################################################################################

****ESTIMATED ACQUISITION amounts were determined on the  EFMV or the Total Value identified on the Tax Statement, which ever was higher.  From a historical view, property appraisals have continuously come in at higher values  than the EFMV
As a result 30% has been added to the higher of the EFMV or the Total Value identified on the tax statement.  Includes filing of warranty deed

Appraisal costs vary due to the additional conditions required by the DNR Stewardship Grant.

Demolition Site Restoration includes demolition costs/well capping by quote from contractor, Utility abandoment of 650.00, Well abandonment for 1,000.00 and estimated asbestos inspection/abatement for 1,800.00/and estimated Archeological Costs 700.00
actual costs from previous acquisitions

* TYPE: Unimproved Land (vacant), Primary Residence, Secondary or recreational property, rental property (2-4 family), rental property (multi-family 5 or more units), Mobile Home, Commercial, Public or other (specify).
** RELOCATION ASSISTANCE COSTS: Tenants are entitled to relocation assistance as required by the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Polices Act of 1970 (URA) as well as State Relocation Law, State Chapter 32.19-32.27, Adm. Code Chapter 92, 
*** OTHER COSTS: Include costs for project management, relocation specialist, and other costs associated with implementing the project.  In addition, "supplemental housing" payments if meets requirements. See page 26 of HMA Guidance Addendum, 
Attach all documentation to support the cost estimate. (Cost estimates must be established using nationally published or local cost estimating guides. If the cost estimate is based on a contractor's bid or historic costs from another similar activity or project 
within the community, documentation must be provided.)

JEFFERSON COUNTY FEMA 4383 DR WI
HAZARD MITIGATION ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS

BUDGET COST WORKSHEET
ACQUISITION/DEMOLITION PROJECTS



                                                                                                                                                 6/18/2020

ADDRESS TYPE*
 ESTIMATED 

ACQUISIITON**** 
 TITLE 

SEARCHES APPRAISALS

 
ABSTRACTS/

TITLE 
INSURANCE 

DATE 
NOTICE OF 

VOLUNTARY 
INTEREST 
SIGNED

 5 YEAR 
FLOOD 

INSURANCE 
PREMIUMS 
2014-2019 
DWELLING 

 CLOSING 
COSTS 

 RELOCATION 
ASSISTANCE 

COSTS*** 

 BID 
DEMOLIITON/

SITE 
RESORATION OTHER COSTS** TOTAL MATCH SOURCE MATCH AMOUNT

W7291 Blackhawk Island RoadA P  $        221,925.00 1,250.00$        $        375.00 10/18/2012  $     16,000.00 1,715.00$               241,265.00$      HMGP/MFC 30,158.13$             

W7056 Blackhawk Island RoadA P  $        112,750.00 1,250.00$        $        375.00 4/3/2013  $     3,767.00  $     12,000.00 1,715.00$               131,857.00$      HMGP/MFC 16,482.13$             

W7726 Blackhawk Island RoadA P  $        162,925.00 1,250.00$        $        375.00 8/5/2014  $     11,000.00 1,715.00$               177,265.00$      HMGP/MFC 22,158.13$             

W7596 Blackhawk Island RoadA P  $        251,925.00 1,250.00$        $        375.00 12/3/2017  $     2,660.00  $     15,500.00 1,715.00$               273,425.00$      HMGP/MFC 34,178.13$             

W7578 Blackhawk Island RoadA P  $        119,800.00 1,250.00$        $        375.00 7/10/2018  $     11,000.00 1,715.00$               134,140.00$      HMGP/MFC 16,767.50$             

W7265 Blackhawk Island RoadA R  $        188,750.00 1,250.00$        $        375.00 6/4/2013  $     10,500.00  $     12,500.00 1,715.00$               215,090.00$      PDM/MFC 53,772.50$             

W7696 Blackhaw Island RoadA R  $        156,475.00 1,250.00$        $        375.00 8/5/2014  $     10,500.00  $     10,500.00 3,515.00$               182,615.00$      PDM/MFC 45,653.75$             

W7495 Blackhawk Island RoadA R  $        170,250.00 1,250.00$       375.00$         3/22/2018 10,500.00$     12,000.00$     3,515.00$               197,890.00$      PDM/MFC 49,472.50$             

W7032 Blackhawk Island RoadA S  $          59,450.00 1,250.00$        $        375.00 12/27/2018  $     12,000.00 1,715.00$               74,790.00$        PDM/MFC 18,697.50$             

W7297 Blackhawk Island RoadA S  $        211,750.00 1,250.00$        $        375.00 2/12/2019  $     15,500.00 1,715.00$               230,590.00$      PDM/MFC 57,647.50$             

W7181 Blackhawk Island RoadA V  $        173,025.00 1,250.00$        $        375.00 11/3/2017  $     11,500.00 1,715.00$               187,865.00$      PDM/MFC 46,966.25$             

391,954.00$           
TOTALS  $        959,700.00 7,500.00$       2,250.00$     -$                31,500.00$     74,000.00$     13,890.00$             1,088,840.00$   

*TYPE:  Primary Residence (P), Rental Properties (R), Seasonal Residence (S), Vacant Residents (V).

**OTHER COSTS:  Incluse costs for appraisal review, parcel management fees, title insurance commitments/reports, acquisition fees, relocation assistance fees, and contingency fees.  See guidance.

***Tenants are entitled to relocation assistance as required by the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 (URA) as well as State Relocation Law, State Chapter 32.19-23.27, Commerce Code chapter 202, whichever pays

more

########################################################################################################################################################################

****ESTIMATED ACQUISITION amounts were determined on the  EFMV or the Total Value identified on the Tax Statement, which ever was higher.  From a historical view, property appraisals have continuously come in at higher values  than the EFMV.
As a result 30% has been added to the higher of the EFMV or the Total Value identified on the tax statement.  Includes filing of warranty deed.

Appraisal costs vary due to the additional conditions required by the DNR Stewardship Grant.

Demolition Site Restoration includes demolition costs/well capping by quote from contractor, Utility abandoment of 650.00, Well abandonment for 1,000.00 and estimated asbestos inspection/abatement for 1,800.00/and estimated Archeological Costs 700.00
actual costs from previous acquisitions

* TYPE: Unimproved Land (vacant), Primary Residence, Secondary or recreational property, rental property (2-4 family), rental property (multi-family 5 or more units), Mobile Home, Commercial, Public or other (specify).
** RELOCATION ASSISTANCE COSTS: Tenants are entitled to relocation assistance as required by the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Polices Act of 1970 (URA) as well as State Relocation Law, State Chapter 32.19-32.27, Adm. Code Chapter 92, whichever
*** OTHER COSTS: Include costs for project management, relocation specialist, and other costs associated with implementing the project.  In addition, "supplemental housing" payments if meets requirements. See page 26 of HMA Guidance Addendum, http://www.fema.gov/media
Attach all documentation to support the cost estimate. (Cost estimates must be established using nationally published or local cost estimating guides. If the cost estimate is based on a contractor's bid or historic costs from another similar activity or project within 
the community, documentation must be provided.)

DNR MUNICIPAL FLOOD CONTROL GRANT
BUDGET COST WORKSHEET

ACQUISITION/DEMOLITION PROJECTS



                                                                                                                                                 7/1/2019

6/18/2020

ADDRESS TYPE*
 ESTIMATED 

ACQUISIITON**** 
 TITLE 

SEARCHES APPRAISALS

 
ABSTRACTS/

TITLE 
INSURANCE 

DATE 
NOTICE OF 

VOLUNTARY 
INTEREST 

SIGNED

 5 YEAR 
FLOOD 

INSURANCE 
PREMIUMS 
2014-2019 

 CLOSING 
COSTS 

 RELOCATION 
ASSISTANCE 

COSTS*** 

 BID 
DEMOLIITON/

SITE 
RESORATION OTHER COSTS** TOTAL

FUNDING 
SOURCE MATCH

 DWELLING 
N1890 North Shore RoadA P*  $       230,600.00 1,250.00$       375.00$        4/26/2013 8,344.00$       18,500.00$     1,715.00$              260,784.00$      HMGP 32,598.00$        

-$                   -$                   
N1850 North Shore RoadA R  $         55,850.00 1,250.00$       375.00$        6/23/2011 10,500.00$     11,000.00$     3,515.00$              82,490.00$        HMGP 10,311.25$        

42,909.25$        
TOTALS  $       286,450.00 2,500.00$       750.00$        8,344.00$       -$               10,500.00$     29,500.00$     5,230.00$              343,274.00$      

*TYPE:  Primary Residence (P), Rental Properties (R), Seasonal Residence (S), Vacant Residents (V).

**OTHER COSTS:  Incluse costs for appraisal review, parcel management fees, title insurance commitments/reports, acquisition fees, relocation assistance fees, and contingency fees.  See guidance.

***Tenants are entitled to relocation assistance as required by the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 (URA) as well as State Relocation Law, State Chapter 32.19-23.27, Commerce Code chapter 202, whichever pays

more

########################################################################################################################################################################

****ESTIMATED ACQUISITION amounts were determined on the  EFMV or the Total Value identified on the Tax Statement, which ever was higher.  From a historical view, property appraisals have continuously come in at higher values  than the EFMV.
As a result 30% has been added to the higher of the EFMV or the Total Value identified on the tax statement.  Includes filing of warranty deed.

Appraisal costs vary due to the additional conditions required by the DNR Stewardship Grant.

Demolition Site Restoration includes demolition costs/well capping by quote from contractor, Utility abandoment of 650.00, Well abandonment for 1,000.00 and estimated asbestos inspection/abatement for 1,800.00/and estimated Archeological Costs 700.00
actual costs from previous acquisitions

* TYPE: Unimproved Land (vacant), Primary Residence, Secondary or recreational property, rental property (2-4 family), rental property (multi-family 5 or more units), Mobile Home, Commercial, Public or other (specify).
** RELOCATION ASSISTANCE COSTS: Tenants are entitled to relocation assistance as required by the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Polices Act of 1970 (URA) as well as State Relocation Law, State Chapter 32.19-32.27, Adm. Code Chapter 92, 
*** OTHER COSTS: Include costs for project management, relocation specialist, and other costs associated with implementing the project.  In addition, "supplemental housing" payments if meets requirements. See page 26 of HMA Guidance Addendum, 
Attach all documentation to support the cost estimate. (Cost estimates must be established using nationally published or local cost estimating guides. If the cost estimate is based on a contractor's bid or historic costs from another similar activity or project 
within the community, documentation must be provided.)

JEFFERSON COUNTY FEMA 4383 DR WI

HAZARD MITIGATION ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS
BUDGET COST WORKSHEET

ACQUISITION/DEMOLITION PROJECTS



                                                                                                                                                 6/18/2020

ADDRESS TYPE*
 ESTIMATED 

ACQUISIITON**** 
 TITLE 

SEARCHES APPRAISALS

 
ABSTRACTS/

TITLE 
INSURANCE 

DATE 
NOTICE OF 

VOLUNTARY 
INTEREST 
SIGNED

 CLOSING 
COSTS 

 RELOCATION 
ASSISTANCE 

COSTS*** 

 BID 
DEMOLIITON/

SITE 
RESORATION OTHER COSTS** TOTAL

FUNDING 
SOURCE MATCH

W7758 Lamp RoadA S  $          71,900.00 1,250.00$       375.00$         5/2/2012 12,500.00$     1,715.00$               87,740.00$        PDM 21,935.00$        

W7835 Willow RoadA S  $        193,625.00 1,250.00$       375.00$         4/24/2013 13,000.00$     1,715.00$               209,965.00$       PDM 52,491.25$        

W7693 Lamp RoadA S  $        334,500.00 1,250.00$       375.00$         2/14/2019 16,500.00$     1,715.00$               354,340.00$       PDM 88,585.00$        
-$                   

N397 Oxbow Bend RoadA V  $        162,625.00 1,250.00$        $        375.00 6/6/2011  $     13,500.00 1,715.00$               179,465.00$       PDM 44,866.25$        
-$                   

W7744 Lamp RoadA V  $          91,300.00 1,250.00$       375.00$         2/25/2014 10,500.00$     1,715.00$               105,140.00$       PDM 26,285.00$        
-$                   

W7756 Lamp RoadA V  $        106,850.00 1,250.00$       375.00$         12/31/2016 12,000.00$     1,715.00$               122,190.00$       PDM 30,547.50$        

TOTALS  $        960,800.00 7,500.00$       2,250.00$      -$                78,000.00$     10,290.00$             1,058,840.00$    264,710.00$       

*TYPE:  Primary Residence (P), Rental Properties (R), Seasonal Residence (S), Vacant Residents (V).

**OTHER COSTS:  Incluse costs for appraisal review, parcel management fees, title insurance commitments/reports, acquisition fees, relocation assistance fees, and contingency fees.  See guidance.

***Tenants are entitled to relocation assistance as required by the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 (URA) as well as State Relocation Law, State Chapter 32.19-23.27, Commerce Code chapter 202, whichever pays

more

########################################################################################################################################################################

****ESTIMATED ACQUISITION amounts were determined on the  EFMV or the Total Value identified on the Tax Statement, which ever was higher.  From a historical view, property appraisals have continuously come in at higher values  than the EFMV.
As a result 30% has been added to the higher of the EFMV or the Total Value identified on the tax statement.  Includes filing of warranty deed.

Appraisal costs vary due to the additional conditions required by the DNR Stewardship Grant.

Demolition Site Restoration includes demolition costs/well capping by quote from contractor, Utility abandoment of 650.00, Well abandonment for 1,000.00 and estimated asbestos inspection/abatement for 1,800.00/and estimated Archeological Costs 700.00
actual costs from previous acquisitions

* TYPE: Unimproved Land (vacant), Primary Residence, Secondary or recreational property, rental property (2-4 family), rental property (multi-family 5 or more units), Mobile Home, Commercial, Public or other (specify).
** RELOCATION ASSISTANCE COSTS: Tenants are entitled to relocation assistance as required by the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Polices Act of 1970 (URA) as well as State Relocation Law, State Chapter 32.19-32.27, Adm. Code
*** OTHER COSTS: Include costs for project management, relocation specialist, and other costs associated with implementing the project.  In addition, "supplemental housing" payments if meets requirements. See page 26 of HMA Guidance Addendum
Attach all documentation to support the cost estimate. (Cost estimates must be established using nationally published or local cost estimating guides. If the cost estimate is based on a contractor's bid or historic costs from another similar activity 
or project within the community, documentation must be provided.)

JEFFERSON COUNTY FEMA 4383 DR WI PDM
HAZARD MITIGATION ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS

BUDGET COST WORKSHEET
ACQUISITION/DEMOLITION PROJECTS



JEFFERSON COUNTY

SUMMARY OF RLF BALANCES

AS OF SEPTEMBER 1, 2020

Org Object Project Account Description 2020 Actual 2019 Actual 2018 Actual Notes

1 119033 100 ‐00‐00‐00‐000‐000‐00000‐000‐119033‐ Revolving Loan Fund Checking 406,197.66 385,047.67 325,793.62

11003 131002 10403 100 ‐70‐10‐00‐000‐000‐10030‐000‐131002‐10403 RLF Griswold 0.00 0.00 0.00

11003 131002 10404 100 ‐70‐10‐00‐000‐000‐10030‐000‐131002‐10404 RLF Burger Corner 0.00 3,007.01 6,392.50 Paid in full Jan 2020

11003 131002 10405 100 ‐70‐10‐00‐000‐000‐10030‐000‐131002‐10405 RLF Punzel Ace Hardware 0.00 0.00 0.00

11003 131002 10407 100 ‐70‐10‐00‐000‐000‐10030‐000‐131002‐10407 RLF Foremost 0.00 0.00 0.00

11003 131002 10408 100 ‐70‐10‐00‐000‐000‐10030‐000‐131002‐10408 RLF Hat Creek 0.00 0.00 0.00

11003 131002 10409 100 ‐70‐10‐00‐000‐000‐10030‐000‐131002‐10409 RLF Napa Auto Parts 0.00 0.00 0.00

11003 131002 10411 100 ‐70‐10‐00‐000‐000‐10030‐000‐131002‐10411 RLF McClures Wood Creation 0.00 0.00 0.00

11003 131002 10412 100 ‐70‐10‐00‐000‐000‐10030‐000‐131002‐10412 RLF Greg Stehling & Sons 0.00 0.00 0.00

11003 131002 10415 100 ‐70‐10‐00‐000‐000‐10030‐000‐131002‐10415 RLF Kendall 0.00 0.00 0.00

11003 131002 10416 100 ‐70‐10‐00‐000‐000‐10030‐000‐131002‐10416 RLF Jims Cheese 0.00 0.00 0.00

11003 131002 10417 100 ‐70‐10‐00‐000‐000‐10030‐000‐131002‐10417 RLF Rushing Waters 0.00 5,201.41 20,591.81 Paid in full April 2020

11003 131002 10418 100 ‐70‐10‐00‐000‐000‐10030‐000‐131002‐10418 RLF JC Vet 0.00 0.00 0.00

11003 131002 10419 100 ‐70‐10‐00‐000‐000‐10030‐000‐131002‐10419 A/R Revolving Loan Fund 352,836.62 354,641.92 381,871.90 Remaining Basin Precision amount

Totals 759,034.28 747,898.01 734,649.83



1  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

STATE OF WISCONSIN 

Department of Administration 
 
 

Community Development Block Grant – 

Revolving Loan Fund for Economic 
Development 

Closeout Program 
(CDBG-CLOSE) 

 
Substantial 

Amendment #3 



2  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CDBG-CLOSE PROGRAM CONTACT INFORMATION 
 
 

Mailing Address: Wisconsin Department of Administration 
Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources 
Bureau of Community Development 
ATTN: CDBG-CLOSE Applications 
101 E. Wilson St., 6th Floor 
P.O. Box #7970 
Madison, WI 53707-7970 

 
 

Telephone: David Pawlisch, Director, 
Bureau of Community Development 
(608) 261-7538 

 
 

Email: DOACDBG@wisconsin.gov 
 
 

PLEASE NOTE: 
This application packet may be accessed at the Bureau of Community Development- Revolving 
Loan Fund for Economic Development section on the Division of Energy, Housing and Community 
Resources website at doa.wi.gov. The electronic version on the website is the most recent 
version, and is the only official version, of the document. Revisions are made periodically. Users 
should only reference the official version of the document. 

mailto:DOADEHCRCommunityDevelopment@wisconsin.gov
https://doa.wi.gov/Pages/LocalGovtsGrants/CommunityDevelopmentPrograms.aspx


3  

Contents 
 
 

What is CDBG? .............................................................................. 4 

CDBG-CLOSE ................................................................................. 4 

Eligible CDBG-CLOSE Applicants ................................................... 5 

Maximum Project Period .............................................................. 8 

Other Federal Requirements......................................................... 9 

Section 3 ...................................................................................... 9 

Fair Housing ................................................................................. 9 

Labor Standards (Davis-Bacon) .................................................... 9 

Citizen Participation ................................................................... 10 

Environmental Review ................................................................ 12 

Audit .......................................................................................... 13 

Prohibition on Job Pirating ......................................................... 13 

Additional CDBG Assistance ........................................................ 14 

Meeting a National Objective ...................................................... 15 

CDBG-CLOSE Forms .................................................................... 20 

Forms to Be Submitted to DEHCR ............................................... 22 

with All Applications ................................................................... 22 

Applications and Application Specific Attachments..................... 41 
 
 

Program Updates to CDBG-Economic Development Program (CDBG-ED) ... 96 

Introduction ......................................................................................... 4 

Program Requirements .......................................................................... 7 

Application for CDBG-CLOSE ................................................................ 19 



4  

Introduction 
 

 
What is CDBG? 

The Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program is a federal formula-allocated grant 
program administered by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). 
Funding for the CDBG Small Cities Program is provided to the State of Wisconsin by HUD. The 
program was created when Congress passed the Housing and Community Development Act, 
Title 1 in 1974 and it is governed by the rules set forth in the Housing and Community 
Development Act (HCDA) of 1974 (as amended) and in the Code of Federal Regulations (24 
CFR Part 570). 

 
The CDBG program consists of two components: One, an “entitlement program” under which 
HUD provides funding directly to urban counties with populations of at least 200,000; cities with 
populations of at least 50,000; and principal cities of Metropolitan Statistical Areas, and two, a 
“state-administered program” under which HUD provides CDBG funds to States to distribute to 
non-entitlement communities. The Department of Administration (DOA) Division of Energy, 
Housing and Community Resources (DEHCR) is responsible for administering Wisconsin’s 
State-Administered Community Development Block Grant Program. 

 
The primary purpose of the CDBG program is the development of viable communities through 
the provision of decent housing, a suitable living environment, and the expansion of economic 
opportunities, principally for the benefit of persons of low and moderate income (LMI). 

 
 

CDBG-CLOSE 

CLOSE is designed to provide the necessary regulatory and financial flexibility for communities 
to address local needs. The Department, through the implementation of the CDBG-CLOSE 
program, has determined that the best course of action is to liquidate the remaining funding 
and to ultimately close all Revolving Loan Funds (RLF).  UGLG’s that currently administer an 
Economic Development Revolving Loan Fund are required to participate in the CDBG-CLOSE 
program. 

 
Under the CDBG-CLOSE program, all locally held, and funded by a CDBG award made on 
January 1, 1992 or later, Economic Development Revolving Loan Funds will be held for 
UGLG’s. These UGLG’s will have non- competitive access to the funds to use as grants for 
eligible activities. 

 

There are three ways UGLG’s will participate in CDBG-CLOSE.  First, UGLG’s that do not 



5  

have any outstanding, current loans and only have cash on hand will receive credit for their 
RLF bank balance as grant funding. Under this option, UGLG’s RLF Closeout Account will 
be determined as follows: 

RLF Bank Balance = RLF Closeout Account 

 
These UGLG’s will have the option to utilize CDBG-CLOSE funds for up to two (2) projects totaling the 
amount of their RLF Closeout Account. In addition, UGLG’s may submit an application for up to one (1) 
additional Planning project. Depending upon the RLF Closeout Account balance, some communities may be 
eligible to apply for more than two projects.   
 
UGLG’s with outstanding loans have the option under CDBG-CLOSE to either: 

1. Purchase the value of all outstanding loans in the RLF portfolio and transfer those funds to DEHCR;  
 

Under CDBG-CLOSE, UGLG’s that opt to purchase all outstanding loans will receive their 
RLF bank balance plus their purchase of their outstanding balance as grant funding. Under 
this option, UGLG’s RLF Closeout Account will be determined as follows: 

RLF Bank Balance + Purchased RLF Accounts Receivable = RLF Closeout Account 

In addition, UGLG’s that opt to purchase all outstanding loans will have the option to utilize 
these funds for up to three (3) projects. For UGLG’s with large RLF Closeout Balances, an 
additional fourth (4) project may be applied for, as determined by DEHCR. 

 

2. Retain the responsibility to service outstanding loans locally. 
 

Under CDBG-CLOSE, UGLG’s that opt to retain the responsibility to service outstanding 
loans locally will only receive credit for their RLF bank balance as grant funding. Under this 
option, UGLG’s RLF Closeout Account will be determined as follows: 

RLF Bank Balance = RLF Closeout Account 

 
UGLG’s that opt to retain all outstanding loans and service them locally will have the option to 
utilize CDBG-CLOSE funds for up to two (2) projects totaling the amount of their RLF 
Closeout Account. In addition, UGLG’s may submit an application for up to one (1) additional 
Planning project. Depending upon the RLF Closeout Account balance, some communities 
may be eligible to apply for more than two projects.  DEHCR will enter into a written 
agreement with all UGLG’s that opt to retain the responsibility to service all outstanding loans. 
UGLG’s must return all applicable loan repayments to the State.   

 
After the UGLG has determined which option it will utilize to participate in CDBG-CLOSE and 
the RLF Closeout Account has been established, the UGLG will follow the process established 
under CDBG-CLOSE to dissolve its RLF.  As stated above, all Economic Development RLF’s 
will be dissolved under CDBG-CLOSE and participation in CDBG-CLOSE is mandatory. 
 
All Economic Development Revolving Loan Fund Accounts that were originally capitalized with 
payments of loans made from CDBG grant funds awarded prior to January 1, 1992 by the State 



6  

of Wisconsin and have not received a subsequent award from January 1, 1992 to present from 
the State of Wisconsin are not subject to CDBG-CLOSE. These funds qualify under the 
program income reporting guidelines as defined in CPD Notice 04-11. 

 
All Revolving Loan Fund Accounts that meet this requirement are encouraged to self-identify 
and certify by signature of authorized local official that the funds qualify under the program 
income reporting guidelines as defined in CPD Notice 04-11. A sample certification document 
may be found in the Application for CDBG- CLOSE Section. 

 
A final, official RLF Closeout Account balance will be calculated at the time of the RLF closure 
when a final report is submitted to DEHCR and reflect each community’s unique situation. 

 
A community with access to RLF Closeout Funds is not excluded from applying for annual 
competitive CDBG-Public Facilities grants to supplement a project’s cost. All standard 
requirements as outlined in the CDBG Application Materials and Handbook apply. If selected 
under the annual application cycle, the sub-grantee must utilize RLF Closeout Funds before 
accessing competitive allocation funds. This requirement also applies to the non-competitive 
Economic Development grants. 

 
Example: 

$500,000 Public Facility project 
$295,000 Local RLF Closeout Account available 
$205,000 Funds from annual allocation 

 
When only the local RLF Closeout Funds are being used for a project, refer to the Project 
Funding Limits section for award maximums. The amount of the grant cannot exceed the RLF 
Closeout Account balance. 

 
If an UGLG retains the responsibility of servicing existing loans, the potential responsibility for 
re-paying the loan due to the UGLG’s failure to meet a National Objective resides with the 
UGLG. 

 

Eligible CDBG-CLOSE Applicants 
 

Only existing Units of General Local Government (UGLG) that hold a CDBG RLF-ED fund will 
apply for funding. 



7  

This includes: 
Ashland County 

Ashland City 

Baraboo City 

Barneveld Village 

Berlin City 

Boscobel City 

Brillion City 

Brown County 

Buffalo County 

Burlington City 

Butternut Village 

Calumet County 

Cambria Village 

Cascade Village 

Cedarburg City 

Clintonville 

Columbia County 

Columbus City 

Cuba City 

Dane County 
Darlington City 

 

De Pere City 

Deerfield Village 

Dodge County 

Door County 

East Troy Village 

Edgerton City 

Elkhorn City 

Elroy City 

Fall River Village 

Florence County 

Fond du Lac County 

Fort Atkinson City 

Gilman Village 

Grafton Village 

Grant County 

Green County 

Hartford City 

Highland Village 

Hillsboro City 

Horicon City 
Howard Village 

 

Iowa County 

Jackson County 

Jacobs Town 

Jefferson County 

Jefferson City 

Juneau County 

Juneau City 

Kaukauna City 

Kendall Village 

Kenosha County 

Kewaunee County 

La Crosse County 

Lafayette County 

Lake Mills City 

Langlade County 

Laona Town 

Little Chute Village 

Manitowoc County 

Manitowoc City 

Maribel Village 
Marinette County 

 



8  

   
 

All Revolving Loan Fund Accounts that were originally capitalized with payments of loans made 
from CDBG grant funds awarded prior to January 1, 1992 by the State of Wisconsin and have 
not received a subsequent award from January 1, 1992 to present from the State of Wisconsin 
are not subject to CDBG-CLOSE. These funds qualify under the program income reporting 
guidelines as defined in CPD Notice 04-11.   
 
Any of the above listed RLF’s that certify that they qualify under the program income reporting 
guidelines as defined in CPD Notice 04-11 as receiving their CDBG award prior to January 1, 
1992 are not included under CDBG-CLOSE. 

 
Under CDBG-CLOSE, UGLG’s must: 

1. Return to the Department the full balance of the locally-held Revolving Loan Fund as 
indicated on the final report; 

2. Dissolve the RLF under the process identified by the Department; 
3. Complete all documentation required and requested by the Department. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Marinette City 

Marion City 

Mauston City 

Mazomanie Village 

Medford City 

Menomonee Falls Village 

Mequon City 

Middleton City 

Mineral Point City 

Monroe County 

Monroe City 

Mukwonago Village 

Muscoda Village 

Muskego City 

New Holstein City 

New London City 

Oconto County 

Oconto Falls City 

Oconto City 

Oneida County 

Oostburg Village 

Osseo City 
Outagamie County 

 

Ozaukee County 

Pepin County 

Peshtigo County 

Pierce County 

Plymouth City 

Port Washington City 

Portage City 

Potosi Village 

Prairie Farm Village 

Racine County 

Reedsburg City 

Rib Lake Village 

Richland Center City 

Richland County 

Ripon City 

Rock County 

Sauk County 

Saukville City 

Seymour City 

Shawano County 

Shawano City 

Sheboygan County 
Sheboygan Town 

 

Shullsburg City 

Sparta City 

Sturgeon Bay City 

Sun Prairie City 

Sussex Village 

Taylor County 

Tomah City 

Tri-County EDC 

Two Rivers City 

Union Grove Village 

Vernon County 

Washburn County 

Washburn City 

Washington County 

Watertown City 

Waupaca County 

West Bend City 

Whitewater City 

Winnebago County 

Winneconne Village 

Wisconsin Dells City 
Wittenberg Village 

 



The following is a list of outstanding tasks, expenses, and estimated task hours for completion

Meetings: Travel/Expenses Prep Meeting/Travel Time Follow up Timeframe Reason

Steering Committee #5 $55 16 6 2 Augsut  Implementation Plan Review

Ag Preservation #2 $155 16 18 4 September Review Policy Changes/Mapping

Superintendent Meeting $55 4 6 2 September Challenges and Issues in Long‐Range Planning

Steering Committee #6 $55 8 6 6 September Draft Plan Review

Regional Meeting #8 $55 8 4 3 Ocotber Review and Comment

Regional Meeting #9 $55 4 4 3 October Review and Comment

Regional Meeting #10 $55 4 4 3 November Review and Comment

Regional Meeting #11 $55 4 4 3 November Review and Comment

Planning & Zoning Meeting $55 4 4 December Recommendation for Adoption

County Board Meeting $55 4 4 January Consider Adoption of Plans

Subtotal $650 72 60 26

Hours * Avg Staff Rate $126.57 $650 9113.04 7594.2 3290.82 $20,648

To date overage in expenses $1,300 $1,300

Total $21,948

Draft Plans Reason

$13,341.68 carried over balance to complete plans $13,341.68

Overages to Date

(‐6,810.99) current balance as of August 17, 2020 (‐6,810.99)

Amendement Amount Request $35,289.74



JEFFERSON COUNTY 

CARES UPDATE ‐ UNBILLED JUNE ‐ AUGUST 2020

Account Org Period Date Source Amount Vendor Description

11101 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11101 Admin 6 6/3/2020 API 1,405.80        HOUGH  SHANNON GAYLE

11101 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11101 Admin 8 8/3/2020 API 6,123.04        HOUGH  SHANNON GAYLE

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 7 7/31/2020 API 16,664.20      WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  ALCOHOL MONITORING            

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 7 7/31/2020 API 818.40           WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  GPS MONITORING                

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 7 7/31/2020 API 5,311.05        WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  ALCOHOL MONITORING ‐ATC       

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 7 7/31/2020 API 201.50           WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  ALCOHOL MONITORING‐ DTC       

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 5,360.60        WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  MARCH JEFFERSON COUNTY PRE‐TRI

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 1,019.15        WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  MARCH ATC‐ALCOHOL MONITORING  

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 13.00              WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  MARCH DTC‐ALCOHOL MONITORING  

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 5,313.35        WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  APRIL ATC‐ELECTRONIC MONITORIN

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 195.00           WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  APRIL DTC‐ELECTRONIC MONITORIN

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 13,895.00      WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  APRIL ALCOHOL MONITORING      

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 624.80           WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  APRIL‐GPS MONITORING          

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 3,831.75        WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  JUNE ATC ELECTRONIC MONITORING

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 195.00           WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  JUNE DTC  ALCOHOL MONITORING  

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 96.80              WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  JUNE GPS MONITORING DTC       

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 15,835.20      WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  JUNE ALCOHOL MONITORING       

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 792.00           WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  JUNE GPS MONITORING PRE TRIAL 

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 16,187.50      WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  JULY ALCOHOL MONITORING PRETRI

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 976.80           WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  JULY GPS MONITORING           

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 2,990.00        WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  JULY ALCOHOL MONITORING‐ATC   

11102 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 11102 CJCC 8 8/1/2020 API 201.50           WISCONSIN COMMUNITY  JULY ALCOHOL MONITORING‐DTC   

11102 531312 22101 Office Supplies                                                         11102 CJCC 6 6/30/2020 API 750.00           ALCOPRO INC          CJCC Supplies ‐ COVID‐19      

11102 531312 22101 Office Supplies                                                         11102 CJCC 6 6/30/2020 API 450.00           ALCOPRO INC          CJCC SUPPLIES                 

11102 531312 22101 Office Supplies                                                         11102 CJCC 7 7/31/2020 API 510.00           ALCOPRO INC          CJCC                          

11201 535247 22101 Building Repair & Maint                                                 11201 Cent Svc 7 7/31/2020 API 1,139.83        MENARDS 3346         TAPCON 5/16 X 3

11201 535247 22101 Building Repair & Maint                                                 11201 Cent Svc 8 8/31/2020 API 31,600.00      DIRTY DUCTS CLEANING Clean supply and return duct w

11201 535344 22101 Household & Janitorial Supp                                             11201 Cent Svc 6 6/30/2020 API 179.40           SCHILLING SUPPLY CO  Lysol disinfectant spray.     

11201 535344 22101 Household & Janitorial Supp                                             11201 Cent Svc 6 6/30/2020 API 508.80           NASSCO INC           BRUTAB 6S SANITIZER TABLETS.  

11201 535344 22101 Household & Janitorial Supp                                             11201 Cent Svc 6 6/30/2020 API 115.72           NASSCO INC           BRUTE 32 GALLON CONTAINERS.   

11201 535344 22101 Household & Janitorial Supp                                             11201 Cent Svc 6 6/30/2020 API 449.64           NASSCO INC           23 GALLON SLIMJIM RECYCLING CO

11201 535344 22101 Household & Janitorial Supp                                             11201 Cent Svc 6 6/30/2020 API 36.00              NASSCO INC           MICROFIBER CLOTHS 16X16       

11201 535344 22101 Household & Janitorial Supp                                             11201 Cent Svc 7 7/21/2020 API 450.00           CC & E BUILDING & RE Fabricted sneeze guard sheilds

11201 535344 22101 Household & Janitorial Supp                                             11201 Cent Svc 7 7/24/2020 API 75,940.00      C3 GREEN ENERGY LLC  Antimicrobial Biostatic Surfac

11201 535344 22101 Household & Janitorial Supp                                             11201 Cent Svc 7 7/31/2020 API 2,887.54        SCHILLING SUPPLY CO  SPORICIDAL DISINFECTANT TABLET

11201 535344 22101 Household & Janitorial Supp                                             11201 Cent Svc 7 7/31/2020 API 1,137.50        NASSCO INC           TWO HAND HELD ELECTROSTROSTATI

11201 535344 22101 Household & Janitorial Supp                                             11201 Cent Svc 7 7/31/2020 API 25.98              THEISENS OF JEFFERSO Siphon pumps.                 

11201 535344 22101 Household & Janitorial Supp                                             11201 Cent Svc 7 7/31/2020 API 27.66              MENARDS ‐ JOHNSON CR Rolls of clear tape

11201 535344 22101 Household & Janitorial Supp                                             11201 Cent Svc 7 7/31/2020 API 360.43           GRAINGER             Hand drum pumps 

11201 535344 22101 Household & Janitorial Supp                                             11201 Cent Svc 7 7/31/2020 API 960.00           GRAINGER             Data cable wire               

11201 535344 22101 Household & Janitorial Supp                                             11201 Cent Svc 7 7/31/2020 API 79.65              GRAINGER             Double sided tape             

11201 535344 22101 Household & Janitorial Supp                                             11201 Cent Svc 7 7/31/2020 API 154.00           SCHILLING SUPPLY CO  Clorox Disenfectant wipes

11201 594822 22101 Capital Improvement Building                                            11201 Cent Svc 7 7/24/2020 API 3,994.00        SERVPRO OF SOUTH     Clean duct work at Activity Ce

11201 594822 22101 Capital Improvement Building                                            11201 Cent Svc 7 7/31/2020 API 53,000.00      JOHNSON CONTROLS INC UPGRADING ALL AHU'S IN COURTHO

11401 531310 22101 Postage Special                                                         11401 COC 6 6/30/2020 API 712.64           UNITED MAILING SERVI JUNE POSTAGE                  

11401 531310 22101 Postage Special                                                         11401 COC 7 7/31/2020 API 54.36              UNITED MAILING SERVI JEFFERSON001                  

11401 531311 22101 Postage & Box Rent                                                      11401 COC 7 7/31/2020 API 453.34           UNITED MAILING SERVI JEFFERSON001                  

11402 531243 22101 Furniture & Furnishings                                                 11402 COC 7 7/31/2020 API 361.08           AMAZON.COM INC       Jud.  Br.1 Tables             

11402 531312 22101 Office Supplies                                                         11402 COC 7 7/31/2020 API 197.93           QUILL CORPORATION    Supplies/Jud/COC              

11404 531311 22101 Postage & Box Rent                                                      11404 COC 6 6/30/2020 API 92.27              UNITED MAILING SERVI JUNE POSTAGE                  

11404 531311 22101 Postage & Box Rent                                                      11404 COC 7 7/31/2020 API 49.74              UNITED MAILING SERVI JEFFERSON001                  

11405 531311 22101 Postage & Box Rent                                                      11405 COC 6 6/30/2020 API 50.49              UNITED MAILING SERVI JUNE POSTAGE                  

11405 531311 22101 Postage & Box Rent                                                      11405 COC 7 7/31/2020 API 76.92              UNITED MAILING SERVI JEFFERSON001                  

11408 531311 22101 Postage & Box Rent                                                      11408 COC 6 6/30/2020 API 12.37              UNITED MAILING SERVI JUNE POSTAGE                  



JEFFERSON COUNTY 

CARES UPDATE ‐ UNBILLED JUNE ‐ AUGUST 2020

Account Org Period Date Source Amount Vendor Description

11408 531311 22101 Postage & Box Rent                                                      11408 COC 7 7/31/2020 API 2.56                UNITED MAILING SERVI JEFFERSON001                  

11801 531243 22101 Furniture & Furnishings                                                 11801 DA 6 6/30/2020 API 217.53           AMAZON.COM INC       Black Plastic Chairs to replac

11801 531243 22101 Furniture & Furnishings                                                 11801 DA 6 6/30/2020 API 359.94           AMAZON.COM INC       Black leather chairs to replac

11801 531312 22101 Office Supplies                                                         11801 DA 6 6/30/2020 API 26.54              WAL‐MART             Sanitizer wipes

11802 531312 22101 Office Supplies                                                         11802 DA 7 7/31/2020 API 108.75           AMAZON.COM INC       $217.50 for FOP and Victim/Wit

11803 531312 22101 Office Supplies                                                         11803 DA 7 7/31/2020 API 108.75           AMAZON.COM INC       $217.50 for FOP and Victim/Wit

12001 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 12001 EM 6 6/25/2020 API 375.00           DOUBLE THREE TRANSPO SCHOOL BUS DRIVING TO WTTN HOS

12001 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12001 EM 6 6/25/2020 API 2,075.06        W.S. DARLEY & CO     MASKS ‐ SURG/PROC             

12001 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12001 EM 6 6/25/2020 API 2,016.65        W.S. DARLEY & CO     MASKS ‐ SURG/PROC             

12001 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12001 EM 7 7/31/2020 API 17.30              WAL‐MART             WATER FOR COVID TESTING 7/22/2

12001 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12001 EM 7 7/31/2020 API 13.12              WAL‐MART             WATER FOR COVID TESTING 7/23/2

12001 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12001 EM 7 7/31/2020 API 13.12              WAL‐MART             WATER FOR COVID TESTING 7/24/2

12001 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12001 EM 7 7/31/2020 API 13.12              WAL‐MART             WATER FOR COVID TESTING 7/25/2

12101 536533 22101 Equipment Rent & Lease                                                  12101 FairPark 8 8/10/2020 API 1,836.95        SUNBELT RENTALS      Air Conditioning Rental 7/7/20

12201 531312 22101 Office Supplies                                                         12201 Finance 7 7/31/2020 API 466.62           AMAZON.COM INC       BANKER BOXES FOR PACKING UP DE

12301 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                 12301 HR 7 7/1/2020 API 100.00           PENFIELD‐CRUZ  JESSI

12301 521229 22101 Recruitment Related                                                     12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 10.00              DOJ EPAY RECORDS CHE Caregiver check‐contact tracer

12301 521229 22101 Recruitment Related                                                     12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 10.00              DOJ EPAY RECORDS CHE Caregiver check‐contact tracer

12301 521229 22101 Recruitment Related                                                     12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 24.95              NATL STDNT CLEARINGH Education check‐Contact tracer

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 10,158.12      AMAZON.COM INC       58 OF ALPHA PRO TECH N‐95 PART

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 92.97              AMAZON.COM INC       Cloth face masks              

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 200.00           NATIONAL EVERYTHING  Hand Sanitizer ‐ Gal not yet d

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 370.29           NATIONAL EVERYTHING  Purell sanitizer dispensers‐ n

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 22.90              AMAZON.COM INC       Cellophane bags for mask distr

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (230.95)          AMAZON.COM INC       Return disposable gosns       

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (230.94)          AMAZON.COM INC       Return disposable gowns       

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (230.95)          AMAZON.COM INC       Return disposable gosns       

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (230.95)          AMAZON.COM INC       Return disposable gosns       

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (230.95)          AMAZON.COM INC       Return disposable gosns       

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 119.98           AMAZON.COM INC       Hand Soap                     

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (119.98)          AMAZON.COM INC       Return hand soap              

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 35.50              AMAZON.COM INC       pumps for gallon sanitizer    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 537.73           AMAZON.COM INC       Sneeze guards                 

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 1,550.98        DGS RETAIL           Sneeze guards ‐ refunded expec

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (851.85)          AMAZON.COM INC       Refund sneeze guards          

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 129.98           QUILL CORPORATION    Purell 1905‐02 dispensing unit

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 126.58           WAL‐MART             Children masks                

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (368.02)          AMAZON.COM INC       refund on disposable gowns    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (368.02)          AMAZON.COM INC       refund on disposable gowns    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (368.02)          AMAZON.COM INC       refund on disposable gowns    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (368.02)          AMAZON.COM INC       refund on disposable gowns    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (368.02)          AMAZON.COM INC       refund on disposable gowns    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (368.02)          AMAZON.COM INC       refund on disposable gowns    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (368.02)          AMAZON.COM INC       refund on disposable gowns    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (368.02)          AMAZON.COM INC       refund on disposable gowns    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (368.02)          AMAZON.COM INC       refund on disposable gowns    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (368.02)          AMAZON.COM INC       refund on disposable gowns    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (368.02)          AMAZON.COM INC       refund on disposable gowns    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (368.02)          AMAZON.COM INC       refund on disposable gowns    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (184.01)          AMAZON.COM INC       refund on disposable gowns    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (230.95)          AMAZON.COM INC       Return disposable gosns       

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (230.95)          AMAZON.COM INC       Return disposable gosns       

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (230.95)          AMAZON.COM INC       Return disposable gowns       

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (230.94)          AMAZON.COM INC       Return disposable gowns       



JEFFERSON COUNTY 

CARES UPDATE ‐ UNBILLED JUNE ‐ AUGUST 2020

Account Org Period Date Source Amount Vendor Description

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API (230.95)          AMAZON.COM INC       Return disposable gowns       

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 375.00           AMAZON.COM INC       Disinfectant Caviwipes        

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 5,254.20        AMAZON.COM INC       N‐95 masks                    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 969.60           AMAZON.COM INC       Children's disposable masks   

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 969.60           AMAZON.COM INC       children's disposable masks   

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 175.93           AMAZON.COM INC       Disposable gowns              

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 4,600.25        AMAZON.COM INC       disposable gowns              

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 1,759.73        AMAZON.COM INC       sneeze guards                 

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 64.58              AMAZON.COM INC       Sneeze guard partitions       

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 2,309.48        AMAZON.COM INC       Disposable gownsq             

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 61.90              AMAZON.COM INC       Vinyl Paper for Covid signs   

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 885.00           AMAZON.COM INC       Disposable masks              

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 1,789.83        AMAZON.COM INC       disposable gowns              

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 1,038.00        AMAZON.COM INC       Disposable masks              

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 6 6/30/2020 API 45.00              PAYPAL               Inventory tracker spreadsheet 

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 5,046.84        CAN‐AM WIRELESS LLC  Temperature Taking Devices    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 1,759.20        AMAZON.COM INC       8‐1000ML AUTOMATIC TOUCHLESS U

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 55.88              AMAZON.COM INC       Spray bottles                 

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 368.12           AMAZON.COM INC       gallon sanitizer refills      

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 111.76           AMAZON.COM INC       spray bottles                 

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 135.76           AMAZON.COM INC       hand sanitizer dispensers     

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 191.80           AMAZON.COM INC       children's masks              

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 149.94           AMAZON.COM INC       Med gloves                    

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API (1,550.98)       DGS RETAIL           Sneeze guards                 

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 151.96           AMAZON.COM INC       Gallon Gel Sanitzer           

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 11.98              AMAZON.COM INC       Adhesive hooks                

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 278.00           AMAZON.COM INC       sanitizer foot pedal stands   

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 54.99              AMAZON.COM INC       plexiglass panel              

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 569.60           AMAZON.COM INC       Sneeze guards                 

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 118.20           AMAZON.COM INC       Social distance floor signs   

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 159.96           AMAZON.COM INC       wall sanitizer dispensers     

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 131.95           AMAZON.COM INC       Plastic chain link            

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 703.84           AMAZON.COM INC       sneeze guards                 

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 67.47              AMAZON.COM INC       painters tape                 

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 374.92           AMAZON.COM INC       chain stanchions              

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 41.91              AMAZON.COM INC       spray bottles                 

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 159.96           AMAZON.COM INC       wall sanitizer dispensers     

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 113.94           AMAZON.COM INC       Gloves‐large                  

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 3,898.00        AMAZON.COM INC       adult surgical masks          

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 369.50           AMAZON.COM INC       gallon sanizier refill        

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 33.45              AMAZON.COM INC       floor tent signs              

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 143.88           AMAZON.COM INC       Sysco XL Gloves               

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 123.96           AMAZON.COM INC       cloth masks                   

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 69.72              AMAZON.COM INC       floor tent signs              

12301 531320 22101 Safety Supplies                                                         12301 HR 7 7/31/2020 API 84.00              AMAZON.COM INC       Two side tables for masks     

12801 535349 22101 Other Supplies                                                          12801 Parks 6 6/19/2020 API 38.00              JEFFERSON GLASS INC  PARK OFFICE COVID SCREEN      

13001 531313 22101 Printing & Duplicating                                                  13001 ROD 6 6/30/2020 GNI 5.14               

13106 531265 22101 Electronic Monitoring                                                   13106 Sheriff 6 6/29/2020 API 2,317.50        SATELLITE TRACKING O GPS & Sobertrack Units 5/1‐5/3

13106 531265 22101 Electronic Monitoring                                                   13106 Sheriff 6 6/30/2020 API 1,606.25        SATELLITE TRACKING O GPS & Sobertrack Units 6/1‐6/3

13106 531265 22101 Electronic Monitoring                                                   13106 Sheriff 7 7/31/2020 API 1,369.50        SATELLITE TRACKING O GPS & Sobertrack Units 7/1‐7/3

13106 531314 22101 Small Items Of Equipment                                                13106 Sheriff 6 6/30/2020 API 39.90              WAL‐MART             Batteries for Skytron UV Robot

13106 531314 22101 Small Items Of Equipment                                                13106 Sheriff 7 7/31/2020 API 60.00              RIPON AWARDJACKETS   PPE ‐ Gowns Gold (COVID‐19)   

13401 533225 22101 Telephone & Fax                                                         13401 UWX 6 6/22/2020 API 81.69              U S CELLULAR CHICAGO 853558620  VETERANS PHONE     

13401 533225 22101 Telephone & Fax                                                         13401 UWX 7 7/20/2020 API 102.63           U S CELLULAR CHICAGO 853558620  VETS               



JEFFERSON COUNTY 

CARES UPDATE ‐ UNBILLED JUNE ‐ AUGUST 2020

Account Org Period Date Source Amount Vendor Description

13401 533225 22101 Telephone & Fax                                                         13401 UWX 8 8/19/2020 API 110.47           U S CELLULAR CHICAGO 853558620 VETERANS            

4101 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                  4101  Health 7 7/31/2020 API 437.00           HAINES ELLEN         July 2020 Haines E COVID servi

4101 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                  4101  Health 8 8/20/2020 API 14.00              MAXIM HEALTHCARE SER Maxim 080220 080820 Contact Tr

4101 521219 22101 Other Professional Serv                                                  4101  Health 8 8/28/2020 API 7.00                MAXIM HEALTHCARE SER August 2020 Maxim 081020 08152

4101 529160 22101 Interpreter Fee                                                          4101  Health 7 7/31/2020 API 38.50              STAUDE   VILMA      

61690987 531303 22101 Computer Equipmt & Software                                          61690 HS 6 6/30/2020 GEN (5,713.00)      

61690987 531303 22101 Computer Equipmt & Software                                          61690 HS 6 6/30/2020 GEN (27,300.00)   

61690987 531303 22101 Computer Equipmt & Software                                          61690 HS 7 7/31/2020 API 140.82           ZOOM.US              ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTION           

61690987 531319 22101 Other Operating Supplies                                             61690 HS 6 6/30/2020 API 74.43              NASSCO INC           Nassco cleaning supplies      

61690987 531319 22101 Other Operating Supplies                                             61690 HS 6 6/30/2020 API 30.36              NASSCO INC           Nassco cleaning supplies      

61690987 533225 22101 Telephone & Fax                                                      61690 HS 6 6/18/2020 GEN 797.84          

61690987 533225 22101 Telephone & Fax                                                      61690 HS 7 7/20/2020 GEN 835.28          

61690987 535360 22101 Repair & Maintenance                                                 61690 HS 6 6/24/2020 API 138.00           JEFFERSON GLASS INC  PLEXIGLASS AT WDC             

61690987 535360 22101 Repair & Maintenance                                                 61690 HS 7 7/31/2020 API 1,999.79        SERVPRO OF SOUTH     Lueder House Duct Cleaning    

53214 531562 22101 DP Highway Materials                                                    53214 Highway 6 6/17/2020 API 47.64              MENARDS ‐ JOHNSON CR GLOVES

53214 531562 22101 DP Highway Materials                                                    53214 Highway 6 6/17/2020 API 14.10              MENARDS ‐ JOHNSON CR PAPER TOWELS                  

53214 544534 22101 Machinery Rental                                                        53214 Highway 6 6/1/2020 GNI 220.35          

77001 531303 22101 Computer Equipmt & Software                                             77001 MIS 6 6/3/2020 API 69.64              GHA TECHNOLOGIES INC usb webcams                   

77004 533236 22101 Wireless Internet                                                       77004 MIS 6 6/18/2020 API 621.68           U S CELLULAR CHICAGO 924918234 MIS                 

77004 533236 22101 Wireless Internet                                                       77004 MIS 7 7/20/2020 API 716.65           U S CELLULAR CHICAGO ADDITIONAL DEVICES FOR REMOTE 

77004 533236 22101 Wireless Internet                                                       77004 MIS 8 8/19/2020 API 694.83           U S CELLULAR CHICAGO 924918234  MIS                

Total June ‐ August Unbilled 301,971.76   



JEFFERSON COUNTY

CARES Funding update

Through August 31, 2020

* does not include  August p‐card transactions or wage and benefit costs, other than Health Dept estimate

Estimated

Project Vendor Amount

Clean ductwork jail Dirty Ducts 54,550.00$          

Clean ductwork Activity Center Dirty Ducts 4,000.00               

Clean ductwork South Campus ServPro 83,000.00            

Air handling ionizers Johnson Controls 22,000.00            

Courtroom plexiglass Jefferson Glass 25,000.00            

Air conditioning Fair Park 100,000.00          

Freezer ‐ Medical Examiner ?

F5 Projection tool Forecast5 18,000.00            

Zencity Zencity ?

Office 365 Microsoft 4,500.00               

Cisco home phone module Cisco ?

Additional laptops Windows 7 replacements Microsoft ‐                         

Licenses for dual authenitcation SHI 7,404.00               

MIFI Verizon ?

Health department nursing (staff) Jefferson County 84,843.31            

Electronic monitoring ‐ Huber WCS 50,000.00            

Total remaining estimated expenses 453,297.31          

Total billed through May 141,632.66          

Total unbilled August 301,971.76          

Total CARES encumbered 896,901.73          

Total CARES funding 1,375,046.00       

Amount available 478,144.27$        



 
 
 

09/08/2020 Jefferson County PAGE 1
15:39:20 FLEXIBLE PERIOD REPORT glflxrpt

 
 

FROM 2020 01 TO 2020 07
 

ACCOUNTS FOR: ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
100 General Fund APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET ACTUALS ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED

 
 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
 

12201 Finance                            
___________________________________

 
12201 411100 General Property Taxes           -496,515           0    -496,515    -289,633.75            .00    -206,881.25  58.3%
12201 412100 Sales Taxes From County              -150           0        -150         -73.68            .00         -76.32  49.1%
12201 451004 Garnishment Fees                      -30           0         -30         -30.00            .00            .00 100.0%
12201 451005 Child Support Fees                 -1,000           0      -1,000        -425.20            .00        -574.80  42.5%
12201 451312 Emp Payroll Charges                  -130           0        -130         -86.00            .00         -44.00  66.2%
12201 699999 Budgetary Fund Balance                  0     -85,000     -85,000            .00            .00     -85,000.00    .0%

 
12202 Dental Insurance Allocation        
___________________________________

 
12202 451026 Retiree Ins Premium Recovery      -15,000           0     -15,000      -7,738.35            .00      -7,261.65  51.6%
12202 451032 Cobra Premium Recovery             -2,600           0      -2,600      -1,802.61            .00        -797.39  69.3%
12202 451043 County Board Premiums                   0           0           0      -1,262.04            .00       1,262.04    .0%
12202 451045 Employee Premiums                -470,000           0    -470,000    -273,684.65            .00    -196,315.35  58.2%

 
TOTAL General Fund                      -985,425     -85,000  -1,070,425    -574,736.28            .00    -495,688.72  53.7%

 
TOTAL REVENUES     -985,425     -85,000  -1,070,425    -574,736.28            .00    -495,688.72

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

09/08/2020 Jefferson County PAGE 1
15:40:05 FLEXIBLE PERIOD REPORT glflxrpt

 
 

FROM 2020 01 TO 2020 07
 

ACCOUNTS FOR: ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
100 General Fund APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET ACTUALS ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED

 
 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
 

12201 Finance                            
___________________________________

 
12201 511110 Salary-Permanent Regular          195,727           0     195,727     113,193.03            .00      82,533.48  57.8%
12201 511110 22101 Salary-Permanent Regula           0           0           0         185.09            .00        -185.09    .0%
12201 511210 Wages-Regular                     143,861           0     143,861      83,223.07            .00      60,638.14  57.8%
12201 511210 22101 Wages-Regular                     0           0           0       1,230.39            .00      -1,230.39    .0%
12201 511220 Wages-Overtime                          0           0           0         591.62            .00        -591.62    .0%
12201 511330 Wages-Longevity Pay                   819           0         819            .00            .00         818.75    .0%
12201 512141 Social Security                    25,446           0      25,446      14,527.37            .00      10,918.57  57.1%
12201 512141 22101 Social Security                   0           0           0          99.59            .00         -99.59    .0%
12201 512142 Retirement (Employer)              22,977           0      22,977      13,299.15            .00       9,678.29  57.9%
12201 512142 22101 Retirement (Employer)             0           0           0          95.54            .00         -95.54    .0%
12201 512144 Health Insurance                   43,196           0      43,196      23,396.71            .00      19,799.67  54.2%
12201 512144 22101 Health Insurance                  0           0           0         387.69            .00        -387.69    .0%
12201 512145 Life Insurance                        159           0         159         108.67            .00          50.09  68.4%
12201 512145 22101 Life Insurance                    0           0           0           1.61            .00          -1.61    .0%
12201 512150 FSA Contribution                    6,000           0       6,000            .00            .00       6,000.00    .0%
12201 512151 HSA Contribution                        0           0           0       6,000.00            .00      -6,000.00    .0%
12201 512173 Dental Insurance                    4,344           0       4,344       2,257.21            .00       2,086.79  52.0%
12201 512173 22101 Dental Insurance                  0           0           0          18.21            .00         -18.21    .0%
12201 521213 Accounting & Auditing              16,250           0      16,250      10,890.00            .00       5,360.00  67.0%
12201 521219 Other Professional Serv             3,650           0       3,650       1,510.00            .00       2,140.00  41.4%
12201 521296 Computer Support                    3,443           0       3,443       3,085.26            .00         357.74  89.6%
12201 531303 Computer Equipmt & Software           550           0         550         602.00            .00         -52.00 109.5%
12201 531311 Postage & Box Rent                  2,400           0       2,400       1,340.26            .00       1,059.74  55.8%
12201 531312 Office Supplies                     2,900           0       2,900         652.56            .00       2,247.44  22.5%
12201 531312 22101 Office Supplies                   0           0           0         466.62            .00        -466.62    .0%
12201 531313 Printing & Duplicating              1,200           0       1,200         298.11            .00         901.89  24.8%
12201 531324 Membership Dues                     1,060           0       1,060         690.00            .00         370.00  65.1%
12201 532325 Registration                        1,270           0       1,270         875.00            .00         395.00  68.9%
12201 532332 Mileage                               660           0         660            .00            .00         660.00    .0%
12201 532334 Commercial Travel                   1,000           0       1,000         487.86            .00         512.14  48.8%
12201 532335 Meals                                 300           0         300            .00            .00         300.00    .0%
12201 532336 Lodging                             3,080           0       3,080            .00            .00       3,080.00    .0%
12201 533225 Telephone & Fax                       100           0         100          45.05            .00          54.95  45.1%
12201 535242 Maintain Machinery & Equip            700           0         700         351.63            .00         348.37  50.2%
12201 571004 IP Telephony Allocation               636           0         636         371.00            .00         265.00  58.3%
12201 571005 Duplicating Allocation                 27           0          27          15.75            .00          11.25  58.3%
12201 571009 MIS PC Group Allocation            10,040           0      10,040       5,856.69            .00       4,183.31  58.3%
12201 571010 MIS Systems Grp Alloc(ISIS)         3,494           0       3,494       2,038.19            .00       1,455.81  58.3%

 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

09/08/2020 Jefferson County PAGE 2
15:40:05 FLEXIBLE PERIOD REPORT glflxrpt

 
 

FROM 2020 01 TO 2020 07
 

ACCOUNTS FOR: ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
100 General Fund APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET ACTUALS ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED

 
 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
12201 591519 Other Insurance                     2,536           0       2,536       1,744.67            .00         791.34  68.8%
12201 594818 Capital Computer                        0      85,000      85,000       3,073.89            .00      81,926.11   3.6%

 
12202 Dental Insurance Allocation        
___________________________________

 
12202 599982 Retiree Dental Claims              12,000           0      12,000       7,165.80            .00       4,834.20  59.7%
12202 599984 Cobra Dental Claims                 6,000           0       6,000         456.00            .00       5,544.00   7.6%
12202 599986 Administrative Fees Dental         24,000           0      24,000      14,424.36            .00       9,575.64  60.1%
12202 599989 Employee Dental Claims            444,500           0     444,500     207,081.25            .00     237,418.75  46.6%
12202 599992 Administrative Dental Retiree       1,100           0       1,100         434.52            .00         665.48  39.5%

 
TOTAL General Fund                       985,425      85,000   1,070,425     522,571.42            .00     547,853.58  48.8%

 
TOTAL EXPENSES      985,425      85,000   1,070,425     522,571.42            .00     547,853.58

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

09/08/2020 Jefferson County PAGE 1
15:41:52 FLEXIBLE PERIOD REPORT glflxrpt

 
 

FROM 2020 01 TO 2020 07
 

ACCOUNTS FOR: ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
100 General Fund APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET ACTUALS ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED

 
 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
 

13201 County Treasurer                   
___________________________________

 
13201 411100 General Property Taxes            994,368           0     994,368     580,048.00            .00     414,320.00  58.3%
13201 411300 DNR Pilot                         -60,000           0     -60,000     -56,764.46            .00      -3,235.54  94.6%
13201 411500 Managed Forest                     -4,000           0      -4,000      -5,444.59            .00       1,444.59 136.1%
13201 418100 Interest On Taxes                -300,000           0    -300,000    -166,463.39            .00    -133,536.61  55.5%
13201 441030 Ag Use Conversion Penalty         -12,000           0     -12,000     -21,037.37            .00       9,037.37 175.3%
13201 451007 Treasurers Fees                      -400           0        -400        -306.25            .00         -93.75  76.6%
13201 481001 Interest & Dividends             -850,000           0    -850,000    -547,759.42            .00    -302,240.58  64.4%
13201 481004 Fair Market Value Adjustment            0           0           0    -206,790.31            .00     206,790.31    .0%
13201 486004 Miscellaneous Revenue                   0           0           0       1,158.16            .00      -1,158.16    .0%

 
13202 Tax Deed Expense                   
___________________________________

 
13202 411100 General Property Taxes              4,900           0       4,900       2,858.31            .00       2,041.69  58.3%
13202 451030 Foreclosure Reimbursement               0           0           0        -165.00            .00         165.00    .0%
13202 482002 Rent Of County Property           -10,000           0     -10,000            .00            .00     -10,000.00    .0%
13202 483005 Gain/Loss-Sale Forclosed Prpt     -25,000           0     -25,000            .00            .00     -25,000.00    .0%

 
13203 Plat Books                         
___________________________________

 
13203 451010 Sale Of Maps & Plat Books          -2,250           0      -2,250        -606.60            .00      -1,643.40  27.0%
13203 451308 Postage Fees                          -50           0         -50         -27.00            .00         -23.00  54.0%

 
TOTAL General Fund                      -264,432           0    -264,432    -421,299.92            .00     156,867.92 159.3%

 
TOTAL REVENUES     -264,432           0    -264,432    -421,299.92            .00     156,867.92

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

09/08/2020 Jefferson County PAGE 2
15:41:52 FLEXIBLE PERIOD REPORT glflxrpt

 
 

FROM 2020 01 TO 2020 07
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
 APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET ACTUALS ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED

 
 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
GRAND TOTAL     -264,432           0    -264,432    -421,299.92            .00     156,867.92 159.3%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

09/08/2020 Jefferson County PAGE 3
15:41:52 FLEXIBLE PERIOD REPORT glflxrpt

 
REPORT OPTIONS                          

 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
 
 
 
 
 

Field #     Total  Page Break From Yr/Per: 2020/ 1
Sequence 1  1 Y Y To Yr/Per: 2020/ 7
Sequence 2  9 N N Budget Year: 2020
Sequence 3  0 N N Print totals only: N
Sequence 4  0 N N Format type: 1

Double space: N
Report title: Suppress zero bal accts: Y

Amounts/totals exceed 999 million dollars: N
FLEXIBLE PERIOD REPORT                  Roll projects to object: N
                                        Print journal detail: N
Includes accounts exceeding   0% of budget. From Yr/Per: 2020/ 6
Print Full or Short description: F To Yr/Per: 2020/ 8
Print full GL account: N Include budget entries: Y
Sort by full GL account: N Incl encumb/liq entries: Y
Print Revenues-Version headings: N Sort by JE # or PO #: J
Print revenue as credit: Y Detail format option: 1
Print revenue budgets as zero: N Multiyear view: D

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

09/08/2020 Jefferson County PAGE 1
15:43:41 FLEXIBLE PERIOD REPORT glflxrpt

 
 

FROM 2020 01 TO 2020 07
 

ACCOUNTS FOR: ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
100 General Fund APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET ACTUALS ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED

 
 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
 

13201 County Treasurer                   
___________________________________

 
13201 511110 Salary-Permanent Regular           71,200           0      71,200      41,668.32            .00      29,532.13  58.5%
13201 511210 Wages-Regular                      48,098           0      48,098      22,743.32            .00      25,354.66  47.3%
13201 511220 Wages-Overtime                          0           0           0         784.63            .00        -784.63    .0%
13201 511220 22101 Wages-Overtime                    0           0           0           7.02            .00          -7.02    .0%
13201 511330 Wages-Longevity Pay                   104           0         104            .00            .00         104.40    .0%
13201 512141 Social Security                     8,678           0       8,678       4,660.52            .00       4,017.21  53.7%
13201 512141 22101 Social Security                   0           0           0            .54            .00           -.54    .0%
13201 512142 Retirement (Employer)               8,060           0       8,060       4,400.75            .00       3,658.96  54.6%
13201 512142 22101 Retirement (Employer)             0           0           0            .47            .00           -.47    .0%
13201 512144 Health Insurance                   32,397           0      32,397      13,308.40            .00      19,088.81  41.1%
13201 512145 Life Insurance                         93           0          93           5.32            .00          87.20   5.8%
13201 512150 FSA Contribution                    4,200           0       4,200            .00            .00       4,200.00    .0%
13201 512151 HSA Contribution                        0           0           0       2,893.75            .00      -2,893.75    .0%
13201 512173 Dental Insurance                    2,318           0       2,318         899.16            .00       1,419.24  38.8%
13201 521232 Investment Advisor Fees            30,000           0      30,000      15,139.65            .00      14,860.35  50.5%
13201 531298 United Parcel Service                 100           0         100            .00            .00         100.00    .0%
13201 531303 Computer Equipmt & Software           300           0         300            .00            .00         300.00    .0%
13201 531311 Postage & Box Rent                  8,000           0       8,000       4,849.44            .00       3,150.56  60.6%
13201 531312 Office Supplies                     1,000           0       1,000         197.65            .00         802.35  19.8%
13201 531313 Printing & Duplicating                200           0         200         192.64            .00           7.36  96.3%
13201 531314 Small Items Of Equipment              300           0         300            .00            .00         300.00    .0%
13201 531321 Publication Of Legal Notice         3,000           0       3,000            .00            .00       3,000.00    .0%
13201 531324 Membership Dues                       100           0         100         100.00            .00            .00 100.0%
13201 531326 Advertising                           500           0         500            .00            .00         500.00    .0%
13201 532325 Registration                          300           0         300            .00            .00         300.00    .0%
13201 532332 Mileage                               350           0         350            .00            .00         350.00    .0%
13201 532335 Meals                                  35           0          35            .00            .00          35.00    .0%
13201 532336 Lodging                               400           0         400            .00            .00         400.00    .0%
13201 533225 Telephone & Fax                       100           0         100          36.02            .00          63.98  36.0%
13201 535242 Maintain Machinery & Equip            200           0         200         267.80            .00         -67.80 133.9%
13201 571004 IP Telephony Allocation               508           0         508         296.31            .00         211.69  58.3%
13201 571005 Duplicating Allocation                127           0         127          74.06            .00          52.94  58.3%
13201 571009 MIS PC Group Allocation             7,398           0       7,398       4,315.50            .00       3,082.50  58.3%
13201 571010 MIS Systems Grp Alloc(ISIS)         1,557           0       1,557         908.25            .00         648.75  58.3%
13201 591519 Other Insurance                       909           0         909         611.97            .00         296.63  67.4%
13201 593256 Bank Charges                        1,500           0       1,500         750.00            .00         750.00  50.0%

 
13202 Tax Deed Expense                   
___________________________________

 
13202 521212 Legal                                 100           0         100            .00            .00         100.00    .0%

 
 



 
 
 

09/08/2020 Jefferson County PAGE 2
15:43:41 FLEXIBLE PERIOD REPORT glflxrpt

 
 

FROM 2020 01 TO 2020 07
 

ACCOUNTS FOR: ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
100 General Fund APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET ACTUALS ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED

 
 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
13202 521219 Other Professional Serv             1,200           0       1,200            .00            .00       1,200.00    .0%
13202 521255 Paper Service                       1,000           0       1,000            .00            .00       1,000.00    .0%
13202 521273 Title Search                        5,000           0       5,000      -1,335.00            .00       6,335.00  26.7%
13202 529299 Purchase Care & Services            2,000           0       2,000            .00            .00       2,000.00    .0%
13202 531311 Postage & Box Rent                    700           0         700            .00            .00         700.00    .0%
13202 531313 Printing & Duplicating                100           0         100            .00            .00         100.00    .0%
13202 531321 Publication Of Legal Notice         7,000           0       7,000            .00            .00       7,000.00    .0%
13202 531326 Advertising                         5,000           0       5,000            .00            .00       5,000.00    .0%
13202 533221 Water                               3,000           0       3,000         456.68            .00       2,543.32  15.2%
13202 593742 Uncollected Taxes                   5,000           0       5,000         693.23            .00       4,306.77  13.9%

 
13203 Plat Books                         
___________________________________

 
13203 531349 Other Operating Expenses            2,300           0       2,300            .00            .00       2,300.00    .0%

 
TOTAL General Fund                       264,432           0     264,432     118,926.40            .00     145,505.60  45.0%

 
TOTAL EXPENSES      264,432           0     264,432     118,926.40            .00     145,505.60

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

09/08/2020 Jefferson County PAGE 3
15:43:41 FLEXIBLE PERIOD REPORT glflxrpt

 
 

FROM 2020 01 TO 2020 07
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
 APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET ACTUALS ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED

 
 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
GRAND TOTAL      264,432           0     264,432     118,926.40            .00     145,505.60  45.0%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

09/08/2020 Jefferson County PAGE 4
15:43:41 FLEXIBLE PERIOD REPORT glflxrpt

 
REPORT OPTIONS                          

 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
 
 
 
 
 

Field #     Total  Page Break From Yr/Per: 2020/ 1
Sequence 1  1 Y Y To Yr/Per: 2020/ 7
Sequence 2  9 N N Budget Year: 2020
Sequence 3  0 N N Print totals only: N
Sequence 4  0 N N Format type: 1

Double space: N
Report title: Suppress zero bal accts: Y

Amounts/totals exceed 999 million dollars: N
FLEXIBLE PERIOD REPORT                  Roll projects to object: N
                                        Print journal detail: N
Includes accounts exceeding   0% of budget. From Yr/Per: 2020/ 6
Print Full or Short description: F To Yr/Per: 2020/ 8
Print full GL account: N Include budget entries: Y
Sort by full GL account: N Incl encumb/liq entries: Y
Print Revenues-Version headings: N Sort by JE # or PO #: J
Print revenue as credit: Y Detail format option: 1
Print revenue budgets as zero: N Multiyear view: D

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

09/08/2020 Jefferson County PAGE 1
15:37:17 FLEXIBLE PERIOD REPORT glflxrpt

 
 

FROM 2020 01 TO 2020 07
 

ACCOUNTS FOR: ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
100 General Fund APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET ACTUALS ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED

 
 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
 

11301 Child Support                      
___________________________________

 
11301 411100 General Property Taxes           -108,206           0    -108,206     -63,120.19            .00     -45,085.81  58.3%
11301 421001 State Aid                        -113,863           0    -113,863     -56,931.00            .00     -56,932.00  50.0%
11301 421010 M S L Incentives                  -15,000           0     -15,000     -18,681.00            .00       3,681.00 124.5%
11301 421012 State Aid Cs + All Others        -772,689           0    -772,689    -449,640.09            .00    -323,048.82  58.2%
11301 421014 State Aid Wages Allocation        110,598           0     110,598      55,272.32            .00      55,325.68  50.0%
11301 421050 CS Performance Based Inc         -163,938           0    -163,938            .00            .00    -163,938.00    .0%
11301 421096 State Aid Medical Support          -8,000           0      -8,000            .00            .00      -8,000.00    .0%
11301 421097 State Aid E-filing                -19,716           0     -19,716            .00            .00     -19,716.00    .0%
11301 442004 Extradition Reimbursement          -1,000           0      -1,000      -1,775.38            .00         775.38 177.5%
11301 451011 CS Prog Fee Reduce 66%              7,920           0       7,920       6,237.90            .00       1,682.10  78.8%
11301 451013 NIVD Activities Reduction          -2,000           0      -2,000      -1,485.62            .00        -514.38  74.3%
11301 451014 CS Program Fees                   -11,000           0     -11,000      -9,237.43            .00      -1,762.57  84.0%
11301 455003 Non-IVD Service Fees               -1,400           0      -1,400        -840.00            .00        -560.00  60.0%
11301 699999 Budgetary Fund Balance                  0      -6,859      -6,859            .00            .00      -6,859.00    .0%

 
TOTAL General Fund                    -1,098,294      -6,859  -1,105,153    -540,200.49            .00    -564,952.42  48.9%

 
TOTAL REVENUES   -1,098,294      -6,859  -1,105,153    -540,200.49            .00    -564,952.42

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

09/08/2020 Jefferson County PAGE 1
15:38:20 FLEXIBLE PERIOD REPORT glflxrpt

 
 

FROM 2020 01 TO 2020 07
 

ACCOUNTS FOR: ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
100 General Fund APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET ACTUALS ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED

 
 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
 

11301 Child Support                      
___________________________________

 
11301 511110 Salary-Permanent Regular          259,633           0     259,633     151,696.50            .00     107,936.98  58.4%
11301 511210 Wages-Regular                     459,406           0     459,406     265,439.43            .00     193,966.77  57.8%
11301 511220 Wages-Overtime                      5,753           0       5,753       1,177.07            .00       4,575.80  20.5%
11301 511330 Wages-Longevity Pay                 1,846           0       1,846            .00            .00       1,846.25    .0%
11301 512141 Social Security                    54,216           0      54,216      31,021.99            .00      23,194.48  57.2%
11301 512142 Retirement (Employer)              49,048           0      49,048      28,235.88            .00      20,812.21  57.6%
11301 512144 Health Insurance                  125,418           0     125,418      81,032.65            .00      44,385.45  64.6%
11301 512145 Life Insurance                        275           0         275         170.79            .00         103.79  62.2%
11301 512150 FSA Contribution                   14,600           0      14,600            .00            .00      14,600.00    .0%
11301 512151 HSA Contribution                        0           0           0      17,800.00            .00     -17,800.00    .0%
11301 512173 Dental Insurance                   10,159           0      10,159       5,903.76            .00       4,255.44  58.1%
11301 521255 Paper Service                      11,000           0      11,000       6,814.75            .00       4,185.25  62.0%
11301 521256 Genetic Tests                       6,000           0       6,000       3,956.00            .00       2,044.00  65.9%
11301 521296 Computer Support                    2,339           0       2,339       1,648.14            .00         690.86  70.5%
11301 529160 Interpreter Fee                     5,183           0       5,183       1,761.00            .00       3,422.00  34.0%
11301 531303 Computer Equipmt & Software         2,100           0       2,100       2,204.99            .00        -104.99 105.0%
11301 531310 Postage Special                       300           0         300         102.88            .00         197.12  34.3%
11301 531311 Postage & Box Rent                 16,900           0      16,900      10,178.99            .00       6,721.01  60.2%
11301 531312 Office Supplies                     2,500           0       2,500         566.96            .00       1,933.04  22.7%
11301 531313 Printing & Duplicating              2,300           0       2,300       2,483.74            .00        -183.74 108.0%
11301 531314 Small Items Of Equipment            1,200           0       1,200         670.90            .00         529.10  55.9%
11301 531321 Publication Of Legal Notice         1,100           0       1,100         397.00            .00         703.00  36.1%
11301 531323 Subscriptions-Tax & Law             2,334           0       2,334       1,180.62            .00       1,153.50  50.6%
11301 531324 Membership Dues                     1,872           0       1,872       1,662.00            .00         210.00  88.8%
11301 531348 Educational Supplies                  450           0         450         258.53            .00         191.47  57.5%
11301 532325 Registration                        2,740       6,859       9,599          25.00            .00       9,574.00    .3%
11301 532332 Mileage                               800           0         800            .00            .00         800.00    .0%
11301 532334 Commercial Travel                   1,200           0       1,200            .00            .00       1,200.00    .0%
11301 532335 Meals                                 800           0         800          41.91            .00         758.09   5.2%
11301 532336 Lodging                             3,083           0       3,083          -9.02            .00       3,092.02    .3%
11301 532339 Other Travel & Tolls                  300           0         300          16.80            .00         283.20   5.6%
11301 532340 Contracted Extraditions             9,750           0       9,750       2,479.53            .00       7,270.47  25.4%
11301 533225 Telephone & Fax                       450           0         450         246.71            .00         203.29  54.8%
11301 535242 Maintain Machinery & Equip          3,600           0       3,600       1,710.46            .00       1,889.54  47.5%
11301 571004 IP Telephony Allocation             2,034           0       2,034       1,186.50            .00         847.50  58.3%
11301 571005 Duplicating Allocation                208           0         208         121.31            .00          86.69  58.3%
11301 571009 MIS PC Group Allocation            23,251           0      23,251      13,563.06            .00       9,687.94  58.3%
11301 571010 MIS Systems Grp Alloc(ISIS)         8,628           0       8,628       5,033.00            .00       3,595.00  58.3%

 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

09/08/2020 Jefferson County PAGE 2
15:38:20 FLEXIBLE PERIOD REPORT glflxrpt

 
 

FROM 2020 01 TO 2020 07
 

ACCOUNTS FOR: ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
100 General Fund APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET ACTUALS ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED

 
 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
11301 591519 Other Insurance                     5,517           0       5,517       3,724.21            .00       1,792.34  67.5%

 
TOTAL General Fund                     1,098,294       6,859   1,105,153     644,504.04            .00     460,648.87  58.3%

 
TOTAL EXPENSES    1,098,294       6,859   1,105,153     644,504.04            .00     460,648.87

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



JEFFERSON COUNTY

Revenues Collected Through 8‐31‐2020 (Unadjusted)

DEPARTMENT 2020 REVISED  2020 ACTUALS % 2019 REVISED 2019 ACTUAL % 2018 REVISED 2018 ACTUAL %

Administration Total (580,556.00)$            (318,004.40)$            54.8% (685,986.00)$            (397,653.38)$            58.0% (530,385.00)$            (352,618.39)$            66.5%

Capital Projects and Debt Total (1,136,443.00)           (770,533.50)              67.8% (1,133,342.00)           (786,784.22)              69.4% (1,134,018.00)           (990,451.89)              87.3%

Central Services Total (876,789.00)              (587,283.01)              67.0% (848,048.00)              (600,853.18)              70.9% (809,762.00)              (539,036.01)              66.6%

Child Support Total (1,098,294.00)           (607,644.01)              55.3% (1,146,300.00)           (629,971.90)              55.0% (1,211,845.00)           (707,764.44)              58.4%

Clerk of Courts Total (2,965,996.00)           (2,015,425.24)           68.0% (2,836,315.00)           (2,062,043.18)           72.7% (2,685,288.00)           (1,855,909.67)           69.1%

Corporation Counsel Total (405,012.00)              (271,053.00)              66.9% (384,764.00)              (256,509.36)              66.7% (372,363.00)              (248,242.00)              66.7%

County Board Total (426,226.00)              (284,246.67)              66.7% (433,373.00)              (288,915.36)              66.7% (449,187.00)              (292,898.79)              65.2%

County Clerk Total (389,113.00)              (297,192.06)              76.4% (376,461.00)              (265,796.04)              70.6% (451,178.00)              (315,074.29)              69.8%

District Attorney Total (838,288.00)              (534,428.54)              63.8% (822,021.00)              (537,458.83)              65.4% (828,933.00)              (548,095.91)              66.1%

Economic Development Total (498,223.00)              (440,567.50)              88.4% (472,560.00)              (436,727.51)              92.4% (502,479.00)              (434,582.00)              86.5%

Emergency Management Total (2,383,672.00)           (199,105.25)              8.4% (199,579.00)              (74,265.64)                 37.2% (185,518.00)              (135,043.38)              72.8%

Fair Park Total (1,359,680.00)           (186,245.56)              13.7% (1,294,792.00)           (865,902.39)              66.9% (1,194,616.00)           (846,616.73)              70.9%

Finance Department Total (985,425.00)              (656,767.09)              66.6% (977,955.00)              (648,727.31)              66.3% (524,697.00)              (629,360.67)              119.9%

General Revenues & Expenditure Total (990,005.00)              1,399,498.15            ‐141.4% (1,041,999.00)           1,377,058.58            ‐132.2% (788,585.00)              1,436,026.09            ‐182.1%

Health Department Total (1,650,025.00)           (963,875.94)              58.4% (1,468,729.00)           (861,347.38)              58.6% (1,428,234.00)           (812,980.66)              56.9%

Highway Department Total (11,254,363.00)         (7,323,780.34)           65.1% (11,389,168.00)         (7,419,583.41)           65.1% (11,126,883.00)         (6,264,584.69)           56.3%

Human Resources Total (543,314.00)              (365,288.93)              67.2% (525,316.00)              (345,500.90)              65.8% (507,173.00)              (325,944.50)              64.3%

Human Services Department Total (26,631,616.00)         (14,436,773.45)         54.2% (25,342,356.00)         (13,783,580.03)         54.4% (23,656,668.00)         (14,212,627.38)         60.1%

Land & Water Conservation Total (660,696.00)              (269,085.82)              40.7% (659,423.00)              (213,438.75)              32.4% (658,968.00)              (429,546.27)              65.2%

Land Information Total (607,113.00)              (441,900.21)              72.8% (665,268.00)              (443,972.31)              66.7% (596,715.00)              (397,071.32)              66.5%

Library Total (1,192,912.00)           (795,274.64)              66.7% (1,153,101.00)           (768,734.08)              66.7% (1,126,933.00)           (751,288.72)              66.7%

Management Information Systems Total (1,560,518.00)           (1,076,142.91)           69.0% (1,401,776.00)           (933,791.27)              66.6% (1,371,748.00)           (906,603.83)              66.1%

Medical Examiner Total (249,121.00)              (145,672.00)              58.5% (225,252.00)              (124,142.00)              55.1% (212,397.00)              (129,794.64)              61.1%

Parks Department Total (2,226,915.00)           (705,489.56)              31.7% (2,510,192.00)           (784,981.18)              31.3% (1,294,164.00)           (700,062.98)              54.1%

Planning And Zoning Total (621,246.00)              (344,535.67)              55.5% (605,251.00)              (364,380.04)              60.2% (610,470.00)              (364,015.99)              59.6%

Register Of Deeds Total (359,231.00)              (340,848.76)              94.9% (334,968.00)              (264,585.20)              79.0% (325,517.00)              (290,528.65)              89.3%

Sheriff Department Total (14,693,282.00)         (9,674,085.12)           65.8% (14,466,963.00)         (9,560,739.31)           66.1% (14,229,886.00)         (9,372,570.25)           65.9%

Treasurer Total (264,432.00)              (388,024.17)              146.7% (241,639.00)              (715,341.35)              296.0% (250,489.00)              (42,597.57)                 17.0%

UW Extension Total (280,356.00)              (181,584.19)              64.8% (262,575.00)              (170,254.24)              64.8% (275,413.00)              (182,828.21)              66.4%

Veterans Services Total (207,207.00)              (140,365.96)              67.7% (198,887.00)              (134,342.75)              67.5% (188,766.00)              (124,643.50)              66.0%

Grand Total (77,936,069.00)$      (43,361,725.35)$      55.6% (74,104,359.00)$      (43,363,263.92)$      58.5% (69,529,278.00)$      (41,767,357.24)$      60.1%



JEFFERSON COUNTY

Expenditures through 8‐31‐2020 (Unadjusted)

DEPARTMENT 2020 REVISED  2020 ACTUALS % 2019 REVISED 2019 ACTUAL % 2018 REVISED 2018 ACTUAL %

Administration Total 693,475.00$            473,352.11$            68.3% 712,736.00$            336,602.02$            47.2% 530,385.00$            321,688.29$            60.7%

Capital Projects and Debt Total 7,136,443.00           1,987,376.67           27.8% 1,883,342.00           961,790.45              51.1% 1,134,018.00           1,604,228.65           141.5%

Central Services Total 1,295,610.00           938,395.87              72.4% 1,302,706.00           570,408.23              43.8% 1,043,105.00           614,630.78              58.9%

Child Support Total 1,105,152.00           730,359.00              66.1% 1,146,300.00           739,215.00              64.5% 1,222,846.00           749,803.01              61.3%

Clerk of Courts Total 3,040,996.00           1,630,194.27           53.6% 2,903,815.00           1,608,850.53           55.4% 2,735,288.00           1,698,072.72           62.1%

Corporation Counsel Total 415,011.00              237,495.82              57.2% 384,764.00              293,406.11              76.3% 372,363.00              246,229.44              66.1%

County Board Total 428,725.00              346,534.49              80.8% 440,313.00              346,905.28              78.8% 456,427.00              356,160.24              78.0%

County Clerk Total 389,112.00              423,126.18              108.7% 376,461.00              397,806.29              105.7% 504,562.00              497,291.88              98.6%

District Attorney Total 838,289.00              532,103.83              63.5% 822,021.00              528,011.22              64.2% 828,933.00              540,028.83              65.1%

Economic Development Total 544,898.00              282,881.94              51.9% 460,022.00              258,912.70              56.3% 448,577.00              266,833.87              59.5%

Emergency Management Total 2,384,589.00           187,128.17              7.8% 199,579.00              126,249.63              63.3% 185,518.00              113,426.62              61.1%

Fair Park Total 1,437,178.00           476,812.29              33.2% 1,421,792.00           1,060,517.37           74.6% 1,265,314.00           931,194.73              73.6%

Finance Department Total 1,070,425.00           604,283.29              56.5% 982,955.00              612,270.58              62.3% 682,669.00              787,340.89              115.3%

General Revenues & Expenditure Total 1,455,774.00           906.02                      0.1% 1,063,658.00           42,039.17                4.0% 1,007,569.00           21,508.69                2.1%

Health Department Total 1,660,056.00           1,138,146.77           68.6% 1,627,452.00           1,035,392.81           63.6% 1,592,785.00           1,021,283.74           64.1%

Highway Department Total 11,254,363.00        6,511,810.44           57.9% 12,460,188.00        9,585,272.90           76.9% 11,126,883.00        6,360,548.43           57.2%

Human Resources Total 565,965.00              354,902.42              62.7% 542,166.00              300,309.71              55.4% 567,173.00              401,071.80              70.7%

Human Services Department Total 26,765,330.00        15,261,101.04        57.0% 26,201,851.00        16,252,827.99        62.0% 24,961,495.00        15,141,440.86        60.7%

Land & Water Conservation Total 660,116.00              335,803.28              50.9% 660,356.00              401,260.46              60.8% 659,044.00              424,484.97              64.4%

Land Information Total 696,445.00              403,773.00              58.0% 760,854.00              526,673.80              69.2% 634,690.00              410,812.07              64.7%

Library Total 1,192,912.00           1,192,617.69           100.0% 1,153,101.00           1,152,416.45           99.9% 1,126,933.00           1,126,544.89           100.0%

Management Information Systems Total 1,700,521.00           1,148,418.41           67.5% 1,654,776.00           1,069,352.74           64.6% 1,593,099.00           1,150,670.89           72.2%

Medical Examiner Total 250,671.00              156,885.94              62.6% 236,252.00              140,151.32              59.3% 212,397.00              143,337.04              67.5%

Parks Department Total 3,124,010.00           748,602.51              24.0% 3,091,959.00           721,777.02              23.3% 1,623,805.00           731,710.76              45.1%

Planning And Zoning Total 697,507.00              404,264.42              58.0% 766,209.00              426,071.46              55.6% 667,282.00              416,218.16              62.4%

Register Of Deeds Total 359,230.00              220,468.00              61.4% 334,968.00              226,215.35              67.5% 325,517.00              212,869.77              65.4%

Sheriff Department Total 16,564,744.00        9,792,095.10           59.1% 16,030,783.00        10,033,353.19        62.6% 14,544,656.00        9,317,948.59           64.1%

Treasurer Total 264,432.00              132,260.84              50.0% 241,639.00              146,280.43              60.5% 250,489.00              153,065.57              61.1%

UW Extension Total 290,354.00              162,628.09              56.0% 298,675.00              181,746.24              60.9% 283,638.00              161,094.25              56.8%

Veterans Services Total 207,584.00              134,320.52              64.7% 224,688.00              129,112.91              57.5% 208,367.00              123,926.95              59.5%

Grand Total 88,489,917.00$      46,949,048.42$      53.1% 80,386,381.00$      50,211,199.36$      62.5% 72,795,827.00$      46,045,467.38$      63.3%



Ledger Description General Other Vested Authority Publish
Date Benefits Date

(599900) (599908) (599909)

1-Jan-19 Tax Levy 625,131.00 0.00 300,000.00

11-Feb-20 Jefferson County Law Enforcement Officers Assn. (53,307.00) Finance Committee 11-Feb-20

10-Mar-20 Sheriff Department vandalism reimbursement (3,000.00) Finance Committee 10-Mar-20

Total amount available 568,824.00 0.00 300,000.00

Net 568,824.00 0.00 300,000.00

Jefferson County 
Contingency Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020



DRAINAGE OF LANDS  88.011 Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats.

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

CHAPTER 88

DRAINAGE OF LANDS

SUBCHAPTER I

GENERAL PROVISIONS
88.01 Definitions.
88.02 Outstanding securities and contracts not affected.
88.03 Drainage proceedings equitable in nature.
88.032 Amendment of documents.
88.04 General rules relating to signatures on petitions.
88.05 General rules applicable to notices of hearings.
88.06 General procedure for obtaining consent or approval of the court in

drainage proceedings.
88.065 General procedure for drainage board hearings.
88.07 General rules; drainage proceedings in court.
88.08 Costs in drainage proceedings.
88.09 Certiorari; drainage board decisions.
88.10 Guardian ad litem; failure to appoint.
88.11 Assistance to drainage districts.
88.12 Proceedings when drainage area is in more than one county.
88.13 Right to enter lands of drainage district.
88.14 Controversies between districts.
88.145 Limitation of damages and suits.
88.16 Notification requirements, engineering study.
88.161 Transition for certain drainage districts.

SUBCHAPTER II

APPOINTMENT, POWERS AND DUTIES
 OF DRAINAGE BOARD

88.17 Appointment and organization of drainage board.
88.172 Limited liability of drainage board members.
88.18 County treasurer to serve as treasurer of drainage districts.
88.19 Board to keep records.
88.20 Conflict of interest prohibited.
88.21 General powers of the drainage board.
88.212 Required actions for the drainage board.
88.215 Landowner petitions.
88.22 Power of board to contract with the federal government and other agencies.
88.23 Power of board to levy assessments for costs.
88.24 Board to file annual report.

SUBCHAPTER III

ORGANIZATION OF DRAINAGE DISTRICTS
88.27 Who may petition for organization of a drainage district.
88.28 Contents of petition.
88.29 Referral of petition to board; examination of lands; hearing by board.
88.31 Special procedure in cases affecting navigable waters.
88.32 Report to the court.
88.33 Drainage project may be stopped prior to organization of district.
88.34 Hearing by the court; organization of drainage district.
88.35 Laying out drains, assessment of benefits and award of damages in newly

organized district.
88.36 Hearing on report.

SUBCHAPTER IV

GENERAL RULES APPLICABLE TO ASSESSMENTS
88.40 Assessments for costs to be certified to register of deeds; assessments are

lien on lands.
88.405 Assessment for connection to district drain.
88.41 Payment of assessments for costs.
88.42 Unpaid drainage assessments to be collected as taxes.
88.43 Collection of assessments as delinquent taxes.
88.44 Contesting validity of assessments.
88.45 Procedure upon discovering omitted assessments.

88.46 Reassessment of benefits.
88.47 Apportionment of assessments when assessed parcel is divided.
88.48 Assessment of county and municipal lands.
88.49 Assessment of one district by another; judgment against district.
88.50 When state lands subject to assessment; right−of−way across state lands.

SUBCHAPTER V

BORROWING MONEY; REFINANCING; 
COMPROMISE OF DEBTS

88.54 Borrowing money.
88.55 Refunding district obligations.
88.56 Compromise and discharge of obligations.
88.61 Laying out drains, assessment of benefits and award of damages in existing

drainage district.

SUBCHAPTER VI

CONSTRUCTION, MAINTENANCE AND 
IMPROVEMENT OF DRAINS

88.62 Conditions relative to doing of work.
88.63 Maintenance and repair of drains.
88.64 Assessment against municipalities for enlargement or maintenance of

drains.
88.66 Construction and repair of drains crossing railroad right−of−way.
88.67 Construction and repair of drains crossing utility installations; laying util-

ity installations across drains.
88.68 Construction of drain across public highway; construction of bridges

across drains.
88.69 District liable for damage to land outside its boundaries.
88.70 Formation of subdistrict to obtain more thorough drainage.
88.71 Enlarging or supplementing existing drains.
88.72 Removal of dams or other obstructions in drainage outlets.
88.73 Providing drainage for lands assessed but not adequately drained.
88.74 District corridors.

SUBCHAPTER VII

ENLARGEMENT, CONSOLIDATION, DIVISION 
AND DISSOLUTION OF DRAINAGE DISTRICT

88.77 Annexation of lands upon petition of owners.
88.78 Annexation of benefited lands.
88.785 Certain annexations prohibited.
88.79 Consolidation of drainage districts in process of organization.
88.791 Consolidation of existing drainage districts.
88.80 Withdrawal of lands from drainage district.
88.81 Proceedings to suspend operations of drainage district.
88.815 Dissolution of suspended drainage districts.
88.817 Leola drainage district.
88.82 Dissolution of drainage districts.
88.83 Transfer of district to municipal jurisdiction.

SUBCHAPTER VIII

RIGHTS OF DRAINAGE; PRIVATE DRAINS; MISCELLANEOUS
PROVISIONS

88.87 Road grades not to obstruct natural drainage, landowners not to obstruct
highway drainage; remedies.

88.88 Railroad to construct ditch or sluiceway across right−of−way.
88.89 Roads not to obstruct natural watercourse.
88.90 Removal of obstructions from natural watercourses.
88.91 Penalty for placing obstruction in ditches.
88.92 Private drains not to be connected with district drains.
88.93 Right to take water from drainage ditch.
88.94 Drains for individual landowners.

SUBCHAPTER I

GENERAL PROVISIONS

88.01 Definitions.  In this chapter, unless the context requires
otherwise:

(1) “Benefits” includes all pecuniary advantages accruing to
lands from the construction of the drain or proposed drain.

(2) “Board” or “drainage board” means the board created and
appointed under s. 88.16, 1991 stats., or under s. 88.17.

(2m) “Bond” means any bond, note or other obligation of a
drainage board issued under this chapter, including any refunding
bond.

(3) “Clerk of court” means the clerk of circuit court.

(4) “Cost of construction” includes damages to lands both
within and outside the district, reasonable attorney fees for peti-
tioners and the board, and all other reasonable and necessary
expenses incurred in the organization of and in the construction
and completion of the works of a drainage district.

(5) “County treasurer” means the treasurer of the county in
which the drainage board having jurisdiction of the drainage dis-
trict is located.

(6) “Court” means the circuit court of the county in which the
drainage district is located or the circuit court having jurisdiction
of the proceedings in any drainage district located in more than
one county.

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.01
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.02
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.03
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.032
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.04
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.06
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.065
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.07
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.08
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.09
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.10
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.11
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.12
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.13
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.14
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.145
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.16
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.161
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.172
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.18
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.19
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.20
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.21
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.212
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.215
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.22
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.23
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.24
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.27
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.28
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.29
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.31
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.32
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.33
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.34
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.35
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.36
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.40
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.405
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.41
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.42
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.43
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.44
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.45
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.46
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.47
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.48
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.49
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.50
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.54
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.55
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.56
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.61
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.62
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.63
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.64
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.66
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.67
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.68
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.69
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.70
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.71
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.72
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.73
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.77
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.78
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.785
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.79
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.791
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.80
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.81
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.815
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.817
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.82
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.83
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.87
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.88
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.89
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.90
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.91
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.92
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.93
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.94
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/1991/88.16
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17


Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats. 2 88.01 DRAINAGE OF LANDS

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

(7) “District” means any drainage district subject to this chap-
ter.

(8) “Drain” means any device for the drainage of water from
land or the protection of land from water, including open ditches,
tiles, pipelines, pumps and levees.

(8m) “Duck Creek Drainage District” has the meaning given
in s. 30.01 (1nm).

(9) “Interested person” includes the state or any agency or
subdivision thereof.

(10) “Judge” means the judge of the circuit court having juris-
diction of the proceedings of any drainage district, or the person
sitting for the judge.

(11) “Land” or “lands” means any real property or interest
therein, whether privately or publicly owned, including railroad
rights−of−way, public highways, streets and alleys.

(12) “Mortgagee” means every person holding a mortgage or
an assignment of a mortgage against lands within a drainage dis-
trict or proposed drainage district whose name and post−office
address is known to the board or whose mortgage or assignment
is legally recorded and contains the post−office address of such
mortgagee or assignee.

History:  1977 c. 449 ss. 193 to 195, 497; 1983 a. 189; 1989 a. 31; 1993 a. 456,
490; 1999 a. 9; 2005 a. 253.

88.02 Outstanding securities and contracts not
affected.  Nothing in this chapter may render more difficult the
collection of outstanding bonds or notes of any drainage organiza-
tion or impair the obligation of any contract made by the organiza-
tion or defeat any vested property right of the organization.  No
assessment of supplemental benefits nor any reassessment of ben-
efits may disturb any previous assessment for the cost of con-
struction while bonds or notes based on the construction are
unpaid.  Assessments shall remain liens upon the same lands and
claims against the same corporations in the same amounts as when
first assessed and recorded, until the bonds and notes based on the
construction are paid or refunded.

History:  1993 a. 456.

88.03 Drainage proceedings equitable in nature.  All
court proceedings under this chapter are equitable in nature.  The
court may in any proceeding bring in new parties as if they were
original parties to the proceeding.

History:  1977 c. 449; 1993 a. 456.

88.032 Amendment of documents.  (1) Any document or
paper filed or entered in a proceeding before the court may at any
time be amended, modified or corrected by the court as the facts
warrant and upon such notice as the court orders.

(2) Any document or paper filed or entered in a proceeding
before the drainage board may at any time be amended, modified
or corrected by the drainage board as the facts warrant and upon
such notice as the drainage board orders, except that no amend-
ment, modification or correction of any assessment may be made
after the issuance of money obligations based on the assessment
if the result of the amendment, modification or correction would
be to render the obligations more difficult to collect.

History:  1993 a. 456 ss. 10, 11.

88.04 General rules relating to signatures on peti-
tions.  (1) Any person entitled to sign a petition to the court or
the drainage board under this chapter may sign through an agent.
The authority of the agent shall be in writing and shall be filed with
the drainage board but need not be acknowledged, sealed or wit-
nessed.

(2) If any minor or individual adjudicated incompetent owns
land in a drainage district or proposed drainage district or pro-
posed annex to a drainage district, the guardian or next of kin of
the minor or individual may sign petitions under this chapter for
and on behalf of the minor or incompetent.

History:  1991 a. 316; 1993 a. 456; 2005 a. 387.

88.05 General rules applicable to notices of hearings.
If a hearing is required on a petition or report filed with the court
or a petition filed with the drainage board under this chapter, the
following rules apply unless some different procedure is expressly
provided under this chapter:

(1) In the case of a court hearing:

(a)  The order fixing the time and place of the hearing shall be
made by the court.

(b)  The notice of hearing is sufficient in form and substance
if it recites all of the following:

1.  That a particular petition or report has been filed.

2.  The place of filing.

3.  That it is subject to the inspection of all interested persons.

4.  If a petition, the request for relief, or the substance of the
request.

5.  The time and place of the hearing.

6.  That all objections to the jurisdiction of the court or to the
sufficiency or legality of any petition or report shall be filed with
the clerk of court in writing before the hearing and that the objec-
tions must be set forth clearly and in detail.

(2) In the case of a drainage board hearing:

(a)  The order fixing the time and place of the hearing shall be
made by the drainage board.

(b)  The notice of hearing is sufficient in form and substance
if it recites all of the following:

1.  That a particular petition or report has been filed.

2.  The place of filing.

3.  That it is subject to the inspection of all interested persons.

4.  If a petition, the request for relief, or the substance of the
request.

5.  The time and place of the hearing.

6.  That all objections to the jurisdiction of the drainage board
or to the sufficiency or legality of any petition, report or assess-
ment or to the equity of any assessment or award of damages shall
be filed with the drainage board in writing before the hearing and
that the objections shall be set forth clearly and in detail.

(3) Notice of hearing shall be given by both mailing and publi-
cation, as follows:

(a)  The notice shall be mailed, at least 20 days before the date
set for hearing, to those persons designated by the applicable sec-
tion as entitled to receive notice.  Ordinary mail may be used.

(b)  The notice shall be published as a class 3 notice, under ch.
985, in the affected area.  The last insertion shall be not more than
20 days before the hearing.

(4) For the purpose of convenience of cross reference, persons
commonly designated by specific sections of this chapter as enti-
tled to receive notice are grouped as follows:

(a)  The chairperson of the county highway committee except
in a county with a highway commissioner appointed under s.
83.01 (1) (c), the highway commissioner; the chairperson of the
county land conservation committee in the county involved; the
secretary of natural resources; the state drainage engineer; and,
where a railroad company is involved, the person specified in sub.
(6).

(b)  The persons enumerated in par. (a) and all owners of record
whose lands may be affected.

(c)  The persons enumerated in par. (a) and all owners and mort-
gagees of lands affected whose names and post−office addresses
are known or can with reasonable diligence be ascertained.

(5) In the case of a court hearing, in lieu of the service by mail
specified in sub. (3), the notice of hearing may be served as pro-
vided in s. 801.11 for the service of a summons, at least 20 days
before the time fixed for hearing.  The service is sufficient to give
the court complete jurisdiction over the parties and their lands
without any other service.

(6) Railroad companies shall file with the department of
financial institutions a document stating the name and post−office

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/30.01(1nm)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449,%20s.%20193
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449,%20s.%20195
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449,%20s.%20497
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1983/189
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1989/31
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/490
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1999/9
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2005/253
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456,%20s.%2010
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456,%20s.%2011
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2005/387
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20985
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/83.01(1)(c)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(6)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/801.11


DRAINAGE OF LANDS  88.083 Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats.

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

address of the person upon whom any notice required by this
chapter may be served.

(7) In the case of a court hearing, the board shall file with the
court proof of publication and service of the notice required by this
section.  The certificate or affidavit of the person who made the
service, publication or mailing, or who knows the facts, is suffi-
cient proof of service, publication or mailing.

(8) Failure to give notice as provided by this section or to
announce any adjournment does not defeat the jurisdiction of
either the court or the drainage board.  If a failure to give legal
notice to any person entitled to notice is discovered before an
order is entered, the court or drainage board shall adjourn the hear-
ing and direct the giving of proper notice.  If a failure to give the
notice is discovered after the order is entered, the court or drainage
board may order the person not served with notice to show cause
why that person should not be bound by the order already entered.
In any case, notice may be waived by appearance or by a written
waiver filed with the court or drainage board.

History:  Sup. Ct. Order, 67 Wis. 2d 585, 773 (1975); 1977 c. 449; 1981 c. 346 s.
38; 1985 a. 29; 1991 a. 316; 1993 a. 184, 456, 491; 1995 a. 27.

88.06 General procedure for obtaining consent or
approval of the court in drainage proceedings.  Whenever
any action by the drainage board requires the consent or approval
of the court and no other procedure is expressly provided, the pro-
cedure in this section applies:

(1) The board shall file with the clerk of court a petition asking
the court’s consent to or approval of the particular action that the
board proposes to take.

(2) Upon receipt of the petition the court shall fix the time and
place of the hearing on the petition and shall order the board to
give notice of the hearing as provided in s. 88.05 (1) (b) to the per-
sons specified in s. 88.05 (4) (b).

(3) At the hearing any interested person may appear and tes-
tify either for or against the petition, subject to the requirements
of s. 88.07 (1).  If the court is satisfied that the board’s proposed
action will be in the best interests of the districts involved, it shall
grant the petition and approve the report, subject to the changes
and conditions that it considers advisable.  Otherwise, the court
shall dismiss the petition.

(4) If a petition, which is basically the same in substance as a
petition which has been decided or dismissed, is filed within 3
years after the dismissal, the court may refuse to order a hearing
on the petition or to take any other action with respect to it.

History:  1977 c. 135 s. 19; 1993 a. 456.

88.065 General procedure for drainage board hear-
ings.  If this chapter requires the drainage board to conduct a
hearing before issuing an order and no other procedure is
expressly provided, the following procedure applies:

(1) Upon receipt of the petition, the drainage board shall fix a
time and place of hearing on the petition and shall give notice of
the hearing as provided in s. 88.05 (2) (b) to the persons specified
in s. 88.05 (4) (b).

(2) At the hearing, any interested person may appear and tes-
tify either for or against the petition or object to the report assess-
ing costs.  If the drainage board is satisfied that the proposed action
will be in the best interests of the districts involved, the board shall
grant the petition and issue the order, subject to the changes and
conditions that the board considers advisable.  Otherwise, the
drainage board shall dismiss the petition.

(3) If a petition, which is basically the same in substance as a
petition which has been decided or dismissed, is filed within 3
years after the dismissal, the drainage board may refuse to order
a hearing on the petition or to take any other action with respect
to the petition.

(4) Except as provided in sub. (5), all meetings of the drainage
board are subject to subch. V of ch. 19.

(5) (a)  A gathering of drainage board members solely for one
or more of the following purposes is not a meeting, as defined in
s. 19.82 (2):

1.  Observing, supervising or undertaking the construction,
maintenance or improvement of drains.

2.  Observing, supervising or undertaking the construction or
maintenance of highways, railroads, bridges, utilities or other
similar structures that may affect drains in any drainage district.

3.  Collecting information by observation, survey or measure-
ment or by discussions with an affected landowner at the site of
a drainage ditch or a proposed drainage ditch.

4.  Responding to natural disasters affecting a drain.

(b)  Any action taken by a drainage board under par. (a) shall
be reported by the board’s secretary at the next meeting of the
drainage board for inclusion in the board’s minutes.

(c)  A drainage board may not take any action at a gathering
under par. (a) if the action will result in an increase in the assess-
ment against any property in the drainage district.

History:  1993 a. 456.
NOTE:  1993 Wis. Act 456, which created this section, contains extensive

explanatory notes.

88.07 General rules; drainage proceedings in court.
(1) All objections made to the jurisdiction of the court or to the
sufficiency or legality of any petition or report shall be in writing.
The objections shall be set forth clearly and in detail and shall be
filed with the clerk of court before the hearing.

(2) Several petitions may be filed in any proceeding.  At any
time before the sufficiency of the signers of the petitions has been
adjudicated, additional signers may be added to the petitions with
like effect as if they had signed the original petition.

(3) At any time before but not after the hearing has begun on
any petition filed under this chapter, any petitioner may withdraw
his or her name from the petition upon filing in court an undertak-
ing with sufficient sureties to be approved by the court.  The
undertaking shall be conditioned that if the withdrawal of names
reduces the number of signers below the number required by the
section under which the petition is filed and thereby deprives the
court of jurisdiction, the withdrawing petitioner will pay into court
the costs of the drainage proceeding incurred prior to and includ-
ing the making and entry of the order denying the relief requested
in the petition and will pay into court the expenses incurred on the
petition before his or her withdrawal.

(4) For satisfactory cause the court may adjourn any hearing
for a period of not more than one month at any one adjournment.
The adjournment of any meeting or hearing beyond the time, or
failure to act within the time, provided in this chapter does not
affect the jurisdiction of either the court or the drainage board, but
a subsequent hearing shall be had and notice of the time and place
thereof shall be given.

(5) Any hearing under this chapter may be adjourned by the
court or presiding judge or, in his or her absence, by the clerk of
court.

History:  1977 c. 135, 449; 1993 a. 456.

88.08 Costs in drainage proceedings.  (1) In all proceed-
ings under this chapter involving a petition to the court, the court
shall by order tax the taxable costs of the proceeding.  If costs are
taxed against the drainage board, they shall not go against the
board members personally but shall be paid out of the district
funds or from funds received from the petitioners unless the court
orders otherwise.

(2) If a petition for organization of a drainage district is dis-
missed before the appointment of a drainage board in the county,
the order taxing costs shall be entered against the petitioners and
in favor of any person who advanced moneys, rendered services
or incurred other liabilities in prosecuting or contesting such pro-
ceedings, for the amount of such moneys, services and incurred
liabilities.

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1981/346
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1981/346,%20s.%2038
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1985/29
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/184
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/491
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1995/27
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(1)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.07(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/135
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/135,%20s.%2019
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.065(5)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/subch.%20V%20of%20ch.%2019
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/19.82(2)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.065(5)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.065(5)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/135
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456


Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats. 4 88.08 DRAINAGE OF LANDS

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

(3) If proceedings are dismissed in any case where a drainage
board has been appointed in the county, the order taxing costs shall
be entered against the petitioners and in favor of the board for all
costs, expenses and liabilities incurred by the board or by any
other person in prosecuting or contesting such proceedings and for
the benefit of those who have rendered services or advanced or
loaned money in prosecuting or contesting such proceedings.

(4) Before any order taxing costs is entered, a petitioner or the
board or a person contesting the proceedings shall file with the
clerk of the court a duly verified itemized statement of all costs,
attorney fees, and other liabilities incurred in prosecuting or con-
testing such proceedings, upon which an order shall be issued
requiring the petitioners to show cause why an order taxing costs
should not be entered against them for the amount of costs, attor-
neys’ fees and other liabilities.  Notice of hearing of such order to
show cause shall be given to the petitioners as provided in s. 88.05
(3).  Such order need not contain an itemized statement of such
account, but shall state where such account is filed.

(5) The petitioners shall, between themselves, contribute to
the payment of such costs in proportion to the number of acres of
land owned by them within the boundaries of the district or pro-
posed district at the time of filing the petition.

History:  1977 c. 449; 2005 a. 253.

88.09 Certiorari; drainage board decisions.  Any person
subject to an order or rule of the drainage board may, within 30
days after publication of the order or rule, commence an action
seeking the remedy available by certiorari.  The court may not stay
proceedings involving the order or rule when an action is com-
menced, but may, on application, on notice to the board and for
cause, grant a restraining order.  The board is not required to return
the original papers acted upon by it, but may return certified or
sworn copies of the papers.  If necessary for the proper disposition
of the matter, the court may take evidence, or appoint a referee to
take evidence and report findings of fact and conclusions of law
as the court directs, which shall constitute a part of the proceed-
ings upon which the determination of the court shall be made.  The
court may reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may modify, the
order or rule brought up for review.

History:  1977 c. 187 s. 134; 1983 a. 219; 1993 a. 456.

88.10 Guardian ad litem; failure to appoint.  Failure to
appoint a guardian ad litem in a proceeding under this chapter is
not jurisdictional, but when the failure is discovered a guardian ad
litem shall be appointed and an order served upon the guardian ad
litem to show cause why the minor or individual adjudicated
incompetent should not be bound by all prior proceedings pertain-
ing to the drainage district.  On such a hearing the court shall enter
such order or judgment as the facts warrant.

History:  1991 a. 316; 1993 a. 456; 1999 a. 83; 2005 a. 387.

88.11 Assistance to drainage districts.  (1) The depart-
ment of agriculture, trade and consumer protection shall employ
an engineer, who shall be the state drainage engineer, to improve
district operations.  The department shall do all of the following:

(a)  Perform inspections in drainage districts to determine com-
pliance with this section.

(b)  Review and approve district maintenance plans including
ditch designs; installation and maintenance of structures; and
plans for drainage, drainage control, soil conservation and water
conservation, and require alteration of plans and existing struc-
tures in order to achieve and maintain compliance with perfor-
mance standards established under par. (i).

(c)  Provide guidance to drainage boards and professional engi-
neers in developing district surveys and maintenance plans.

(d)  Review and approve district designs for new ditches and
structures, assist districts in developing hydrologic and hydraulic
information about project effectiveness, and require alteration of
the designs in order to achieve and maintain compliance with per-
formance standards established under par. (i).

(e)  Coordinate district activities with the department of natural
resources.

(f)  Assist districts in applying for permits under s. 88.31.

(g)  Provide guidelines for compliance with federal and state
agricultural and conservation programs.

(h)  Establish, by rule, procedures for assessments and reas-
sessments.

(i)  Establish, by rule, performance standards for drainage dis-
trict structures, ditches, maintenance and operations, in order to
minimize adverse effects on water quality.  The performance stan-
dards shall be consistent with any requirements imposed by the
department of natural resources under s. 88.31.

(j)  Prepare reports for the purposes of sub. (3).

(k)  Establish, by rule, a procedure for an investigation of
whether a drainage district complies with this section and any
requirements imposed by the department under this section.

(L)  In cooperation with the state drainage engineer, produce
an educational pamphlet in 2009, and every 3 years thereafter, that
describes the function of drainage districts, costs that may be
assessed to persons whose property is located in a drainage dis-
trict, and contact information for the state drainage engineer.  The
pamphlet shall be distributed, upon request, to drainage boards
and to any person who requests the pamphlet.

(1m) The department of agriculture, trade and consumer pro-
tection may perform any functions related to drainage districts
that the department considers appropriate.

(2) The state drainage engineer shall provide technical assist-
ance to improve district operations on the request of the depart-
ment of natural resources, drainage board, landowners in the dis-
trict or the judge.

(3) If the area proposed for drainage exceeds 200 acres in a
single project, the board or the petitioners, before the hearing on
the report under s. 88.34, 88.36 or 88.77, shall procure a report of
the department of agriculture, trade and consumer protection on
all of the following:

(a)  The location, design, feasibility and cost of the proposed
outlet drains.

(b)  A general description of the additional drainage necessary
to reclaim the land fully for general agricultural purposes, and its
probable cost.

(c)  A general comparison of the benefits in the different parts
of the district on the basis of the location and design of the pro-
posed drains.

(d)  The physical features of the land to be drained.

(4) The board or the petitioners, with the aid of an engineer
having the qualifications specified in s. 88.21 (5), shall make the
necessary survey and evaluation as directed by the department of
agriculture, trade and consumer protection for its report.

(6) A drainage district shall comply with the rules promul-
gated under this section and any requirements imposed by the
department of agriculture, trade and consumer protection under
this section.

(7) The department of agriculture, trade and consumer protec-
tion may issue a special order directing the immediate cessation
of work regulated under this section until the necessary plan
approval is obtained or until the project complies with this section.

(8) Any person who violates this section may be required to
forfeit not less than $25 nor more than $500 for each violation.
Each day of continued violation constitutes a separate offense.

History:  1989 a. 31 ss. 2200d, 2200k; 1991 a. 309; 1993 a. 456; 2001 a. 103; 2007
a. 121.

Cross−reference:  See also ch. ATCP 48, Wis. adm. code.

88.12 Proceedings when drainage area is in more than
one county.  (1) If a proposed drainage district lies in more than
one county, the petition for organization of the district shall be
filed in the court of the county containing the largest acreage pro-
posed for drainage by the petition, and the court of that county has
jurisdiction of the organization of the drainage district.

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2005/253
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/187
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/187,%20s.%20134
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1983/219
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1999/83
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2005/387
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.11(1)(i)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.11(1)(i)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.31
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.31
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.11(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.34
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.36
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.77
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.21(5)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1989/31
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1989/31,%20s.%202200d
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1989/31,%20s.%202200k
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/309
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2001/103
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2007/121
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2007/121
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/administrativecode/ch.%20ATCP%2048


DRAINAGE OF LANDS  88.175 Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats.

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

(2) In cases affecting a multicounty drainage district, copies
of all court orders and judgments shall be filed in the court of each
of the other counties in which the drainage district is located.

(3) If a drainage district lies in more than one county, the
drainage board of the county containing the largest acreage that is
drained or proposed for drainage has jurisdiction of the operation
of the drainage district.  The drainage board that initially has juris-
diction of the operation of a drainage district retains that jurisdic-
tion even if the drained acreage is subsequently changed, unless
the drainage board that initially has jurisdiction agrees with the
drainage board of any other county containing land of the drainage
district to transfer jurisdiction.

(4) All moneys collected on behalf of the drainage district in
the other counties shall be transmitted to the treasurer of the
county in which the drainage board has jurisdiction.

History:  1977 c. 449; 1993 a. 456.

88.13 Right to enter lands of drainage district.  When-
ever necessary for any purpose connected with the organization
of a district or the construction, maintenance or repair of drains
and other works, members of the board, representatives of the
department of agriculture, trade and consumer protection, and
persons intending to bid on or to whom contracts have been let for
the construction of the works within a district or on former district
lands transferred under s. 88.83 and their respective agents and
employees may go upon any lands proposed for inclusion or
included within a district or on adjoining lands or on former dis-
trict lands transferred under s. 88.83, and are not guilty of trespass
therefor but are liable for unnecessary damage caused to crops or
structures.

History:  1989 a. 31; 2017 a. 115.

88.14 Controversies between districts.  (1) If a contro-
versy arises out of the relationship of 2 or more drainage districts
that are subject to the jurisdiction of a single drainage board, the
board may hold hearings and take whatever other action it consid-
ers necessary toward settling the controversy, including the
issuance of orders.

(2) If a controversy arises out of the relationship of 2 or more
drainage districts that are subject to the jurisdiction of 2 or more
drainage boards, the boards shall attempt to settle the controversy
and may hold hearings and take whatever other action they con-
sider necessary to accomplish that objective.  If the drainage
boards are unable to settle the controversy, the matter shall be sub-
mitted to arbitration under ch. 788.

History:  1977 c. 449; 1993 a. 456.

88.145 Limitation of damages and suits.  In any action
against a drainage district, drainage board, drainage board mem-
ber, drainage board employee or an owner of land within the dis-
trict who undertakes work approved by the drainage board, s.
893.80 is applicable and the limit on the amount recoverable by
any person under s. 893.80 (3) applies to the drainage board, the
members and employees of the drainage board, the drainage dis-
trict and any owner of land within the district who undertakes
work approved by the drainage board.  This section does not apply
to actions commenced under s. 19.37, 19.97 or 281.99.

History:  1993 a. 456; 1995 a. 158; 1997 a. 27.
NOTE:  1993 Wis. Act 456, which created this section, contains extensive

explanatory notes.

88.16 Notification requirements, engineering study.
(1) If a board takes any action which results in the hiring of an
engineer to conduct a study that is related to the operation of a
drain, or the district, the board shall send, as soon as possible, writ-
ten notice of the action to all of the following:

(a)  The governing body of the city, village, or town that has
jurisdiction over the area which is subject to the engineering study.

(b)  The governing body of the county that has jurisdiction over
the area which is subject to the engineering study.

(c)  The governing body of any city or village that has extrater-
ritorial jurisdiction over the area which is subject to the engineer-
ing study.

(2) As soon as possible after the engineering study is com-
pleted, the board shall send written notice to the governing bodies
which received notice under sub. (1) informing them of the study’s
completion and providing them information as to where the study
may be reviewed.

(3) A board’s failure to notify under sub. (1) does not invali-
date any decision made or action taken by the board.

History:  2007 a. 121.

88.161 Transition for certain drainage districts.  A
drainage district operating under s. 88.16, 1989 stats., becomes a
drainage district under this chapter as a matter of law on June 1,
1993.  The records, assessments, funds and indebtedness of such
a drainage district become the records, assessments, funds and
indebtedness of the drainage district that takes its place.  Before
June 1, 1993, the circuit court of each county having a drainage
district that has elected to operate under s. 88.16, 1989 stats., shall
appoint a county drainage board under s. 88.17, if none exists, to
take the place of the board of drainage commissioners of a district
that elected to operate under s. 88.16, 1989 stats.  The terms of
office of the members of the new board commence on June 1,
1993.

History:  1991 a. 309.

SUBCHAPTER II

APPOINTMENT, POWERS AND DUTIES

 OF DRAINAGE BOARD

88.17 Appointment and organization of drainage
board.  (1) The court shall appoint a drainage board either upon
the filing of a petition for organization of a drainage district under
this chapter in a county that does not already have a drainage board
or upon the filing of a petition by a landowner in a drainage district
or the state drainage engineer for appointment of a drainage board
in a county that already has a drainage district.  The board shall
consist of 3 persons.  One member of the original board shall be
appointed for a term of one year, one for 2 years and one for 3
years.  Upon the expiration of the term of office of a board mem-
ber, the court shall appoint a successor for a 3−year term in the
same manner as the original appointment was made.

(2) A drainage board may by rule, after the original board is
appointed, increase the number of members to 5.  In the rule
increasing the number of members, the board shall provide for
staggered terms, with all members serving terms of 5 years.  After
increasing the number of board members, the board may, by rule,
reduce the number of members to 3, but only if the size of the
board is reduced as vacancies occur on the board.

(2d) The board shall notify the court if any position on the
board becomes vacant and the court shall appoint a successor.  The
board shall notify the court if the size of the board is increased
under sub. (2) and the court shall appoint the additional board
members.  If a position on the board remains vacant for more than
6 months, either the state drainage engineer or any landowner in
a drainage district subject to the jurisdiction of the board may peti-
tion the court to appoint a successor.

(2h) The court shall appoint drainage board members from
among persons recommended by any of the following:

(a)  The committee on agriculture and extension education cre-
ated under s. 59.56 (3) (b), which shall recommend at least 3 per-
sons for each position to be filled.

(b)  At least 3 landowners owning property in a drainage dis-
trict that is subject to the jurisdiction of the drainage board.

(c)  Local or statewide agriculture, engineering, local govern-
ment, or real estate organizations, including the Wisconsin Potato
and Vegetable Growers Association, the Wisconsin State Cran-

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.83
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.83
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1989/31
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2017/115
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20788
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/893.80
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/893.80(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/19.37
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/19.97
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/281.99
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1995/158
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1997/27
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.16(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.16(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2007/121
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/1989/88.16
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/1989/88.16
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/1989/88.16
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/309
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17(2)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/59.56(3)(b)


Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats. 6 88.17 DRAINAGE OF LANDS

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

berry Growers Association, the Wisconsin Farm Bureau Federa-
tion, the Wisconsin Farmers Union, the Dairy Business Associa-
tion, and the Wisconsin Dairy Products Association.

(d)  The department of agriculture, trade and consumer protec-
tion, which may recommend persons who have engineering expe-
rience related to water resources and agriculture.

(2p) In appointing members, the court shall attempt to assure
that at least one of the members serving on the drainage board at
any time is an experienced farmer who is familiar with drainage
and that another of the members is familiar to some extent with
drainage engineering.

(2r) (a)  If the board has jurisdiction of a drainage district that
is located entirely or partially within the corporate limits of a city
or village and a city or village the corporate limits of which con-
tains any portion of a drainage district that is under the jurisdiction
of the board notifies the court that the city or village will recom-
mend a drainage board member, all of the following apply:

1.  Notwithstanding subs. (1) and (2), the board shall consist
of 5 persons.  If the number of members of a board is increased
under this paragraph, the board shall provide by rule for staggered
terms, with all members serving terms of 5 years.

2.  a.  Notwithstanding subs. (1) and (2h), the court shall
appoint one drainage board member from the list of persons rec-
ommended under this subd. 2. a. by cities and villages the corpo-
rate limits of which contains any portion of a drainage district that
is under the jurisdiction of the board.  Each city and village may
recommend a member and, if the city or village recommends a
member, shall recommend the chief executive of the city or village
or the designee of the chief executive.  In appointing a member
under this subd. 2. a., the court shall attempt to assure that the
member has experience in farming, familiarity with drainage, or
familiarity with drainage engineering.

b.  If drainage districts under the jurisdiction of the board are
located entirely or partially within the corporate limits of more
than one city or village, the appointment under subd. 2. a. shall
rotate among the cities and villages.

c.  Notwithstanding subs. (7) and (8), a member appointed
under this paragraph may not be reimbursed for expenses incurred
in the performance of the member’s duties and may not receive a
per diem.

(b)  If the position under par. (a) 2. becomes vacant and no city
or village the corporate limits of which contains any portion of a
drainage district that is under the jurisdiction of the board recom-
mends a drainage board member under par. (a) 2., the board may,
by rule, reduce the number of members to 3, but only if the size
of the board is reduced as vacancies occur on the board.

(2t) A drainage board member shall serve until a successor is
appointed and qualified.

(3) Each member of the board shall take and file the official
oath.

(4) Ownership of or interest in lands sought to be drained does
not disqualify a person from acting as a member of the drainage
board, but any board member may request the court to, and the
court may in its discretion, appoint a suitable person to act in a
member’s place when the board is considering matters pertaining
to the particular drainage district in which the member is inter-
ested.

(5) When all its members have been duly sworn and qualified,
the drainage board is a permanent body corporate and is subject
to all rules of law applicable to public corporations.

(6) The board shall organize by election one of its members
president and another of its members secretary.  A majority of the
board constitutes a quorum to do business.  In the absence of a
quorum, any member present may adjourn any meeting and make
announcement thereof.

(7) Each board member shall be reimbursed for actual and rea-
sonable expenses incurred in the performance of the member’s
duties and, in addition, shall receive as compensation for actual

and necessary services a per diem in an amount determined by the
drainage board, not to exceed $40.  In addition, the county board
may reimburse drainage board members for actual and reasonable
expenses incurred in performance of duties on behalf of the
county.

(8) Each board member shall keep an accurate record of ser-
vices rendered and expenses incurred by the member, together
with the date thereof and the district for which services were ren-
dered or in connection with which expenses were incurred.  Board
members shall file their bills for compensation and expenses with
the county treasurer.  Each bill shall indicate the district to which
specific items are to be charged or the proportion of the bill to be
paid by specified districts.  The county treasurer, as treasurer of
drainage districts, shall pay the bill if funds are available for that
purpose and shall charge the accounts of the respective drainage
districts liable for the bill in accordance with the order allowing
the bill.

(9) The court may by order abolish the drainage board if there
no longer are any drainage districts in the county.

History:  1977 c. 449; 1991 a. 316; 1993 a. 456; 1995 a. 201; 2017 a. 115.
NOTE:  1993 Wis. Act 456, which substantially affected this section, contains

extensive explanatory notes.

88.172 Limited liability of drainage board members.
(1) Except as provided in subs. (2) and (3), a drainage board
member is not liable to any other person for damages, settlements,
fees, fines, penalties or other monetary liabilities arising from a
breach of, or failure to perform, any duty resulting solely from his
or her status as a drainage board member, unless the person assert-
ing liability proves that the breach or failure to perform constitutes
any of the following:

(a)  A willful failure to deal fairly with any person in connection
with a matter in which the drainage board member has a material
conflict of interest.

(b)  A violation of criminal law, unless the drainage board
member had reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct
was lawful or no reasonable cause to believe that his or her con-
duct was unlawful.

(c)  A transaction from which the drainage board member
derived an improper personal profit.

(d)  Willful misconduct.

(2) Except as provided in sub. (3), this section does not apply
to any of the following:

(a)  A civil or criminal proceeding brought by or on behalf of
any governmental unit, authority or agency.

(b)  A proceeding brought by any person for a violation of state
or federal law if the proceeding is brought under an express private
right of action created by state or federal statute.

(3) Subsection (2) does not apply to a proceeding brought by
a governmental unit, authority or agency in its capacity as a pri-
vate party or contractor.

History:  1993 a. 456.
NOTE:  1993 Wis. Act 456, which created this section, contains extensive

explanatory notes.

88.18 County treasurer to serve as treasurer of drain-
age districts.  (1) The county treasurer shall serve as treasurer
of all drainage districts under the jurisdiction of the drainage
board.  All moneys collected for or payable to any such drainage
district shall be turned over to or paid to the county treasurer and
shall be paid out by the treasurer only upon proper warrants of the
drainage board.  The county treasurer may retain for the benefit of
the county a portion of the interest received on drainage district
funds held by the county treasurer, not to exceed the cost to the
county treasurer of providing services to the drainage board under
this chapter, the cost to the zoning administrator of maintaining
drainage board records under s. 88.19 and the cost to the zoning
administrator of providing copies of drainage board records to the
drainage board.

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17(2)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17(2h)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17(2r)(a)2.a.
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17(2r)(a)2.a.
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17(2r)(a)2.a.
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17(7)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17(8)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17(2r)(a)2.
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17(2r)(a)2.
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1995/201
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2017/115
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.172(2)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.172(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.172(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.172(2)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.19


DRAINAGE OF LANDS  88.217 Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats.

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

(2) The county treasurer shall keep a separate account for each
drainage district in which the treasurer shall charge such district
with all amounts paid out on its behalf pursuant to sub. (1) and
shall credit the district with:

(a)  All sums received in payment of drainage assessments of
that district, including penalties and interest on the sums.

(e)  All other sums received on account of the drainage district
other than interest received on drainage district funds held by the
county treasurer.

(3) The drainage board may appoint a treasurer who shall act
as the deputy of the county treasurer.  The drainage board may
assign any part or all of the county treasurer’s duties under this
chapter to the drainage board treasurer.  The drainage board trea-
surer shall be reimbursed for actual and reasonable expenses
incurred in the performance of the treasurer’s duties in the same
manner as provided for drainage board member expenses under
s. 88.17 (8).  The drainage board shall require a bond from the
drainage board treasurer in an amount, set by the board, that is suf-
ficient to exceed the greatest amount of funds expected to be held
in his or her custody, and with the sureties that the drainage board
requires.  The bond shall be conditioned in substantially the same
form as the ordinary bond required from the county treasurer, with
the necessary changes.

History:  1987 a. 378; 1991 a. 316; 1993 a. 456.

88.19 Board to keep records.  (1) It is the duty of the secre-
tary of the board to keep records of all drainage proceedings.  The
secretary shall also maintain a minute book in which the secretary
shall enter the minutes of the board meetings.  The secretary shall
be compensated for such services under s. 88.17 (7) and (8).

(2) The secretary of the board shall keep a complete record of
the assessed lands in each district under the board’s jurisdiction.
Such records shall be so arranged that they will readily show, for
each parcel of land assessed, the latest confirmed assessment of
benefits and the total assessments for costs which have been made
against such lands, with adequate space provided for noting all
payments of assessments for costs or installments thereof.  The
secretary of the board shall periodically check with the county
treasurer to determine what drainage assessments or installments
thereof have been paid and shall note such payments in the records
required to be kept pursuant to this subsection.

(3) The secretary of the board is legal custodian of all drainage
records and the secretary shall comply with subch. II of ch. 19.
Upon request for any of the drainage records by the county trea-
surer, the secretary of the board shall furnish the county treasurer
with a copy of the records specified in sub. (2).

(4) (a)  Subject to pars. (b) and (d), and subject to criteria and
standards under rules that the department of agriculture, trade and
consumer protection shall promulgate, all of the following shall
occur:

1.  The drainage board secretary shall distribute drainage
board records to the state drainage engineer and to the county zon-
ing administrator.

2.  The drainage board and the county zoning administrator
shall retain certain records of the drainage board.

(b)  The secretary of the drainage board and the county zoning
administrator shall maintain in perpetuity any records consisting
of an order creating or altering the boundaries of a district, maps
or descriptions of the boundaries of a district, profiles and cross
sections of any drains and an order levying original or supplemen-
tal assessments for costs.

(c)  The drainage board and the county administrator may
destroy obsolete drainage board records.

(d)  Before any records may be destroyed under this subsection,
the secretary of the drainage board and the county zoning adminis-
trator shall give at least 60 days’ prior written notice of the pro-
posed destruction to the state historical society, which may pre-
serve records that it determines to be of historical interest, and
shall give at least 60 days’ prior written notice to the state drainage

engineer, who may preserve records determined to be of interest
to the department of agriculture, trade and consumer protection.

(5) The state drainage engineer shall examine the records in
the possession of all drainage board secretaries and drainage dis-
tricts and the records received from clerks of court under 1993
Wisconsin Act 456, section 118, and may examine any other
records held by any person relating to drainage in this state.  The
state drainage engineer shall determine the records that are
required to be preserved under sub. (4) and make copies of the
records.  The state drainage engineer shall retain a copy of the
records and deliver a copy to the county zoning administrator.

(6) The secretary of the drainage board, under sub. (4), shall
provide a copy of drainage board records created after May 13,
1994, to the state drainage engineer and the county zoning admin-
istrator.

(7) The county zoning administrator shall maintain the
records delivered under sub. (5) and any records provided under
sub. (6) as provided under sub. (4).

History:  1991 a. 316; 1993 a. 456.
NOTE:  1993 Wis. Act 456, which amended sub. (3) and created subs. (4) to

(7), contains extensive explanatory notes.

88.20 Conflict of interest prohibited.  (1) No member of
a drainage board shall be interested directly or indirectly:

(a)  In any contract with the drainage board; or

(b)  In any contract for work or materials in or for a drainage
district; or

(c)  In any contract for the sale of machinery or materials for
or to the drainage board; or

(d)  In the wages or supplies of persons employed on work in
or for a drainage district.

(2) No board member shall deal in securities of a drainage dis-
trict.

88.21 General powers of the drainage board.  In addition
to other powers expressly granted or necessarily implied, the
drainage board may:

(1) Adopt and use a corporate seal.

(2) Sue and be sued and compromise suits and controversies.

(3) Bring all necessary actions for the collection of moneys
and forfeitures belonging to a district under its jurisdiction and for
the protection and preservation of all works and property thereof.

(4) Obtain injunctions to prevent unlawful interference with
the performance of its duties or exercise of any of its powers.

(5) Employ legal counsel, engineers and other assistants.  Any
engineer employed by the board shall be selected from a list of
professional engineers approved by the department of agriculture,
trade and consumer protection.  The department of agriculture,
trade and consumer protection shall furnish each drainage board,
upon request, a list of professional engineers whom it considers
qualified by training and experience to give competent advice in
drainage matters.

(6) Purchase or condemn such lands, whether within or out-
side a district, as are necessary for the construction, cleaning out,
repair and maintenance of the drainage system and its works.
Condemnation shall be as provided by ch. 32.

(8) Level or permit the leveling of spoil banks and excavated
materials to allow cultivation or use for roadway or other lawful
purposes if such use will not interfere with the proper functioning
of the drains.

(9) Purchase or lease and maintain and operate the equipment
and machinery necessary to construct, maintain or repair the
drains within the districts under its jurisdiction, including the con-
trol of weeds or brush through use of herbicides.

(10) Purchase, construct, maintain and operate all levees,
bulkheads, reservoirs, silt basins, holding basins, floodways,
floodgates and pumping machinery necessary to the successful
drainage or protection of any district or of any considerable area
thereof, whether located within or outside the district.

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.18(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17(8)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1987/378
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17(7)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17(8)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/subch.%20II%20of%20ch.%2019
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.19(2)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.19(4)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.19(4)(d)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456,%20s.%20118
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.19(4)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.19(4)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.19(5)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.19(6)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.19(4)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%2032


Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats. 8 88.21 DRAINAGE OF LANDS

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

(11) Call district meetings to report on the affairs of the district
and to obtain the opinions and suggestions of landowners in the
district with regard to the affairs of the district.

(12) Adopt rules and issue orders, which shall be published as
a class 1 notice under ch. 985.  In addition, any order that pertains
to a specific named person or property shall be served on the per-
son or owner of the property in the manner provided for service
of a summons under s. 801.11.  The court has jurisdiction to
enforce an order of the drainage board by injunctive or other
appropriate relief.

(13) Authorize legal counsel for the board to represent an indi-
vidual owner of land with respect to any matter that arises under
this chapter.

History:  1989 a. 31; 1993 a. 456.
A drainage board is subject to shoreland zoning ordinances, as is any other person.

Although soil conservation districts and drainage districts are created for a different
purpose, some activities of both accomplish similar ends; therefore, each district
retains control over those activities which it undertakes for the purposes for which it
was created.  63 Atty. Gen. 355.

Chapter 30 applies to navigable ditches that were originally navigable streams.  If
a navigable ditch was originally nonnavigable or had no previous stream history, the
Department of Natural Resources’ jurisdiction depends upon the facts of each situa-
tion.  63 Atty. Gen. 493.

88.212 Required actions for the drainage board.  In
addition to other powers expressly granted or necessarily implied,
the drainage board shall:

(1) Beginning in 2009, and every 3 years thereafter, provide
written notice to every person who owns land that is located within
the drainage district that such land is in the district.  The notice
shall also include contact information for every member of the
drainage board.

(2) Annually, provide contact information for every member
of the drainage board to the state drainage engineer and to the clerk
of every city, village, town, and county in which the drainage dis-
trict is located.

(3) Not later than November 1 of each year, provide the clerk
of each taxation district in which the drainage district is located a
list of every assessment issued by the drainage board from
November 1 of the previous year to October 31 of the current year.
The information shall specify the assessment amount for every
parcel in the district.

(4) If any portion of a drainage district that is a subject matter
of a drainage board meeting is located in a city, village, or town,
notify the city, village, or town of the date, time, and subject matter
of the meeting.  A notification under this subsection may be in an
electronic format.

History:  2007 a. 121; 2017 a. 115.

88.215 Landowner petitions.  The owners of land in a dis-
trict may petition the drainage board to hold a district meeting.
The petition shall be signed by at least 10 percent of the owners
of land within the district or by the owners of at least 10 percent
of the lands within the district.  The drainage board shall either
schedule a district meeting to be held within 60 days after receiv-
ing the petition or deny the petition, by issuing a published order,
within 60 days after receiving the petition.  The drainage board
may deny the petition only on the grounds that it is unreasonable.

History:  1993 a. 456.
NOTE:  1993 Wis. Act 456, which created this section, contains extensive

explanatory notes.

88.22 Power of board to contract with the federal gov-
ernment and other agencies.  The drainage board may:

(1) Enter into agreements with the U.S. government or an offi-
cer or agency thereof to permit the drainage of lands owned or
occupied by such government or agency, through the use of the
drains of which the board has charge.  Such agreement may result
in adding lands to the drainage district, may provide for apportion-
ment of the assessments for costs of repairs, maintenance and
administration with respect to the draining of such lands, and may
authorize the U.S. government or its officer or agency to repair,
maintain, deepen, widen and change drains located upon lands

owned or occupied by such government or agency as long as such
change does not impair the drainage rights of other owners
through such lands.  No such agreement shall permit the draining
of raw sewerage in any such drains.

(2) Negotiate and obtain a loan from the federal government
or any officer or agency thereof, or from any other public or pri-
vate loan agency, for the purpose of paying or redeeming out-
standing bonds and other obligations of a district under its juris-
diction.  Such loan may be negotiated upon such terms and
conditions as the board deems to be in the best interest of the dis-
trict, including without restriction by reason of enumeration pro-
visions for:

(a)  Extending the time of payment of delinquent and unma-
tured installments of assessments for cost of construction, inclu-
sive of interest accrued thereon, for a period of not to exceed 40
years.

(b)  Deferring payment of any portion of the principal of unpaid
and unmatured assessments of cost of construction, inclusive of
interest already accrued thereon, for a period of not to exceed 10
years and provide for the payment of such delinquent and unpaid
assessments of cost of construction in equal annual installments
over a period of years.

(c)  Arrange with the holders of bonds and notes and other cred-
itors of the district for surrender of their claims against the district
and for accepting money or bonds in payment thereof.

(3) Enter into contracts with the U.S. government or an officer
or agency thereof to accept the benefits of any federal law pertain-
ing to flood prevention or the conservation, development, utiliza-
tion and disposal of water.  Without restriction by reason of enu-
meration, the contracts may provide that the district on whose
behalf the contract is negotiated will:

(a)  Provide without cost to the United States all lands neces-
sary for the construction of the project and for the subsequent
maintenance and operation of the project.

(b)  Contribute such part of the first cost of construction of such
project as is agreed upon with the United States, either in cash or
in credits, for purchase of material or performance of work form-
ing part of the project.

(c)  Hold and save the United States harmless from claims for
damages to any property resulting from construction of the works
of the project.

(d)  Maintain and operate all the works after completion of the
project in accordance with regulations prescribed by the U.S. gov-
ernment or any officer or agency thereof.

History:  1971 c. 323 s. 27; 1981 c. 346 s. 38; 1993 a. 456; 1995 a. 225.

88.23 Power of board to levy assessments for costs.
(1) In addition to the assessments for cost of construction autho-
rized by s. 88.35, the board may issue orders to levy assessments
for costs of maintenance and repair or for any other lawful expen-
ditures of a drainage district.  All of the assessments shall be
apportioned on the confirmed benefits then in effect in the district
assessed.

(2r) The board may authorize one or more owners of land in
a drainage district to prepare a proposed assessment for cost of
construction or maintenance and repair.

(3) Assessments made under this section are subject to ss.
88.40 to 88.43.  In no case may the total assessments against any
land exceed the benefits assessed against that land unless an inter-
ested person agrees to pay such excess and furnishes the drainage
board with sufficient security for the excess benefits or unless the
assessment is for the purpose of covering the cost of repair and
maintenance as defined in s. 88.63.

(4) The board may borrow money and issue notes or bonds
based upon any assessments levied under this section in the same
manner as for original assessments.

History:  1971 c. 67; 1993 a. 456.

88.24 Board to file annual report.  On or before December
1 of each year the board shall file with the department of agricul-

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20985
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/801.11
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1989/31
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2007/121
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2017/115
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1971/323
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1971/323,%20s.%2027
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1981/346
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1981/346,%20s.%2038
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1995/225
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.35
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.40
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.43
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.63
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1971/67
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456


DRAINAGE OF LANDS  88.319 Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats.

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

ture, trade and consumer protection; the town board or town zon-
ing committee; the city council, plan commission, or plan com-
mittee; and the county zoning administrator, in which district
territory is located, a separate report, for the preceding fiscal year,
on each drainage district under the board’s jurisdiction.  Unless the
board selects a different fiscal year and notifies the department of
the selection, the board’s fiscal year begins on September 1 and
ends on the following August 31.  All local units of government
that receive the report shall consider it before making any zoning
or planning decisions that may affect a drainage district that is
located within its boundaries.  The reports shall constitute part of
the records of the districts reported on, shall be verified by the oath
of one or more of the board members, and shall contain:

(1) A financial statement.

(2) A statement of all bonds paid or issued during the preced-
ing year.

(3) A statement of all work done during the preceding year,
specifying where the same was done and the cost thereof.

(4) A statement of the district’s practices and policies.
History:  1993 a. 456; 2007 a. 121; 2017 a. 115.

SUBCHAPTER III

ORGANIZATION OF DRAINAGE DISTRICTS

88.27 Who may petition for organization of a drainage
district.  (1) Except as provided in sub. (1m), any of the follow-
ing may petition for the organization of a drainage district under
this chapter:

(a)  The owners of more than one−half in area of the lands,
excluding lands owned by this state, proposed to be included
within the drainage district.

(b)  The majority of landowners within the proposed drainage
district, owning at least one−third in area of the lands, excluding
lands owned by this state, proposed to be included within such dis-
trict.

(1m) A state agency, as defined in s. 16.61 (2) (d), may not
petition for the organization of a drainage district.

(2) No petition having as many signers as are required by this
section shall be declared void, but the court may at any time permit
the petition to be amended in form and substance to conform to the
facts, if the facts justify the organization of a district.  All petitions
for the organization of the same or substantially the same district
filed prior to the hearing under s. 88.34 shall be considered by the
court as one petition, and all signatures to such petitions shall be
counted in determining the jurisdiction of the court.

History:  1993 a. 456.

88.28 Contents of petition.  (1) A petition for organization
of a drainage district shall be filed with the court and shall set
forth:

(a)  A description of the lands proposed to be included in the
district and that they will be improved by drainage.

(b)  That the public health or public welfare will be promoted
by the drainage.

(c)  A map or sketch of the area sought to be drained, with the
proposed drains shown thereon.

(d)  That the cost of construction will not exceed 75 percent of
the appraised benefits arising from such drainage.

(e)  A proposed name or number for the district.

(f)  The names and addresses of the owners and mortgagees of
all lands in the district, so far as known to the petitioners.

(g)  A request for the organization of the drainage district.

(h)  If the purpose of such petition is the enlargement, repair or
maintenance of a drain, heretofore constructed under any law of
this state, the petition shall give a general description of the drain
with such particulars as the petitioners deem important.

(i)  The quality and character of soils and subsoils in the pro-
posed district.

(j)  A soil map of the proposed district.

(k)  The present agricultural value of the lands.

(L)  The kind of crops which will be grown on the land after
drainage.

(2) In lieu of meeting with the requirements of sub. (1) (d), the
petitioners may file with the petition a written agreement that they
will pay such portion of the cost of construction as exceeds 75 per-
cent of the appraised benefits to all lands resulting from the con-
struction of the proposed drainage works.

(3) The petition need not be verified.
History:  1977 c. 449; 1993 a. 456; 2007 a. 121 s. 6.

88.29 Referral of petition to board; examination of
lands; hearing by board.  (1) Upon receipt of a petition for
organization of a drainage district the court or judge by order shall
refer the petition to the drainage board and order the board to
report thereon.

(2) When a petition has been so referred to the board, the
board, with the aid of an engineer having the qualifications speci-
fied in s. 88.21 (5), shall examine the lands described in the peti-
tion and all other lands that the board believes will be benefited or
damaged by the proposed work and shall consider whether the
drains as proposed in the petition are satisfactory.

(3) The board also shall hold a hearing on the petition to ascer-
tain the sufficiency of the signers and to hear all interested persons
who desire to be heard for or against the petition.

(4) The board shall fix a time and place of the hearing on the
petition, on or conveniently near the lands described in the peti-
tion, and shall give notice of the hearing as provided in s. 88.05
(2) (b) to the persons specified in s. 88.05 (4) (c).

(5) The notice shall describe the lands involved and may be in
substantially the following form:

“Notice is hereby given that the drainage board of .... County
will meet on the .... day of ...., .... (year), at .... o’clock, .... M. at
the (here describe the place of meeting) to consider the petition
filed in the circuit court of .... County to drain lands among which
are the following: (here describe the lands described in the peti-
tion).  All persons interested may appear and be heard on the peti-
tion.

Dated ....

................

................

................

Drainage Board”.

(6) The board may adjourn the hearing to a time and place that
it considers convenient or necessary.  The board shall either make
a public announcement of the time and place of the adjournment
or give notice as provided in s. 88.05 (2) (b) to the persons speci-
fied in s. 88.05 (4) (a) and also by publication of the notice once
in the vicinity in a newspaper qualified under ch. 985, such publi-
cation to be not more than 20 days nor less than 10 days before the
date set for the adjourned hearing.

History:  1979 c. 175 s. 50; 1993 a. 456; 1997 a. 250.

88.31 Special procedure in cases affecting navigable
waters.  (1) If it is necessary to enter upon any waters that may
be navigable, or to acquire and remove any dam or obstruction
from the waters, or to clean out, widen, deepen or straighten any
stream that may be navigable, the board shall file with the depart-
ment of natural resources an application for a permit to do the
work.  The board shall file with the application any information
that the board or the department of natural resources considers
necessary.  The department shall specify by rule the information
to be included in an application. The application shall state that the
public health or welfare will be promoted by the removal of the
dam or other obstruction or by the straightening, cleaning out,

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2007/121
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2017/115
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.27(1m)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/16.61(2)(d)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.34
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.28(1)(d)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2007/121
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2007/121,%20s.%206
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.21(5)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(c)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20985
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1979/175
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1979/175,%20s.%2050
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1997/250


Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats. 10 88.31 DRAINAGE OF LANDS

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

deepening or widening of the waters and that other public rights
in and public uses of the waters will not be materially impaired.
The application shall be duly verified.

(2) Upon receipt of the application the department of natural
resources shall fix a time and place for a hearing on the applica-
tion, not less than 3 nor more than 8 weeks from the date of filing,
at a place convenient to the interested parties.  If the application
is for a permit to remove a dam, notice of the hearing shall be given
to all interested persons as provided by s. 31.06.  In all other cases,
the department shall direct the applicant to give notice under s.
88.05 (2) (b) to the persons specified in s. 88.05 (4) (b).

(3) At the hearing on the application, all interested persons
may appear and be heard.  The department also may make an inde-
pendent investigation of the situation.

(4) Upon the conclusion of the hearing and investigation, the
department of natural resources shall grant the permit if it finds:

(a)  That the public health and welfare will be promoted by the
proposed removal of the dam or other obstructions or by the pro-
posed straightening, cleaning out, deepening or widening of such
waters; and

(b)  That the proposed work is necessary to the proper operation
of the proposed drainage system; and

(c)  That the proposed work will not materially impair the navi-
gability of any such waters and will not materially impair any
other public right in or public uses of such waters.  The enjoyment
of natural scenic beauty is declared to be a public right to be con-
sidered along with other public rights.

(4m) The department of natural resources shall grant or deny
the permit within 6 weeks after the conclusion of the hearing on
the application.

(5) When granting a permit under this section the department
of natural resources also shall establish the minimum level at
which the affected waters may be maintained.

(6) The department of natural resources may require the appli-
cant for the permit to submit a plan for the work to be done in the
waters in question and may amend or modify such plan before
approving it.  The department may at any time, on the application
of any interested person, further amend such plan when the same
can be done without materially impairing the navigability of any
such waters and without materially impairing any other public
right.

(7) Upon granting a permit under this section, the department
forthwith shall transmit to the secretary of the drainage board a
copy of the permit and the relevant findings, orders and approved
plans.

(7m) The Duck Creek Drainage District is exempt from the
permit requirements and procedures under subs. (1) to (7).

(7r) A drainage district that is exempt from the individual and
general permit requirements under s. 30.20 as specified under s.
30.20 (1g) (d) is exempt from the permit requirements and proce-
dures under subs. (1) to (7) with respect to that removal.

(8) Subject to other restrictions imposed by this chapter, a
drainage board which has obtained all of the permits as required
under this chapter and ch. 30 may:

(a)  Do all acts necessary in and about the surveying, laying out,
constructing, repairing, altering the course of, enlarging, clearing,
deepening, widening, protecting and maintaining any drain in,
through, or upon such waters, both within and beyond the limits
of the drainage district; and

(b)  Procure, purchase or condemn by proceedings had under
ch. 32, riparian rights, rights of flowage, dams and waterpowers
in such waters, both within and beyond the limits of the drainage
district.

(9) In all cases a drainage district is liable to the owner of ripar-
ian rights, rights of flowage, dams and waterpowers for all prop-
erty taken and for all damages which may be occasioned to such
property by reason of any work done on it.  Such damages shall

be determined either by agreement, award of damages or condem-
nation proceedings and shall be paid by the drainage district
before the work is done in the same manner in which payments are
made where lands are acquired by railroad companies under con-
demnation proceedings.

History:  1993 a. 456; 1999 a. 9; 2017 a. 115.

88.32 Report to the court.  (1) Within 30 days after the final
adjournment of the hearing provided for in s. 88.29, the board
shall report in writing to the court:

(a)  Whether the petition has the required number of signers;

(b)  Whether the lands described in the petition will be
improved by drainage;

(c)  Whether other lands in the vicinity, draining to, from, or
through the proposed drains, require drainage and if so a descrip-
tion of the same;

(d)  Whether such drainage is feasible;

(e)  Whether the public health or public welfare will be pro-
moted by the proposed work;

(f)  Whether the drains proposed in the petition will best accom-
plish the drainage prayed for and the area that should be drained;

(g)  Whether the benefits from such work will exceed the cost
of construction by the required amount;

(h)  Such other facts as in the opinion of the board will aid the
court in its decision upon the report.

(2) The board may recommend to the court an increase or
decrease in the area proposed in the petition to be drained.  If the
proposed drains are not satisfactory the board shall recommend
other drains.

(3) In determining whether public health and welfare will be
promoted, the board shall include in its consideration whether the
cumulative effect of such drainage over a period of time will affect
the temperature of the water of lakes or streams, or will lower the
water levels of lakes or streams or of the subterranean sources that
supply private and public water systems, and whether the general
need for the type of land that will be made available for cultivation
or other purposes by such drainage is sufficiently great to warrant
the possible harmful effects described above.

(3m) If the area of the proposed district exceeds 200 acres, the
report shall be submitted to the department of agriculture, trade
and consumer protection before it is filed with the court.  Within
45 days after receipt of the report, the department shall return it
with a copy of the report prepared under s. 88.11 (3) with its rec-
ommendation for approval or disapproval for the creation of the
district.

(4) The board shall attach to its report proof of the service of
notice of hearing on the petition together with a copy of its minutes
of such hearing.

History:  1993 a. 246, 456; 2007 a. 121.

88.33 Drainage project may be stopped prior to orga-
nization of district.  (1) At any time prior to the entry of the
order organizing a drainage district, the owners who represent a
majority of the lands described in the petition for drainage or who
represent a majority of the lands contained in the report of the
drainage board may file with the court a petition requesting that
no further proceeding be had and that no further expense charge-
able to the proposed drainage district be incurred.

(2) Upon receipt of the petition the court shall fix a time and
place of the hearing on the petition and shall cause notice of the
hearing to be given as provided in s. 88.05 (1) (b) to the persons
specified in s. 88.05 (4) (b).  If on the hearing the court finds that
the petition is signed by the required number of owners, that notice
of the hearing was properly given, and that the conditions of sub.
(3) have been met, it shall enter an order directing that the proceed-
ings to organize the district cease.

(3) As a condition of issuing the order under sub. (2), the court
shall require those petitioners under this section who also were

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/31.06
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.31(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.31(7)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/30.20
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/30.20(1g)(d)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.31(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.31(7)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%2030
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%2032
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1999/9
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2017/115
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.29
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.11(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/246
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2007/121
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(1)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.33(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.33(2)


DRAINAGE OF LANDS  88.3511 Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats.

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

petitioners under s. 88.27 to pay the expenses of the hearing under
this section and all expenses incurred to date in connection with
the proceedings to organize the district.

History:  1993 a. 456.

88.34 Hearing by the court; organization of drainage
district.  (1) When the board has filed its report with the court,
including any reports required by s. 88.11, the court shall fix a time
and place of hearing on the report and shall cause notice to be
given under s. 88.05 (1) (b) to the persons specified in s. 88.05 (4)
(c).

(2) The order fixing the hearing may be in substantially the
following form and a copy of the order may be served as notice of
the hearing:

“Circuit court for .... County,

In the matter of the .... drainage.

Whereas a report has been filed in this court by the county
drainage board recommending the drainage of the following
described lands: (here describe the lands reported for drainage).

It is ordered that the report be heard and examined before this
court on the .... day of ...., .... (year), at .... o’clock .... M. at the (here
state the place of hearing) at which time and place all interested
persons may appear and be heard.  All objections must be in writ-
ing and comply with s. 88.07 (1).

Dated ....

.... ....

Circuit Judge”

(3) The court shall make an order organizing the drainage dis-
trict and direct the board to proceed with all convenient speed if
on such hearing the court finds each of the following facts:

(a)  That the petition or petitions have sufficient signers.

(b)  That the lands described in the petitions together with any
additional lands recommended by the board for drainage will be
improved by the proposed work.

(c)  That the public health or public welfare will be promoted
thereby.

(d)  That the cost of construction will not exceed 75 percent of
the benefits to be derived from the proposed work.

(f)  That the proposed work will not materially injure or impair
fish habitat or wildlife habitat or scenic beauty or the conservation
of natural resources or other public rights or interests.

(4) If the court finds the facts stated in sub. (3) (a), (b), (c) and
(f) but finds that the cost of construction will exceed 75 percent of
the benefits to be derived from the proposed work, the court never-
theless shall organize the drainage district if, within 10 days, peti-
tioners file with the court a bond with sufficient sureties to be
approved by the court and conditioned for the payment of the
excess or deposits and leaves with the court a sum of money that
the court determines will cover the excess.

(5) Unless the conditions specified in sub. (3) or (4) are met,
the court shall deny the petition and shall tax the taxable costs of
the proceedings as provided in s. 88.08.

(6) The court may include in a proposed drainage district any
lands requiring drainage and lying adjacent to the lands described
in the petition and shall not lose jurisdiction by reason of bringing
in lands not described in the petition.

(7) If there are petitions before the court to organize 2 or more
drainage districts and the court is of the opinion that the territory
in the proposed districts should be included in one district or in a
lesser number of districts than the petitions call for, the court may
by order organize such territory into such number of districts as
it deems will best conform to the purposes of this chapter, or the
court may annex any territory asking to be organized as a drainage
district to a district already organized.

(8) The territory in a district need not be all in one body if:

(a)  It is so situated that the public health or public welfare will
be promoted by drainage of each separate body thereof; and

(b)  The cost of construction in each separate body thereof will
not exceed 75 percent of the benefits to be derived from the pro-
posed work therein; and

(c)  The court is satisfied that the proposed work can be more
cheaply done or maintained in a single district than otherwise.

(9) The order organizing a drainage district shall be recorded
with the register of deeds of each county in which lands of the dis-
trict are located.

History:  1977 c. 135 s. 19; 1977 c. 449; 1989 a. 31; 1993 a. 301, 456; 1997 a. 250.

88.35 Laying out drains, assessment of benefits and
award of damages in newly organized district.  (1) Upon
the organization of a drainage district, the board shall with the aid
of an engineer having the qualifications specified in s. 88.21 (5):

(a)  Lay out drains of sufficient depth to adequately drain the
lands proposed to be drained, including the preparation of profiles
showing the grades of all drains and a map showing the boundaries
of the drainage district and the proposed location of all drains;

(b)  Assess the benefits that will accrue to each parcel of land
benefited;

(c)  Award damages to such lands as will be damaged;

(d)  Estimate the cost of construction;

(e)  Assess the cost of construction against the benefited lands
in proportion to the benefits received by each;

(f)  Estimate the annual cost of maintenance and operation of
the drainage district.

(2) In laying out the drains the board shall not be confined to
the points of commencement, routes or end points of the drains or
the number, extent or size of the drains, or the location, plan or
extent of any drain as proposed by the petition under s. 88.28, but
shall locate, design, lay out and plan the drains in the manner that
seems best to the board to promote the public health or welfare and
to drain or to protect the lands of the parties interested with the
least damage and greatest benefit to all of the affected lands.  In
determining the sufficiency of the depth and capacity of the
drains, the board shall consider whether other lands lie above and
drain in the direction of, through and along the general course of
the proposed drains.

(3) If the board finds that the drainage district, as described in
the petition under s. 88.28, will not embrace all the lands that will
be benefited by the proposed work or that it will include lands that
will not be benefited or do not need to be included in the drainage
district for any purpose, it may extend or contract the boundaries
of the district so as to include or exclude all such lands using the
procedures in s. 88.78 or 88.80.

(4) In assessing benefits to farm lands, the board shall ascer-
tain and consider the depth, quality and character of the surface
and subsoils, the thoroughness of drainage, the difficulty of drain-
age, the uses to which the land when drained will be adapted, and
all other material elements entering into the increase in the value
of such land resulting from the proposed work.

(5) If the damages to any land exceeds the assessment for cost
of construction levied against such land the excess shall be paid
out of the assessment for cost of construction levied against all
lands.

(5m) If navigable waters are affected by the proposed drain-
age, the drainage board shall obtain a permit under s. 88.31.  This
subsection does not apply to the Duck Creek Drainage District.

(6) Upon the completion of its duties under subs. (1) to (5m),
the board shall prepare a written report, including a copy of any
maps, plans or profiles that it has prepared.  The assessment of
benefits and awards of damages shall be set forth in substantially
the following form: [See Figure 88.35 (6) below]

(7) If the area of the district exceeds 200 acres, the report shall
be submitted to the department of agriculture, trade and consumer
protection.  Within 45 days after its receipt, the department shall
return it with a copy of the report prepared under s. 88.11 (3) and
the department’s approval or disapproval of the report prepared
under sub. (6).

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.27
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.11
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(1)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(c)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(c)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.07(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.34(3)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.34(3)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.34(3)(c)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.34(3)(f)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.34(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.34(4)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.08
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/135
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/135,%20s.%2019
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1989/31
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/301
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1997/250
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.21(5)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.28
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.28
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.78
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.80
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.31
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.35(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.35(5m)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.11(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.35(6)


Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats. 12 88.35 DRAINAGE OF LANDS

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

Figure 88.35 (6):

Description of land or name of corporation
Assessed
benefits

Assessed for
construction Damages

Net assessment
for construction

Section 6, Town — — — —

Range, SE 1/4 NE 1/4 $ 850.00 $ 425.00 $ 10.50 $414.50

Lot 1 400.00 200.00 — 200.00

Village of 2,500.00 1,250.00 666.00 584.00

B.G. & Q. Ry. Co. 1,000.00 500.00 600.00 —

Town of — — 150.00 —
History:  1979 c. 110; 1989 a. 31; 1993 a. 456; 1999 a. 9; 2007 a. 121.

88.36 Hearing on report.  (1) Upon the completion of the
report provided for in s. 88.35, the drainage board shall fix the time
and place of the hearing on the report and shall cause notice of the
hearing to be given under s. 88.05 (2) (b) to the persons specified
in s. 88.05 (4) (c).

(2) At the hearing on the report the drainage board shall hear
all objections to the report by any person who feels aggrieved.

(3) With regard to objections relating to assessment of bene-
fits against or award of damages to specified lands, any evidence
may be introduced which tends to establish what assessments or
awards would be equitable as compared with other lands in the
district.

(4) If the drainage board finds that the report requires modifi-
cation or amendment, it shall modify or amend the report as the
facts warrant.

(5) Upon a determination by the board that the report is final,
the board shall proceed with the work as provided in s. 88.62.

(6) The board may not proceed with the work unless it finds
that the cost of construction of the work necessary under the order
will not exceed 75 percent of the total assessment of benefits
against those lands whose assessments of benefits and awards of
damages are sought to be confirmed by the order.

History:  1977 c. 135 s. 19; 1993 a. 456; 1995 a. 225.

SUBCHAPTER IV

GENERAL RULES APPLICABLE TO ASSESSMENTS

88.40 Assessments for costs to be certified to register
of deeds; assessments are lien on lands.  (1) Immediately
after the issuance of a drainage board order levying any assess-
ments for costs, whether original or supplemental, the drainage
board shall record in the office of the register of deeds in each
county in which the assessed lands are situated a certified copy of
the order, including a true description of each parcel of land in that
county that was so assessed and the amount that it was assessed.

(2) From the time of recording the order confirming such
assessments for costs until they are paid, such assessments and the
interest thereon are a first lien upon the lands assessed and take
priority over all other liens or mortgages except liens for general
taxes and liens under ss. 292.31 (8) (i) and 292.81, regardless of
the priority in time of such other liens or mortgages.

(3) When any assessment which is a lien on land has been fully
paid, the board shall execute in writing a satisfaction of such lien.
Such satisfaction may be recorded in the office of the register of
deeds.

History:  1993 a. 453, 456; 1995 a. 227; 1997 a. 27.

88.405 Assessment for connection to district drain.
When any new drain is connected to an existing district drain,
whether or not the area drained by the new drain is within the
drainage district, the drainage board by order may assess against
the newly drained land a reasonable share of the cost of construct-
ing the existing district drain.  If an assessment is made under this
section and the area drained by the new drain is not within the
drainage district, the drainage board shall proceed under s. 88.78
to annex the land to the drainage district.

History:  1993 a. 456.

NOTE:  1993 Wis. Act 456, which created this section, contains extensive
explanatory notes.

88.41 Payment of assessments for costs.  (1) All
assessments for costs are due and payable 4 months after the date
on which the order making the assessments is issued unless the
drainage board by order directs that the assessments may be paid
in installments.  Assessments shall be paid to the county treasurer
as treasurer of the drainage district.

(2) At the time of issuing an order making assessments for
costs, or at any time after issuance of the order but before the
issuance of bonds or notes which are a lien on the assessments, the
drainage board may order the assessments for costs to be payable
in annual installments.  The drainage board shall order the install-
ments to be payable in such amounts and at such times as will be
convenient for the accomplishment of the proposed work or for
the payment of the principal and interest of the notes or bonds of
the drainage district, subject to the following limitations:

(a)  The number of annual installments may not exceed 15 in
the case of assessments for cost of construction or 3 in the case of
assessments for cost of repairs.

(b)  The first installment is due and payable on September 1 fol-
lowing the drainage board’s order directing payment in install-
ments and one installment, together with all accrued interest, is
due and payable on September 1 of each succeeding year, except
that the drainage board in its order may direct a delay in the com-
mencement of the payment of installments for the cost of con-
struction to September 1 of some year not more than 5 years after
September 1 of the year in which the first payment otherwise
would be due.

(3) Any owner of land assessed for costs may, at any time
before the board contracts to borrow money upon notes or bonds
based upon such assessment, pay to the county treasurer as trea-
surer of the drainage district the amount of the assessment against
the owner’s land or any tract thereof, together with any interest
due thereon.

(4) The following rules govern interest on assessments for
costs:

(a)  All assessments for costs shall draw interest at the rate of
6 percent per year unless the drainage board orders a different rate.

(b)  Interest shall run from the date of confirmation of the
assessment unless the drainage board orders the interest to com-
mence at a later date, but interest shall be waived if the assessment
is paid within 60 days after the date of confirmation.

(c)  If installment payments have been authorized pursuant to
sub. (2), interest shall be computed as of September 1 and is pay-
able annually on that date.

(e)  Interest shall be collected in the same manner as the princi-
pal of the assessment.

(f)  If it becomes necessary to certify past due assessments to
the clerk of the town, village or city for collection, the provisions
of s. 88.42 relating to interest also are applicable.

History:  1979 c. 110 s. 60 (13); 1991 a. 316; 1993 a. 456; 1997 a. 27.

88.42 Unpaid drainage assessments to be collected as
taxes.  (1) The secretary of the drainage board shall, in accord-
ance with s. 88.19, keep a separate record of all assessments in
each drainage district under the board’s jurisdiction.  On or before

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1979/110
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1989/31
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1999/9
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2007/121
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.35
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(c)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.62
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/135
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/135,%20s.%2019
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1995/225
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/292.31(8)(i)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/292.81
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/453
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1995/227
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1997/27
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.78
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.41(2)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.42
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1979/110
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1979/110,%20s.%2060
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1997/27
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.19


DRAINAGE OF LANDS  88.5013 Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats.

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

December 1 of each year, the secretary shall certify all past due
assessments for costs, including past due installments, to the clerk
of the town, village or city in which the delinquent lands are
located or assessed, specifying the amount due from each tract,
parcel or easement.  The amount certified shall include interest at
the rate of 6 percent per year computed through December 31 of
the current year.

(2) Each town, village and city clerk shall insert in the tax roll
for each year, but in a column separate from the general tax, the
amounts certified to that clerk by the secretary of the board under
sub. (1).  Such assessments and interest shall be collected in the
same manner as general taxes, except that the personal property
of natural persons and private corporations, and all lands except
those against which assessments were made, are not liable to sei-
zure and sale therefor.

(3) In case of failure to certify or collect the unpaid assess-
ments in any one year or if mistakes are made in certifying or col-
lecting assessments, the same may be certified, corrected and col-
lected in any subsequent year.

(4) All drainage assessments collected by the city, village or
town treasurer shall be settled under s. 74.23, 74.25 or 74.30 with
the county treasurer of the county in which the drainage board
with jurisdiction of the district is located, and the city, village or
town treasurer shall obtain and file the proper receipt for the
assessments.  The county treasurer shall promptly credit the
amounts received under this subsection to the drainage districts
entitled to the amounts.

History:  1979 c. 110 s. 60 (13); 1987 a. 378; 1991 a. 316; 1993 a. 456; 1995 a.
225.

88.43 Collection of assessments as delinquent taxes.
(1) If the amounts certified to the town, village or city clerk under
s. 88.42 are not collected by the town, village or city treasurer,
such treasurer shall return them to the county treasurer, in the same
manner and at the same time as delinquent taxes, but separately
therefrom.  The county treasurer shall collect unpaid drainage
assessments under subch. VII of ch. 74.

(4) Unless in conflict with this chapter, the rules of law in chs.
74 and 75 which are applicable to the collection of general taxes
apply to the collection of delinquent drainage assessments.

History:  1987 a. 378; 1989 a. 56.

88.44 Contesting validity of assessments.  (1) If an
interested person petitions the drainage board for review of the
validity of any order assessing benefits or costs, correcting omit-
ted assessments, reassessing benefits or apportioning benefits
upon division of a parcel, the drainage board shall fix a time and
place of hearing and require all interested persons to show cause
why the assessment should be modified.  The order to show cause
shall be served as provided in s. 801.11 upon such persons as the
court directs.

(2) Any person objecting to the validation of the assessment
shall, on or before the day fixed for the hearing, file a written state-
ment of the person’s objections with the drainage board.  The
drainage board shall hear the objections at the time fixed for the
hearing and shall enter an order directing all necessary amend-
ments and curing all defects in the former proceedings or shall ren-
der valid and binding the former order.

(3) No drainage assessment is void or voidable for irregularity
in the proceedings unless it is shown that the assessment is inequi-
table.

(4) An interested person shall submit a petition under sub. (1)
and obtain either the decision of the drainage board under this sec-
tion or a denial of the petition for a hearing before seeking judicial
review of the drainage board’s order levying an assessment.

History:  1991 a. 316; 1993 a. 456.

88.45 Procedure upon discovering omitted assess-
ments.  (1) Upon learning of an omission to assess benefits or
to assess costs or to award damages to any lands in a district, the

board shall issue an order making the assessments or awards that
the board considers just.

(2) No omission to assess benefits or to assess for costs or to
award damages to any lands in a district renders any assessment
in the district voidable.

(3) This section is retroactive.
History:  1993 a. 456.

88.46 Reassessment of benefits.  (1) At any time after the
expiration of 5 years from the order of the board assessing benefits
in a drainage district, owners of land in the district may petition
the drainage board for a reassessment of benefits on the ground
that the original assessment of benefits is inequitable and unjust.
The petition shall be signed by at least one−tenth of the owners of
land within the district or by the owners of at least one−tenth of the
lands within the district.

(2) Upon receipt of a petition meeting the requirements of sub.
(1), the board shall either schedule a hearing on the matter to be
held within 60 days after receiving the petition or issue an order
denying the petition within 60 days after receiving the petition.
If it appears to the board that the original assessment of benefits
throughout the drainage district was uniformly low or substan-
tially so, by reason of the application of a substandard evaluation
or other cause, the board shall issue an order adjusting all benefits
in the district so as to correct the inequities and injustices.

(4) A reassessment under this section supersedes all prior
assessments of benefits, subject in every case to s. 88.02.

History:  1979 c. 110 s. 60 (11); 1993 a. 456.

88.47 Apportionment of assessments when assessed
parcel is divided.  If any tract of land which has been assessed
benefits as a unit subsequently is divided into smaller parcels, the
board shall issue an order to apportion the assessment, and any
unpaid assessment for costs based thereon, among the several
divisions in a manner that is equitable.

History:  1977 c. 449; 1993 a. 456.

88.48 Assessment of county and municipal lands.
(1) Lands owned by a county, town, village or city may be
assessed benefits, awarded damages and assessed for costs the
same as other lands within the district.  Notice of hearing on the
report assessing benefits against such lands shall be served on the
clerk of the county, town, village or city in the same manner as
upon resident landowners.

(2) As assessments for costs levied against any city, village, or
town become due, the board shall certify the assessments to the
clerk of the city, village, or town, and the clerk shall place them
upon the next tax roll.  If the assessments exceed one−fourth of one
percent of the assessed value of the property in the city, village, or
town for the last previous assessed valuation, the assessments
shall be paid in installments of one−fourth of one percent of the
valuation for each year until paid unless the drainage board orders
them paid in smaller amounts.

History:  1993 a. 456; 2009 a. 177.
A town sanitary district is subject to assessment by a drainage board.  State ex rel.

Town of Norway v. Racine County Drainage Board, 220 Wis. 2d 595, 583 N.W.2d
437 (Ct. App. 1998), 97−2861.

88.49 Assessment of one district by another; judg-
ment against district.  If one district, by order of the drainage
board, has assessed another district for special benefits, or if a
money judgment has been rendered against any district, the board
shall assess upon the lands of the district that is liable a sum that
is sufficient to pay the assessment or judgment.  The drainage
board may order that the assessment be payable in installments.

History:  1993 a. 456.

88.50 When state lands subject to assessment; right−
of−way across state lands.  (1) Agricultural lands owned by
the state are subject to assessment in drainage proceedings.  Other
lands owned by the state are not subject to such assessment.
Whenever the state acquires lands against which drainage assess-
ments have been made and which no longer will be subject to

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.42(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/74.23
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/74.25
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/74.30
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1979/110
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1979/110,%20s.%2060
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1987/378
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1995/225
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1995/225
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.42
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/subch.%20VII%20of%20ch.%2074
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%2074
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%2075
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1987/378
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1989/56
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/801.11
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.44(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.46(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.02
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1979/110
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1979/110,%20s.%2060
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2009/177
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/220%20Wis.%202d%20595
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/583%20N.W.2d%20437
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/583%20N.W.2d%20437
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/wicourtofappeals/97-2861
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456


Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats. 14 88.50 DRAINAGE OF LANDS

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

assessment, the state shall pay the district all unpaid assessments
against such lands, whether due or not.  The secretary of the board
then shall remove the lands from the district’s assessment roll.
Acquisition of such lands by the state shall not be construed as
prohibiting maintenance of existing drains.

(2) No drain may be constructed on lands owned by the state
or on lands on which the state exercises management control by
easement, lease or otherwise, without the written permission of
the agency responsible for the lands.  The agency shall grant such
permission upon application made to it, unless it finds after notice
and public hearing thereon that the proposed drain will be injuri-
ous to the use of the property for the purposes for which it was
acquired by the agency.  Any administrative decision on the appli-
cation, or any findings or order of the agency after public hearing,
made hereunder shall be subject to review under ch. 227.

History:  1993 a. 490.

SUBCHAPTER V

BORROWING MONEY; REFINANCING; 

COMPROMISE OF DEBTS

88.54 Borrowing money.  (1) At any time after the filing of
a petition for organization of a drainage district but before the
court issues an order organizing the drainage district, the drainage
board may, with the consent of the court, borrow money in the
name of the proposed drainage district to defray the expenses of
organization.

(2) The board may borrow money in an amount not exceeding
the then unpaid assessments for costs, for the purpose of paying
any or all obligations of a drainage district or for refunding exist-
ing notes or bonds.  The board may secure the indebtedness by
notes or bonds of the district, bearing interest at a rate approved
by the board and running not beyond one year after the due date
of the last installment of the assessments on account of which the
money was borrowed.  The notes and bonds constitute a lien upon
all confirmed assessments for costs that are unpaid at the time the
notes are given or bonds issued.  Board members are not person-
ally liable on the notes or bonds.

(3) If the board desires to borrow money upon the notes or
bonds of a drainage district to be paid during a series of years and
after the lapse of a period of not more than 3 years, the board shall
first publish a class 2 notice, under ch. 985, to invite proposals to
furnish the money desired at the most favorable rate of interest or,
if notes or bonds are issued at a specific rate of interest approved
by the board, proposals to purchase the notes or bonds at the best
premium.  If the advertisement is made without success and if the
board is unable to sell the notes or bonds at par or above, the board
may sell the notes or bonds at private sale at the best price it can
obtain for them.

(4) If at any time the board finds that a district does not have
or will not have sufficient funds on hand to pay any lawful indebt-
edness of the district when the indebtedness becomes due, or if
any extraordinary emergency requires borrowing, the board may
borrow money to pay the indebtedness or meet the emergency.  If
the amount to be borrowed does not exceed $8,000 and the loan
does not run beyond one year, the board may borrow the money
without holding a hearing.  In other cases, s. 88.065 applies.  When
necessary, additional assessments to pay the loans shall be made
under s. 88.23.

(6) Except in the case of refunding bonds, no evidence of
indebtedness of a district running for more than one year is valid
unless approved by the attorney general and unless it bears a state-
ment showing the approval.

(7) The board shall keep a record of all bonds and notes issued
on behalf of a district.  Such record shall show with respect to each
bond and note the number, series, date, principal, rate of interest
and date of maturity thereof, the date when interest is due thereon
and any payments made.  If a bond or note is refunded it shall be

marked “Refunded by No. ....”.  The board shall execute all bonds
or notes it offers to the public that mature after more than one year
as provided in s. 67.08 (1) and may register these bonds or notes
under s. 67.09.

History:  1983 a. 24; 1987 a. 275; 1991 a. 316; 1993 a. 456.

88.55 Refunding district obligations.  (1) The drainage
board may refund bonds of the district and issue new bonds of the
district payable over a term determined by the board.  The aggre-
gate principal amount of the new bonds shall not exceed the aggre-
gate principal amount of the refunded bonds and the unpaid
accrued interest on them.  The new bonds shall bear interest at a
rate approved by the board.

(2) When bonds of the district have been refunded or are about
to be refunded under sub. (1), the board may, on petition of one or
more landowners or of the board, extend the time in which to pay
assessments for construction to September 1 next preceding the
due date of a like portion of the refunding bonds which are liens
thereon.  In such event, the face of all unpaid past due assessments
so extended, together with all interest, penalties and charges, shall
be a lien on the lands against which the assessments were origi-
nally made.  The board may make all orders and do all other things
necessary to carry into effect the extension of time.

History:  1993 a. 456.

88.56 Compromise and discharge of obligations.
(1) Whenever a drainage district is unable to pay its bonds and
notes in full, the board may enter into a written compromise agree-
ment with the owners of not less than 70 percent of its obligations.
When such agreement has been signed by members of the board
and the owners of 70 percent of such obligations, all creditors of
the district are subject to such agreement to the same extent as
those signing the agreement, and their claims shall be treated in all
respects as if they had executed such agreement.

(2) Whenever a drainage district is unable to pay its obliga-
tions in full, the board may file with the court a petition for an order
approving a settlement of claims and directing an equitable dis-
tribution of net assets among the creditors of the district.  Such
petition shall list the available assets of the district, the obligations
of the district, the owners of such obligations and their names and
addresses or, if unknown, a statement of that fact, and shall state
whether a compromise agreement has been executed under sub.
(1).  If such agreement has been executed, a copy thereof shall be
attached to the petition.

(3) Upon receiving a petition under sub. (2), the court shall
enter an order fixing a time not less than 4 months nor more than
6 months after receipt of the petition within which creditors shall
present their claims for examination and allowance.  The order
shall also fix a time and place for hearing on claims and publica-
tion and notice shall be given under s. 88.05 (1) (b) to all creditors
of the district whose names and addresses are known.

(4) The court shall receive, examine and adjust all claims and
demands against the district.  At the time set for hearing on claims,
any claim may be allowed which is accompanied by a statement
of account verified by affidavit and to which no objection is
received, except that no claim shall be allowed until the court is
satisfied that it is just.

(5) The court shall make a statement embracing a list of the
claims presented against the district and those presented as a set−
off.  Such statement shall show how much was allowed and how
much disallowed in each case, together with the final balance,
whether in favor of the creditor or the district.  Such statement
shall be filed by the judge and shall stand as the judgment of the
court.  The court may make an order directing that the available
balance of the funds of the district, after costs are paid, be distrib-
uted among the district’s creditors as equity requires and discharg-
ing the district from further liability on its obligations.

(6) All claims against a district which are not filed within the
time limited by this section are barred.

History:  1993 a. 456.

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20227
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/490
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20985
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.065
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.23
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/67.08(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/67.09
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1983/24
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1987/275
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.55(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.56(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.56(2)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(1)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456


DRAINAGE OF LANDS  88.6415 Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats.

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

88.61 Laying out drains, assessment of benefits and
award of damages in existing drainage district.  After the
organization of a drainage district and the construction of drains
under the procedures in ss. 88.35 and 88.36, if the drainage board
proposes to construct additional drains in the existing drainage
district, it shall prepare reports, assess benefits and damages, con-
duct a hearing and determine costs and benefits substantially as
provided under ss. 88.35 and 88.36.

History:  1993 a. 456.
NOTE:  1993 Wis. Act 456, which created this section, contains extensive

explanatory notes.

SUBCHAPTER VI

CONSTRUCTION, MAINTENANCE AND 

IMPROVEMENT OF DRAINS

88.62 Conditions relative to doing of work.  (1) The
drainage board may authorize the drainage district to do its own
work or the board may enter into contracts to have the work done.
The board may advertise for bids and shall do so in all cases where
the work to be done will cost in excess of $25,000.  When the
board is required to advertise for bids, the board shall publish a
class 2 notice, under ch. 985, and other notices that the board con-
siders appropriate, and the work shall be let to the lowest responsi-
ble bidder unless in the board’s opinion the bid is unreasonably
high and a lower bid can be obtained.  The board may continue the
letting of the work from time to time, and may reject any or all
bids.

(2) Before the board or its contractor may enter on lands for
the construction of any drain on the lands, any damages awarded
to the owners of the lands in excess of assessments against the
lands for the cost of construction must have been paid or tendered.
If the owner is unknown or the board for any other reason cannot
safely pay the owner, it may deposit the net damages in an escrow
account for the benefit of the owner or other party who is entitled
to the damages, to be paid or distributed when payment can be
made to the owner or other party or released after 5 years, which-
ever occurs first.  Notwithstanding ch. 177, any funds not claimed
in 5 years may be retained by the drainage board for the benefit of
the drainage district for which the funds are held, after the board
publishes a class 2 notice under ch. 985 and mails notice to the
last−known address of each owner or other party regarding the
existence of the unclaimed funds.  The payment has the same
effect as a tender to and acceptance of damages by the person enti-
tled to the damages.

(3) (a)  Except for a removal of material that is exempt from
the individual and general permit requirements under s. 30.20 as
specified under s. 30.20 (1g) (d) and except as provided under par.
(b), if drainage work is undertaken in navigable waters, the
drainage board shall obtain a permit under s. 30.20 or 88.31 or ch.
31, as directed by the department of natural resources.

(b)  If drainage work is undertaken in navigable waters located
in the Duck Creek Drainage District, the board for that district
shall obtain a permit under s. 30.20 or ch. 31, as directed by the
department of natural resources.

History:  1987 a. 275; 1991 a. 316; 1993 a. 456; 1999 a. 9; 2007 a. 122; 2017 a.
115.

88.63 Maintenance and repair of drains.  (1g) In this sec-
tion “maintenance and repair” refers to the restoration of a drain
or any part thereof as nearly as practicable to the same condition
as when originally constructed or subsequently improved, includ-
ing resloping of open ditches and leveling of spoil banks or exca-
vated materials, and such routine operations as from time to time
may be required to remove obstructions and preserve the effi-
ciency of the drains.  The terms do not include any substantial or
material alteration, enlargement or extension of the drainage sys-
tem of the district.

(1m) It is the duty of the drainage board to maintain in good
condition the drains in all districts under the board’s jurisdiction
and to repair such drains when necessary.  The board shall have
all drains under its jurisdiction inspected annually to determine
the need for maintenance and repair work.  The board shall appor-
tion the cost of such inspection to the various districts involved
and the cost shall be paid out of any funds of the district available
for maintenance and repair.  The board may hire an inspector or
authorize one or more owners of land in the drainage district to
make the inspection or members of the board may themselves
make the inspection.

(2) The board may establish and maintain a fund for the pay-
ment of the costs of normal operations and maintenance and repair
and for emergency expenses.  Moneys in a fund under this sub-
section may not exceed amounts reasonably necessary for the pur-
poses under this subsection.

(4) The drainage board may use the funds assessed for mainte-
nance and repair to pay for the costs of undertaking or defending
a lawsuit involving the board, a board member or a drainage dis-
trict or for representing an owner of land in a drainage district as
provided in s. 88.21 (13).  The board shall allocate the costs to
individual drainage districts in an equitable manner.

History:  1993 a. 456; 2001 a. 103; 2017 a. 115.

Chapter 30 applies to navigable ditches that were originally navigable streams.  If
a navigable ditch was originally nonnavigable or had no previous stream history, the
Department of Natural Resources’ jurisdiction depends upon the facts of each situa-
tion.  Section 31.33 applies to nonnavigable artificial waterways insofar as is neces-
sary to protect navigable waters and owners of flooded waters.  63 Atty. Gen. 493.

88.64 Assessment against municipalities for enlarge-
ment or maintenance of drains.  (1) In this section:

(a)  “Enlarge” means to increase the capacity of a drain to con-
vey water, including adding facilities such as pumps or lift sta-
tions, by performing any necessary construction.

(b)  “Municipality” means a city, village or town.

(2) A drainage board may assess a municipality with territory
upstream from any drain for any costs of enlarging or maintaining
the drain that are attributable to increased water flow from land
within the municipality.  If the drainage board assesses a portion
of the costs of enlarging or maintaining a drain against a munici-
pality, the drainage board shall use the procedure under this sec-
tion.

(3) The drainage board shall obtain a report prepared by a pro-
fessional engineer who is selected from the list specified in s.
88.21 (5).  The report shall include all of the following:

(a)  The construction and costs that are necessary to restore the
drain so that it conveys the same amount of water as when most
recently constructed or enlarged.

(b)  The construction and costs that are necessary to enlarge the
drain to convey the flow of water from any land in the drainage
district or upstream from the drainage district that has been newly
drained since the drain was most recently constructed or enlarged.

(c)  The construction and costs that are necessary to enlarge the
drain to convey the flow of surface water from upstream sources
that represents an increase in flow since the drain was most
recently constructed or enlarged.

(d)  Of the increased flow identified in par. (c), the amount of
that flow that is attributable to each municipality with territory in
the watershed above the drain, based proportionally on all of the
following:

1.  The increased flow into the drain from impermeable sur-
faces such as roads, parking lots or roofs since the drain was most
recently constructed or enlarged, whether or not the impermeable
surfaces are within the watershed.

2.  The increased flow into the drain from the discharge of
wastewater from a sewage treatment plant since the drain was
most recently constructed or enlarged, whether or not the source
of the wastewater is within the watershed.

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.35
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.36
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.35
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.36
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20985
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20177
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20985
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/30.20
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/30.20(1g)(d)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.62(3)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/30.20
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.31
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%2031
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/30.20
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%2031
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1987/275
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1999/9
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2007/122
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2017/115
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2017/115
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.21(13)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2001/103
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2017/115
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.21(5)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.64(3)(c)


Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats. 16 88.64 DRAINAGE OF LANDS

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

(e)  The maintenance costs that are attributable to the flow of
surface water from upstream sources that represents an increase
in flow since the drain was most recently constructed or enlarged.

(4) Upon completion of the report under sub. (3), the drainage
board shall set a time and place for a hearing on the report and shall
give the notice under s. 88.05 (2) (b) to the persons specified in s.
88.05 (4) (c) and to the clerk of each municipality identified in the
report as responsible for a portion of the costs of enlarging or
maintaining the drain.  At the hearing on the report, the drainage
board shall hear all objections to the report by any aggrieved per-
son.  Representatives of a municipality may introduce evidence
that tends to establish a different allocation of costs.  If the drain-
age board finds that the report requires modification or amend-
ment, it shall modify or amend the report as the facts warrant.

(5) At the conclusion of the hearing and after completion of
the final report, the drainage board shall issue an order directing
each municipality to pay the portion of the cost of enlarging or
maintaining the drain as determined in the report.  If the drainage
board orders or allows landowners in the drainage district to pay
for the costs of enlarging or maintaining the drain in installments,
the drainage board shall permit a municipality to pay the assess-
ment in installments.  The drainage board shall mail the order to
the clerk of each municipality by certified mail.

(6) Any municipality affected by the order may, within 120
days after receipt of the order under sub. (5), request the state
drainage engineer to review the final report and order of the drain-
age board.  The state drainage engineer shall complete the review
of the final report and order within 120 days after receiving the
request from the municipality.  The state drainage engineer shall
issue a report on whether the drainage board order complies with
the report prepared under sub. (3), including a recommendation
that the drainage board affirm, modify and affirm or reverse the
order.  The state drainage engineer shall mail a copy of the report
and recommendation to the drainage board and to each municipal-
ity that is subject to an order under sub. (5).  Upon receiving the
state drainage engineer’s report and recommendation, the drain-
age board shall promptly issue an order to affirm, modify and
affirm or reverse its previous order and mail the order by certified
mail to the clerk of each municipality affected by the order and the
state drainage engineer.  The municipalities that request the state
drainage engineer to review the report and order shall jointly pay
the actual and necessary costs of the review and the payment shall
be credited to the appropriation under s. 20.115 (7) (ga).

(7) A municipality affected by a drainage board order issued
under sub. (5) or (6) may seek review of the order under s. 88.09,
except that a municipality may commence the action within 120
days after receiving the order.

(8) If a municipality pays the costs assessed by an order issued
under sub. (5) or (6), it shall pay the costs or make the first pay-
ment of the costs on the February 15 following adoption by the
municipality of its next annual budget after the order is issued.

History:  1993 a. 456.
NOTE:  1993 Wis. Act 456, which created this section, contains extensive

explanatory notes.

88.66 Construction and repair of drains crossing rail-
road right−of−way.  (1) If necessary for proper drainage, the
board may lay out and construct drains across any railway right−
of−way within a district.  As soon as the drain has been constructed
up to such right−of−way, the railway company shall open its right−
of−way and permit such drain to cross the same.

(2) Every district whose drains cross the right−of−way of a
railway company is liable to such company for the reasonable cost
of opening its right−of−way and also for the cost of the culverts
and bridges made necessary by such drain.  The drainage board
shall include such costs in its cost of construction, as set forth in
its report of benefits and damages, and shall award them as dam-
ages to the railway company.  The bridge or culvert shall be
designed by the district’s engineer and the design submitted to the
railway company for approval.  If a dispute arises as to the ade-
quacy of the design, either party may submit the dispute to the

office of the commissioner of railroads by filing with the office a
statement as to the facts involved and the nature of the dispute.
The office shall investigate and determine the matter in contro-
versy in accordance with ch. 195, and any order it makes in such
proceeding has the same effect as an order in any other proceeding
properly brought under ch. 195.

(3) (a)  Whenever the cleaning out, deepening or reconstruc-
tion of a drain crossing a railway right−of−way requires the lower-
ing of a culvert through such right−of−way in order to provide
effective drainage, the drainage board shall proceed as provided
in subs. (4) to (7).  Except as provided in par. (b), the expenses
involved in such lowering shall be borne by the drainage district
or as provided by mutual agreement between the railway company
and the drainage board.

(b)  Whenever a railroad is being constructed or reconstructed
across a drainage district’s drain, or a culvert in such drain is being
replaced, the railway company shall consult with the drainage
board having jurisdiction of such district for the purpose of deter-
mining the depth at which such drain was laid out.  If any culvert
or similar opening in a railway right−of−way is installed at a grade
higher than the depth at which such drain was laid out, the expen-
ses involved in any future lowering of the culvert pursuant to par.
(a) shall be borne by the railway company unless the company was
misled by the drainage board as to the proper grade at which to
install the culvert.  This paragraph applies only to work done after
June 13, 1964.

(4) Whenever it becomes necessary to open a railway right−
of−way in order to permit cleaning out or repairing any district
drain, the board shall ascertain the reasonable cost thereof and,
except as otherwise provided in sub. (3), shall award such cost as
damages to the railway company in the board’s report when
assessing the cost of repairs.

(5) Upon receiving 30 days’ notice in writing, any railway
company across whose right−of−way any drainage district drain
is laid out shall open its right−of−way to permit the board and its
contractors, agents or employees to construct, clean out or repair
such drain.

(6) If the railway company fails to open its right−of−way as
required by this section, the board may at any time after the expira-
tion of 30 days from the giving of the notice specified in sub. (5)
open such right−of−way along the lines of such drains and con-
struct, clean out or repair the same and may recover from the rail-
way company the reasonable expense of opening the right−of−
way.

(7) The district constructing, cleaning out or repairing a drain
across the right−of−way of a railway company shall so prosecute
the work as not to delay traffic upon such railway for longer than
is absolutely necessary.

History:  1977 c. 29 s. 1654 (9) (f); 1981 c. 347; 1993 a. 16, 123, 490.

88.67 Construction and repair of drains crossing util-
ity installations; laying utility installations across
drains.  (1) Whenever the construction, reconstruction, clean
out or repair of a drain makes necessary the removal or raising of
a utility installation in order to permit the passage of a dredge or
other machinery or whenever the lowering of an underground util-
ity installation is necessary in order to provide effective drainage,
the owner of the utility installation, upon being given 30 days’
written notice stating the place where such dredge or machinery
will pass or that lowering is necessary to provide effective drain-
age, shall remove, raise or lower the utility installation as
requested by the board.  Except as provided in sub. (3), the expen-
ses involved in such removal, raising or lowering shall be borne
by the drainage district or as provided by mutual agreement
between the drainage board and the owner of the utility installa-
tion.

(2) If after the 30 days’ notice specified in sub. (1) the owner
of the utility installation fails to remove, raise or lower the same,
the board may do so and may recover from the owner of the instal-
lation the cost of the removal, raising or lowering.

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.64(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(c)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.64(5)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.64(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.64(5)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/20.115(7)(ga)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.64(5)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.64(6)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.09
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.64(5)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.64(6)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20195
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20195
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.66(4)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.66(7)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.66(3)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.66(3)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.66(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.66(5)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/29
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/29,%20s.%201654
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1981/347
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/16
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/123
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/490
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.67(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.67(1)


DRAINAGE OF LANDS  88.7217 Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats.

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

(3) Whenever an underground utility installation is being laid
or relaid across a drainage district’s drain, the owner of the utility
installation shall consult with the drainage board having jurisdic-
tion of such district for the purpose of determining the grade at
which such drain was laid out.  If an underground utility installa-
tion is laid at a grade higher than the grade at which the drain was
laid out, the expenses involved in any future lowering of the utility
installation shall be borne by the owner of the utility installation
unless the owner was misled by the drainage board as to the proper
grade at which to lay the utility installation.  This subsection
applies only to work done after June 13, 1964.

(4) In this section “utility installation” includes any sluice or
pipe carrying any gas or liquid, or any wire, conduit or cable used
for conducting electricity or for any other purpose, whether or not
such installation is owned by a public utility.

88.68 Construction of drain across public highway;
construction of bridges across drains.  (1) Any drain
across a public highway shall be constructed according to like
specifications and at the same time as the drain above such high-
way is constructed.

(2) If the construction of a drain across a public highway
makes necessary the construction or reconstruction of a bridge,
the drainage board and the officers in charge of maintenance of the
highway shall try to agree on the best method of constructing or
reconstructing the bridge.  If they are unable to agree, the matter
shall be submitted to arbitration under ch. 788.  If it is determined
to reconstruct or add to the bridge, the district shall pay the costs
incident to the reconstruction or addition.  If it is determined to
construct a new bridge, the drainage district shall pay to the unit
of government responsible for the maintenance of the highway a
sum that is considered equivalent to the value of the bridge in
place at the time of the construction of the drain.

(3) If the unit of government in charge of maintenance of a
highway decides to construct a new bridge across a drain, the offi-
cers in charge of such construction shall notify the drainage board
thereof by registered mail addressed to the secretary of the board.
If the board within 10 days after receiving such notice notifies the
officers in charge of construction of the bridge that it desires such
bridge to be constructed with a certain clear span, the bridge shall
be constructed in accordance with the board’s order.  If the board’s
order requires the bridge to be built of greater span than is neces-
sary for proper drainage of flood waters, any excess cost resulting
from such order shall be paid by the drainage district.

(4) Whenever the cleaning out, deepening or reconstruction of
a drain crossing a public highway requires the lowering of a cul-
vert through such highway in order to provide effective drainage,
the drainage board may proceed to lower such culvert only after
obtaining a permit under s. 86.07 (2) (a).  In lieu of issuing a per-
mit, the authority in charge of maintenance of the highway may
proceed to do the work itself.  Except as provided in s. 86.075, the
expenses involved in such lowering shall be borne by the drainage
district, or as provided by mutual agreement between the highway
authority and the drainage board.

History:  1993 a. 456; 2015 a. 231.

88.69 District liable for damage to land outside its
boundaries.  (1) A drainage district is liable for any damages
resulting to lands outside its boundaries because of work done
within its boundaries.  In this subsection “damages” means only
such damages as could be recovered against a natural person for
like injury resulting from like work.  No action shall be taken to
collect damages to outside lands until the damages actually have
resulted.  In cases of construction of new drains, the state may pro-
ceed pursuant to ch. 813 to prevent damage or injury to lands
owned by the state.

(2) If through the construction of a drain by a higher district
a lower drainage district incurs extra expense in providing means
to carry off the waters or remove the sediment flowing from the
higher district, the higher district is liable for such increased cost.

The amount of such increased cost may be agreed upon between
the districts or may be recovered in an action at law.

History:  Sup. Ct. Order, 67 Wis. 2d 585, 774 (1975).

88.70 Formation of subdistrict to obtain more thor-
ough drainage.  (1) If the owners of land in a part of a drainage
district desire a more thorough or different drainage than the
drains of the district currently provide or than the planned recon-
struction will provide, a majority of the owners may petition the
board to have specified lands set aside as a subdistrict of the drain-
age district in order to permit a more thorough or different drain-
age.

(2) The board shall fix a time and place of a hearing on the
petition and shall cause notice to be given under s. 88.05 (2) (b)
to the persons specified in s. 88.05 (4) (b).

(3) If the drainage board is satisfied that the public health or
public welfare will be promoted by more thorough or different
drainage and that the benefits of the drainage will exceed the cost
of construction, the drainage board shall order that a subdistrict of
the drainage district be formed, give it a name or number and fix
its boundaries.

(4) After organizing the subdistrict, the board shall prepare a
plan and specifications for the more thorough or different drain-
age, estimate the cost of construction of the drainage, estimate the
cost of all additional bridges made necessary because of the drain-
age, and assess benefits against and award damages to all lands in
the subdistrict that are benefited or damaged by the more thorough
or different drainage.  Assessments and awards shall be made sub-
stantially as provided in s. 88.35.

(5) Nothing in this section is intended to relieve owners of
lands in the subdistrict of the proportionate share of their obliga-
tions to the district in which the subdistrict was formed.

History:  1993 a. 456.

88.71 Enlarging or supplementing existing drains.
(1) Whenever the board is petitioned by the owners of one−tenth
of the lands in a district to enlarge existing drains or to lay out and
construct new drains in such district, or whenever the board is of
the opinion that the plan of drainage of the district is or will be
insufficient to effect a thorough drainage of such district or any
portion thereof, and that enlarged or supplemental drains are
required to effect such drainage, the board shall cause to be pre-
pared plans and specifications for the enlargement of existing
drains or for the construction of sufficient supplemental drains to
complete the drainage of such district.

(1m) If the drainage board is satisfied that the public health or
welfare will be promoted by the enlarged or supplemental drains
and that the benefits from the drains will exceed the cost of con-
struction, the drainage board shall order the construction of the
enlarged or supplemental drains.

(2) The board shall estimate the cost of construction of the
enlargements or supplemental drains together with the cost of all
additional bridges that the district must build and shall assess the
costs against the lands benefited, as provided in ss. 88.35 and
88.36 and in this subsection.  The board shall award to each parcel
of land the damages caused to the land by the supplemental work
and shall assess benefits against the lands benefited by the supple-
mental work.  The benefits shall be apportioned and assessed so
that all assessed lands are required to pay a sum total for the con-
struction of the total drainage proportionate to the actual benefits
received by the lands from the total drainage.

History:  1993 a. 456.

88.72 Removal of dams or other obstructions in drain-
age outlets.  (1) The owners of more than one−tenth of the
lands within any district may file with the drainage board a peti-
tion setting forth:

(a)  That the drains constructed within such district do not
afford an adequate outlet for drainage;

(b)  That it is necessary in order to give an adequate outlet to
remove certain dams or other obstructions from waters or streams

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20788
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/86.07(2)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/86.075
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2015/231
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20813
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.35
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.35
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.36
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456


Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats. 18 88.72 DRAINAGE OF LANDS

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

or to deepen, straighten or widen the same either within or beyond
the boundaries of such district; and

(c)  That the public health and the public welfare will be pro-
moted by such work and that the navigability of such waters or
streams and other public rights therein will not be materially
impaired.

(2) Upon receiving a petition under sub. (1), the drainage
board shall fix a time and place of a hearing on the petition and
shall cause notice of the hearing to be given under s. 88.05 (2) (b)
to the persons specified in s. 88.05 (4) (a), to the owner of any dam
sought to be removed and to all riparian owners affected by the
removal.

(3) At the hearing on the petition, any interested person may
appear and contest its sufficiency and the necessity for the work.
If the drainage board finds that the petition has the proper number
of signers and that to afford an adequate outlet it is necessary to
remove dams or other obstructions from waters and streams which
may be navigable, or to straighten, clean out, deepen or widen any
waters or streams either within or beyond the limits of the district,
the board shall obtain any permit that is required under this chapter
or ch. 30 or 31.

(4) Within 30 days after the department of natural resources
has issued all of the permits as required under this chapter and chs.
30 and 31, the board shall proceed to estimate the cost of the work,
including the expenses of the proceeding together with the dam-
ages that will result from the work, and shall, within a reasonable
time, award damages to all lands damaged by the work and assess
the cost of the work against the lands in the district in proportion
to the assessment of benefits then in force.

(5) The drainage board may grant the petition and order the
additional work done only if the drainage board is satisfied that:

(a)  The intended result can be effectively achieved by addi-
tional work at a reasonable cost;

(b)  The public welfare will be promoted by such additional
work;

(c)  The cost of such additional work, when added to all expen-
ses previously incurred by the district will not exceed the total
benefits theretofore assessed; and

(d)  A petition, which is the same in substance or effect as the
current petition, has not previously been denied by the drainage
board.

History:  1973 c. 336; 1993 a. 456; 1999 a. 9.

88.73 Providing drainage for lands assessed but not
adequately drained.  (1) Any person owning lands that have
been assessed for costs of construction but which are in need of
drainage because of being shut off from access to any district drain
or because the slope of the land is such that it is impractical to drain
the land into a district drain without crossing the lands of others
may file with the drainage board a verified petition stating such
facts, including a description of the lands sought to be drained and
asking that a drain be laid out from the petitioner’s lands to the dis-
trict drain.

(2) The petitioner and all persons whose lands will be directly
affected by the proposed drain may, in writing, waive any or all
notices of hearings and may consent to an immediate hearing on
the petition, upon which the drainage board may enter an order to
construct the drain.  The board’s order shall include all of the pro-
visions of s. 88.35 (1).  If no written waiver or consent is filed by
all persons immediately interested, the procedure on a petition
under this section shall be substantially as outlined in ss. 88.35 and
88.36.

History:  1991 a. 316; 1993 a. 456.

88.74 District corridors.  (1) (a)  Except as provided in par.
(b), the board shall establish all of the following as district corri-
dors:

1.  A corridor which extends 20 feet from the top of the ditch
bank on each side of a district ditch.

2.  A corridor extending 20 feet from the centerline on each
side of any other district drain or facility.

(b)  Upon notice to affected landowners, the board may estab-
lish and maintain a wider corridor if a wider corridor is necessary
to meet any of the purposes specified under sub. (3).

(2) The board shall provide notice of any corridor established
under sub. (1) to the county and the city, village, or town in which
the corridor is located.

(3) The board shall maintain a corridor established under sub.
(1) to accomplish all of the following purposes:

(a)  To provide the board with effective access to the drain or
facility, including access for vehicles or equipment.

(b)  To protect water quality in the drain or facility.

(c)  To allow for the placement of dredge materials from main-
taining the drain or facility.

(4) (a)  Except as provided in pars. (b) and (d), the board may,
without prior notice to the landowner, enter a corridor established
under sub. (1) to inspect, survey, maintain, repair, restore, or
improve a drain, facility, or corridor.

(b)  Before doing any of the following in a corridor, the board
shall notify the landowner of the pending action:

1.  Cutting a tree that is more than 6 inches in diameter mea-
sured at breast height.

2.  Excavating or depositing materials in the corridor.

(c)  Notice under par. (b) may be given at any time before per-
formance of the work and may be given in person, by telephone,
by mail, or, if the landowner is not available, by posting notice at
a conspicuous location at an entrance to the land.

(d)  If a drainage board intends to perform general maintenance
work in a corridor during the year, the board shall provide notice
to the landowner not later than March 1.  Notice under this para-
graph shall be given in person, by telephone, by mail, or by elec-
tronic means, or, if notice cannot be provided in one of these man-
ners, by posting notice at a conspicuous location at an entrance to
the land.  This paragraph does not apply to emergency mainte-
nance work.

(5) (a)  No person may do any of the following in a corridor
established under sub. (1) without written permission from the
board:

1.  Engage in row cropping in the corridor.

2.  Place any obstruction in the corridor that interferes with the
board’s ability to accomplish a purpose under sub. (3).

(b)  A person who violates par. (a) may not recover damages
with regard to any damage to crops or obstructions caused by
actions taken by the board under sub. (3).

(c)  Paragraph (a) does not require a landowner to remove any
building or fixture constructed or installed in a corridor prior to
September 1, 1999, or any structure that does not interfere with the
board’s maintenance of a drain and that was placed in the corridor
for the purpose of providing drainage.

(6) No city, village, town, or county may by ordinance, resolu-
tion, or any other means restrict, or impose other conditions
related to, the board’s maintenance of district corridors or ditches
unless specifically required by federal law.

History:  2017 a. 115.

SUBCHAPTER VII

ENLARGEMENT, CONSOLIDATION, DIVISION 

AND DISSOLUTION OF DRAINAGE DISTRICT

88.77 Annexation of lands upon petition of owners.
(1) If owners of lands adjacent to any drainage district want the
lands to be annexed to the district, they may file with the drainage
board a petition for annexation.  The petition must be signed either
by more than one−half of all of the owners of lands in the proposed
annex, who shall represent more than one−third of the lands in the
proposed annex, or by the owners of more than one−half of the

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.72(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%2030
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%2031
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%2030
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%2031
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1973/336
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1999/9
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.35(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.35
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.36
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74(1)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74(4)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74(4)(d)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74(4)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74(5)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74(5)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2017/115


DRAINAGE OF LANDS  88.8019 Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats.

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

lands in the proposed annex.  The petition shall describe the lands
sought to be annexed and shall set forth the names of the owners
of all of those lands so far as the owners are known.  The petition
shall be accompanied by a plat showing the original district and
the proposed annex.

(2) If the undrained portion of the area proposed to be annexed
to the district exceeds 200 acres, the drainage board shall request
the report described under s. 88.11 (3) from the department of
agriculture, trade and consumer protection on the annexation.
Within 60 days after the request, the department shall prepare and
return a copy of the report and its approval or disapproval, as pro-
vided under s. 88.35 (7).

(3) When the drainage board receives the reports required by
s. 88.11, the board shall fix a time and place of a hearing on the
petition under sub. (1) and shall cause notice of the hearing to be
given under s. 88.05 (2) (b) to the persons specified in s. 88.05 (4)
(c).

(4) The drainage board shall issue an order annexing the terri-
tory to the drainage district if at the hearing the board finds all of
the following facts:

(a)  That the petition has sufficient signers.

(b)  That the lands described in the petition, together with any
additional lands recommended by the board for drainage, will be
improved by the proposed annexation.

(c)  That the public health or public welfare will be promoted
by the annexation.

(d)  That the cost of construction will not exceed 75 percent of
the benefits to be derived from the proposed work.

(e)  That the proposed work will not materially injure or impair
fish or wildlife habitat, scenic beauty, the conservation of natural
resources or other public rights or interests.

(5) If the board finds the facts stated in sub. (4) (a) to (c) and
(e) but finds that the cost of construction will exceed 75 percent
of the benefits to be derived from the proposed work, the board
nevertheless shall annex the territory to the drainage district if,
within 10 days of the order being issued under sub. (4), the peti-
tioners file with the board a bond with sufficient sureties to be
approved by the board and conditioned for the payment of the
excess or the petitioners deposit and leave with the board a sum
of money that the board determines will cover the excess.

(6) Upon issuance of the order annexing the territory to the
drainage district, the drainage board shall proceed as provided
under ss. 88.35 and 88.36.

History:  1993 a. 456; 2007 a. 121.
NOTE:  1993 Wis. Act 456, which substantially affected this section, contains

extensive explanatory notes.

88.78 Annexation of benefited lands.  (1) Whenever any
lands outside a drainage district are in fact receiving the benefits
of any drain of such district but such fact was not evident or was
inadvertently overlooked at the time of organization of the district,
such benefited lands may be annexed under the procedure pre-
scribed in this section.

(2) Any owner of land within the district may file with the
board a petition to have the benefited lands annexed to the district
and assessed benefits and assessed for costs as other lands in the
district.  The petition shall describe the benefited lands and how
they are benefited.  Upon the filing of the petition, the drainage
district shall issue an order directing that the owners of the bene-
fited lands be notified of the filing and the contents of the petition
and requiring the owners to show cause at a fixed time and place,
not less than 20 days after the petition is filed, why their lands
should not be brought into the district and assessed.

(3) Any owner of lands sought to be annexed may object to the
petition at the hearing thereon.  If the drainage board is satisfied
that any or all of the lands are receiving benefits from any district
drain, the drainage board shall so find in writing and shall issue an
order requiring that the benefited lands be made a part of the dis-
trict.

(4) The board shall assess benefits and assess for costs and
award damages to each tract of the annexed lands.

History:  1993 a. 456.

88.785 Certain annexations prohibited.  (1) Not-
withstanding ss. 88.34, 88.77, and 88.78, no lands that are within
the corporate limits of a city, a village, or, if the town has a permit
for storm water management under s. 283.33, a town may be
included in a newly organized drainage district or annexed to a
drainage district unless the governing body of the city, village, or
town adopts a resolution approving the inclusion or annexation.

(2) Notwithstanding ss. 88.77 and 88.78, no lands that are
located in a county in which no portion of the drainage district is
located may be annexed to a drainage district.

History:  2017 a. 115.

88.79 Consolidation of drainage districts in process of
organization.  (1) Two or more drainage districts petitioned for
or in the process of organization may, upon order of the court, be
consolidated to form a single drainage district.  The order of con-
solidation may be issued only after a public hearing as specified
in this section.

(2) The consolidation process may be initiated either by the
court on its own motion, by recommendation of the board made
to the court, or by petition signed by the owners of at least 10 per-
cent of the lands in each of the districts sought to be consolidated.
If such districts are under the jurisdiction of different courts, the
proceeding shall be conducted by the court having jurisdiction of
the larger area.

(3) The court shall fix a time and place of a hearing on the pro-
posed consolidation and shall cause notice of the hearing to be
given under s. 88.05 (1) (b) to the persons specified in s. 88.05 (4)
(b).  If the court after the hearing is of the opinion that the drainage
districts would be benefited by the proposed consolidation, it shall
so order, giving a name to the consolidated district.

History:  1993 a. 456.

88.791 Consolidation of existing drainage districts.
(1) Two or more existing drainage districts may, upon an order
issued by the drainage board, be consolidated to form a single
drainage district.  An order of consolidation may be issued only
after a public hearing as specified in this section.

(2) The consolidation process may be initiated by a petition
that is signed by the owners of at least 10 percent of the lands in
each of the districts sought to be consolidated.

(3) The drainage board shall fix a time and place of a hearing
on the proposed consolidation and shall cause notice of the hear-
ing to be given under s. 88.05 (2) (b) to the persons specified in
s. 88.05 (4) (b).  If after the hearing the drainage board is of the
opinion that the drainage districts would be benefited by the pro-
posed consolidation, it shall so order, giving a name to the consoli-
dated district.

(4) Upon entry of the order of consolidation, the records of the
districts so consolidated shall be the records of the consolidated
district.

(5) Assessments made against lands in the several districts so
consolidated shall remain in full force and the lien thereof is not
affected by such consolidation.

(6) After such consolidation, the benefits of the consolidated
district may be reassessed to render them just and equitable as a
basis for future assessments for costs, subject to s. 88.02.

History:  1993 a. 456 ss. 100, 101.
NOTE:  1993 Wis. Act 456, which created this section, contains extensive

explanatory notes.

88.80 Withdrawal of lands from drainage district.
(1) Any person owning lands within a drainage district may,
under an order issued by the drainage board, withdraw the lands
from the district if:

(a)  All benefits assessed against such lands have been paid;
and

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.11(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.35(7)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.11
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.77(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(c)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(c)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.77(4)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.77(4)(c)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.77(4)(e)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.77(4)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.35
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.36
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2007/121
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.34
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.77
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.78
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/283.33
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.77
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.78
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2017/115
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(1)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.02
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456,%20s.%20100
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456,%20s.%20101
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456


Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats. 20 88.80 DRAINAGE OF LANDS

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

(b)  The lands to be withdrawn will receive no benefit from the
drainage district; and

(c)  The drainage district will not be materially injured by the
withdrawal of such lands.

(2) The petition for the withdrawal shall be filed with the
board.  The board shall determine whether all benefits assessed
against the land have been paid.

(3) When the petition has been filed, the drainage board shall
fix the time and place of a hearing on the petition and shall cause
notice of the hearing to be given under s. 88.05 (2) (b) to the per-
sons specified in s. 88.05 (4) (b).  If the drainage board finds that
the conditions of sub. (1) have been met, it shall issue an order
detaching the lands from the district.  The drainage board may
require the petitioner to pay the expenses connected with the hear-
ing.

History:  1993 a. 456.

88.81 Proceedings to suspend operations of drainage
district.  (1) (a)  The owners of land representing 90 percent or
more of the confirmed benefits in a drainage district, excluding
benefits received by land owned by this state, may file with the
drainage board a petition requesting that the board conduct no fur-
ther proceedings and incur on behalf of the district no further
expense if the petition is filed within 2 years after the order orga-
nizing the district is issued under s. 88.34.

(b)  The owners of land representing 67 percent or more of the
confirmed benefits in a drainage district, excluding benefits
received by land owned by this state, may file with the drainage
board a petition requesting that the board conduct no further pro-
ceedings and incur on behalf of the district no further expense if
the petition is filed at least 2 years after the order organizing the
district is issued under s. 88.34.

(bm)  Except as provided in par. (bs), the owner of any land in
a drainage district may file with the drainage board a petition
requesting that the board conduct no further proceedings and incur
on behalf of the district no further expense if the petition is filed
at least 20 years after the latest assessment for costs against land
in the drainage district.

(bs)  A state agency, as defined in s. 16.61 (2) (d), may not peti-
tion for the suspension of operations of a drainage district.

(c)  Upon receipt of a petition, the drainage board shall fix a
time and place of a hearing on the petition and shall cause notice
of the hearing to be given under s. 88.05 (2) (b) to the persons spec-
ified in s. 88.05 (4) (b).

(2) If after the hearing the drainage board finds that the peti-
tion is signed by the required number of owners, that notice of the
hearing was properly given, and that the conditions of sub. (3)
have been met, it shall issue an order directing that no more work
be done in or expense incurred on behalf of the district.  The order
does not dissolve the district or in any way affect existing con-
tracts.  The district remains liable for all its debts existing at the
time of issuance of the drainage board order suspending opera-
tions, and the board shall continue to levy such additional assess-
ments for costs as are necessary to meet existing obligations.

(3) As a condition of issuing the order under sub. (2), the
drainage board shall require the petitioners under this section to
pay the expenses of the hearing under this section and all expen-
ses, if any, incurred in connection with specific current projects
whose completion would be affected by the drainage board order.

(4) An order suspending operations of a drainage district
remains in effect until a like application upon like notice request-
ing that work be continued is heard and determined in favor of
petitioners.

(5) Subsections (1) to (3) do not apply on or after July 14,
2015.

History:  1977 c. 449; 1983 a. 483; 1993 a. 456; 2015 a. 55.

88.815 Dissolution of suspended drainage districts.
(1) If the operations of a drainage district are suspended on July
14, 2015, the department of agriculture, trade and consumer pro-

tection shall file a notice with the court having jurisdiction on the
matter that the district will be administratively dissolved 36
months after the filing of the notice.

(2) Upon the filing of a dissolution notice under sub. (1), the
court shall provide notice of the dissolution notice to the drainage
board.  If, at the time of filing of a dissolution notice, any position
on the board is vacant, the court shall appoint a successor as pro-
vided in s. 88.17 before providing notice to the board.

(3) Upon receiving notice under sub. (2), the board shall pro-
vide notice of the dissolution notice under sub. (1) to the persons
specified under s. 88.05 (4) (c).

(4) Upon request by any owner of land in the district, the board
shall do all of the following:

(a)  Fix a time and place of a hearing on the dissolution notice.

(b)  Cause notice of the hearing to be given under s. 88.05 (1)
(b) to the persons specified under s. 88.05 (4) (c), the court having
jurisdiction on the matter, and the department of agriculture, trade
and consumer protection.

(5) Subject to s. 88.82 (2) and after any hearing held under sub.
(4), if the board determines that the public welfare will not be pro-
moted by the reinstatement of district operations, the board shall
seek approval of dissolution of the district under s. 88.06.  If dis-
solution is approved, the board shall provide notice of the dissolu-
tion to the court having jurisdiction on the matter, the department
of agriculture, trade and consumer protection, the zoning adminis-
trator of each city, village, town, or county in which the district is
located, the county clerk of the county in which the drainage board
having jurisdiction of the drainage district is located, and the
county treasurer.

(6) If s. 88.82 (2) is not satisfied, court approval under s. 88.06
is not received, or the board determines that public welfare will be
promoted by the reinstatement of district operations, the board
shall order the district reinstated.  If reinstatement is ordered, the
board shall provide notice of the order to the court having jurisdic-
tion on the matter, the department of agriculture, trade and con-
sumer protection, the zoning administrator of each city, village,
town, or county in which the district is located, and the county
clerk of the county in which the drainage board having jurisdiction
of the drainage district is located.

(7) If no hearing is scheduled under sub. (4), the district is dis-
solved 36 months after the filing of the notice under sub. (1).  If
the department of agriculture, trade and consumer protection
receives a notice under sub. (4), but does not receive a notice of
reinstatement under sub. (5), the district is dissolved 48 months
after the filing of the notice under sub. (1).

History:  2015 a. 55.

88.817 Leola drainage district.  (1) Notwithstanding s.
88.815, the Leola drainage district located in Adams, Portage, and
Waushara counties is reinstated.

(2) The drainage board with jurisdiction of the Leola drainage
district may not levy any assessment.  This subsection does not
apply if the owners of land representing, as calculated on Decem-
ber 2, 2017, 67 percent or more of the confirmed benefits in the
district, excluding benefits received by land owned by this state,
file with the court having jurisdiction on the matter a petition for
the reinstatement of assessment authority of the district.

History:  2017 a. 115.

88.82 Dissolution of drainage districts.  (1) (a)  The
owners of land representing 90 percent or more of the confirmed
benefits in a drainage district, excluding benefits received by land
owned by this state, may file with a court having jurisdiction on
this matter a petition for the dissolution of the district if the petition
is signed by those owners and if the petition is filed within 2 years
after the order organizing the district is issued under s. 88.34.

(b)  The owners of land representing 67 percent or more of the
confirmed benefits in a drainage district, excluding benefits
received by land owned by this state, may file with a court having
jurisdiction on this matter a petition for the dissolution of the dis-

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.80(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.34
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.34
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.81(1)(bs)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/16.61(2)(d)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.81(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.81(2)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.81(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.81(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1983/483
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2015/55
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.815(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.17
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.815(2)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.815(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(c)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(1)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(1)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(c)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.82(2)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.815(4)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.06
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.82(2)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.06
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.815(4)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.815(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.815(4)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.815(5)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.815(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2015/55
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.815
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2017/115
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.34


DRAINAGE OF LANDS  88.8321 Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats.

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

trict if the petition is signed by those owners and if the petition is
filed at least 2 years after the order organizing the district is issued
under s. 88.34.

(bm)  Except as provided in par. (bs), the owner of any land in
a drainage district may file with the court a petition for the dissolu-
tion of the district if the petition is filed at least 20 years after the
latest assessment for costs against land in the drainage district.

(bs)  A state agency, as defined in s. 16.61 (2) (d), may not peti-
tion for the dissolution of a drainage district.

(c)  In any county in which all land has been incorporated in cit-
ies or villages, the county board of supervisors is authorized to file
the petition.

(d)  Upon the filing of a petition for dissolution under this sec-
tion, the court shall fix the time and place of a hearing on the peti-
tion and shall cause notice of the hearing to be given under s. 88.05
(1) (b) to the persons specified under s. 88.05 (4) (b).

(2) No district shall be dissolved until all its debts have been
paid unless:

(a)  Funds to pay such debts, including any interest thereon,
have been deposited with the county treasurer; or

(b)  The lands of the district have been assessed to the full
amount of the confirmed assessed benefits and such assessments
either have been paid in full or tax certificates have been issued for
the lands under s. 74.57.

(3) If the court is satisfied upon the hearing that the conditions
stated in sub. (2) have been met, that the petition is signed by the
required number of owners, and that the public welfare will be
promoted by dissolution of the district, it shall enter an order dis-
solving the drainage district.  If the court enters an order dissolv-
ing the drainage district, it shall order dissolution of the entire
drainage district and may not order dissolution of part of the dis-
trict.

(4) If the county treasurer has on hand any funds belonging to
such dissolved district, the treasurer shall forthwith make distribu-
tion thereof among the several landowners in the district in pro-
portion to the last confirmed assessment of benefits in the district.
If there is any doubt as to the ownership of such lands, the owners
claiming the right to participate in such funds shall make satisfac-
tory proof of ownership to the court.

(5) If the county treasurer has funds on hand belonging to a
drainage district which has been inactive for 6 or more years, he
or she shall publish in the county, as a class 3 notice, under ch. 985,
a notice of intent to file with the court having jurisdiction thereof
a petition for dissolution of the drainage district, except that such
notice is not required if funds on hand are less than $100.  Ninety
days after the last publication provided for in this subsection, the
county treasurer shall file such petition together with objections,
if any, and if dissolution is ordered, such funds held by the county
treasurer shall revert and pass to the county for the benefit of the
county.  If the funds on hand are less than $100, such funds shall
automatically revert and pass to the county general fund.

(6) Any drains which have been constructed by a drainage dis-
trict dissolved under this section or under prior law shall remain
common waterways for the use of all landowners in the dissolved
district.  Any such landowner may make repairs thereto at the
landowner’s own expense.  Any person who in any manner
obstructs or injures any such drain is liable for all damages caused
to any person thereby and in addition may be fined not more than
$100.

(7) In the alternative in any county in which all land has been
incorporated in cities or villages if a drainage board is abolished
or if a drainage district passes out of existence, any funds being
held by the county treasurer shall revert and pass to the county for
the benefit of the county.

History:  1975 c. 324, 421; 1983 a. 483; 1987 a. 378; 1991 a. 32, 316; 1993 a. 456.
Cross−reference:  See also ch. NR 301, Wis. adm. code.
Although the “public welfare” concept escapes precise definition, and necessarily

involves consideration of numerous factors, it does not, in the context of ch. 88, per-
mit reference to any benefit imaginable.  With no formal charge or authority, the
claimed willingness of other entities to assume drainage duties has little bearing on

whether elimination of the district will promote the public welfare.  A district’s popu-
larity is not an appropriate measure of whether dissolution promotes the public wel-
fare.  A circuit court’s desire to end discord cannot supply the basis for its public wel-
fare finding.  Town of Stiles v. Stiles/Lena Drainage District, 2010 WI App 87, 327
Wis. 2d 491, 787 N.W.2d 876, 09−0556.

88.83 Transfer of district to municipal jurisdiction.
(1c) In this section, “municipality” means a city, village, or town.

(1g) The owners of a majority of the land proposed to be trans-
ferred in a drainage district located entirely or partially within the
corporate limits of a municipality may petition the drainage board
having jurisdiction of the district to transfer jurisdiction of the part
of the district proposed to be transferred that is located within the
municipality to the municipality.

(2) Upon receiving a petition under this section the drainage
board shall fix the time and place of the hearing on the petition and
shall cause notice of the hearing to be given under s. 88.05 (2) (b)
to the persons specified in s. 88.05 (4) (b).

(2m) If the proposed transfer of jurisdiction is of less than the
entire district, jurisdiction of the part of the drainage district may
not be transferred to a municipality unless the municipality to
which jurisdiction will be transferred and the district have entered
into an agreement that includes all of the following:

(a)  The municipality and district agree that the goal of the
agreement is to outline the duties and responsibilities of the
respective parties to maintain the drain system as provided in the
plans and specification for the drain system approved by the
department of agriculture, trade and consumer protection.

(b)  The agreement specifies any monetary obligations of the
municipality or district under the agreement and the manner by
which any monetary obligation under the agreement will be calcu-
lated.

(c)  The municipality agrees to ensure access to, and mainte-
nance of, any corridor established under s. 88.74 (1) that is located
on land transferred under this section consistent with the require-
ments of s. 88.74.

(d)  The municipality agrees, upon order by the drainage dis-
trict from which jurisdiction was transferred, to maintain and
repair any part of a former district drain located in land transferred
under this section.

(e)  That if the municipality fails to complete work ordered
under par. (d), the district may complete the work and assess costs
on the confirmed benefits to property located in the municipality,
as follows:

1.  The district shall provide notice to the municipality that,
based upon an inspection by the board, maintenance of a drain on
land transferred under this section is necessary.

2.  If the municipality does not within 30 days of receiving the
notice under subd. 1. enter into an agreement with the district to
perform the maintenance or does not perform the ordered mainte-
nance within 12 months of receiving the notice under subd. 1., the
district may file a declaratory judgment action in the court having
jurisdiction over the district.  The only issues in an action under
this subdivision shall be compliance with this paragraph and
whether the lands proposed to be assessed are benefited by the
drain.

3.  a.  If the court determines that the district has complied with
this paragraph and that the lands proposed to be assessed are bene-
fited by the drain, the district may complete the work and assess
costs to the municipality.

b.  If the court determines that the district has not complied
with this paragraph or that the lands proposed to be assessed are
not benefited by the work, the district may complete the work, but
may not assess costs to the municipality.

(3) If the drainage board finds upon the hearing that the peti-
tion is signed by the required number of owners and that the condi-
tions under sub. (2m) have been satisfied, it may issue an order
transferring jurisdiction of the district or part of the district to the
municipality.  If the order transfers jurisdiction of the entire dis-
trict and the governing body of the municipality approves the

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.34
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.82(1)(bs)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/16.61(2)(d)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(1)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(1)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/74.57
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.82(2)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20985
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1975/324
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1975/421
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1983/483
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1987/378
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/32
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/administrativecode/ch.%20NR%20301
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/2010%20WI%20App%2087
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/327%20Wis.%202d%20491
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/327%20Wis.%202d%20491
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/787%20N.W.2d%20876
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/wicourtofappeals/09-0556
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.74
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.83(2m)(d)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.83(2m)(e)1.
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.83(2m)(e)1.
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.83(2m)


Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats. 22 88.83 DRAINAGE OF LANDS

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

transfer, the drainage district shall cease to exist as a district under
this chapter and shall automatically come under the jurisdiction of
the governing body of the municipality in which the district is
located.  If the order transfers jurisdiction of only a part of the dis-
trict and the governing body of the municipality approves the
transfer, the section transferred shall automatically come under
the jurisdiction of the governing body of the municipality in which
the district is located.

(4) As an alternative, proceedings covered by this section may
be initiated by a resolution of the governing body of a municipal-
ity.  The resolution shall state that the municipality is willing to
accept the drain or part of the drain, and that the public interest
requires that the municipality take over the operation of the drain
or part of the drain.  The resolution shall be published as a class
1 notice under ch. 985.  The municipality may petition the
drainage board having jurisdiction of the drain to issue an order
transferring jurisdiction of the district or part of the district to the
municipality.  The drainage board may not hold a hearing on the
petition until 30 days after the date of publication of the notice.
A copy of the petition and resolution shall be served on the county
clerk of the county in which the drain is located and the board hav-
ing jurisdiction of the drain.  If the drainage board finds upon the
hearing that the conditions under sub. (2m) have been met, the
drainage board may issue an order transferring jurisdiction of the
drain or part of the drain to the municipality.  If the order transfers
jurisdiction of the entire district, the drainage district shall cease
to exist as a district under this chapter and shall automatically
come under the jurisdiction of the governing body of the munici-
pality in which the district is located.  If the order transfers juris-
diction of only a part of the district, the section transferred shall
automatically come under the jurisdiction of the governing body
of the municipality in which the district is located.

(5) Upon entry of an order transferring jurisdiction of an entire
district to a municipality and approval of the transfer by the
municipality, the county treasurer and district shall pay to the trea-
surer of the municipality all moneys in the county treasurer’s or
district’s hands which belong to the drainage district.  Upon entry
of an order transferring jurisdiction of a part of a district to a
municipality and approval of the transfer by the municipality, the
county treasurer and district shall pay to the treasurer of the
municipality a proportional share of the moneys in the county
treasurer’s or district’s hands which belong to the drainage district
based upon assessed benefits transferred less a proportional share
of outstanding indebtedness.

History:  1979 c. 110 s. 60 (11); 1991 a. 316; 1993 a. 456; 2017 a. 115.

SUBCHAPTER VIII

RIGHTS OF DRAINAGE; PRIVATE DRAINS;

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

88.87 Road grades not to obstruct natural drainage,
landowners not to obstruct highway drainage; reme-
dies.  (1) It is recognized that the construction of highways and
railroad grades must inevitably result in some interruption of and
changes in the preexisting natural flow of surface waters and that
changes in the direction or volume of flow of surface waters are
frequently caused by the erection of buildings, dikes and other
facilities on privately owned lands adjacent to highways and rail-
road grades.  The legislature finds that it is necessary to control
and regulate the construction and drainage of all highways and
railroad grades so as to protect property owners from damage to
lands caused by unreasonable diversion or retention of surface
waters due to a highway or railroad grade construction and to
impose correlative duties upon owners and users of land for the
purpose of protecting highways and railroad grades from flooding
or water damage.

(2) (a)  Whenever any county, town, city, village, railroad
company or the department of transportation has heretofore con-

structed and now maintains or hereafter constructs and maintains
any highway or railroad grade in or across any marsh, lowland,
natural depression, natural watercourse, natural or man−made
channel or drainage course, it shall not impede the general flow of
surface water or stream water in any unreasonable manner so as
to cause either an unnecessary accumulation of waters flooding or
water−soaking uplands or an unreasonable accumulation and dis-
charge of surface waters flooding or water−soaking lowlands.  All
such highways and railroad grades shall be constructed with ade-
quate ditches, culverts, and other facilities as may be feasible, con-
sonant with sound engineering practices, to the end of maintaining
as far as practicable the original flow lines of drainage.  This para-
graph does not apply to highways or railroad grades used to hold
and retain water for cranberry or conservation management pur-
poses.

(b)  Drainage rights and easements may be purchased or con-
demned by the public authority or railroad company having con-
trol of the highway or railroad grade to aid in the prevention of
damage to property owners which might otherwise occur as a
result of failure to comply with par. (a).

(c)  If a city, village, town, county or railroad company or the
department of transportation constructs and maintains a highway
or railroad grade not in accordance with par. (a), any property
owner damaged by the highway or railroad grade may, within 3
years after the alleged damage occurred, file a claim with the
appropriate governmental agency or railroad company.  The claim
shall consist of a sworn statement of the alleged faulty construc-
tion and a description, sufficient to determine the location of the
lands, of the lands alleged to have been damaged by flooding or
water−soaking.  Within 90 days after the filing of the claim, the
governmental agency or railroad company shall either correct the
cause of the water damage, acquire rights to use the land for drain-
age or overflow purposes, or deny the claim.  If the agency or com-
pany denies the claim or fails to take any action within 90 days
after the filing of the claim, the property owner may bring an
action in inverse condemnation under ch. 32 or sue for such other
relief, other than damages, as may be just and equitable.

(d)  Failure to give the requisite notice by filing a claim under
par. (c) does not bar action on the claim if the city, village, town,
county, railroad company or department of transportation had
actual notice of the claim within 3 years after the alleged damage
occurred and the claimant shows to the satisfaction of the court
that the delay or failure to give the requisite notice has not been
prejudicial to the defendant city, village, town, county, railroad
company or department of transportation.

(3) (a)  It is the duty of every owner or user of land who con-
structs any building, structure or dike or otherwise obstructs the
flow of stream water through any watercourse or natural or man−
made channel or obstructs the flow of surface water through any
natural or man−made channel, natural depression or natural draw
through which surface waters naturally flow:

1.  To provide and at all times maintain a sufficient drainage
system to protect a downstream highway or railroad grade from
water damage or flooding caused by such obstruction, by direct-
ing the flow of surface waters into existing highway or railroad
drainage systems; and

2.  To protect an upstream highway or railroad grade from
water damage or flooding caused by such obstruction, by permit-
ting the flow of such water away from the highway or railroad
grade substantially as freely as if the obstruction had not been cre-
ated.

(b)  Whoever fails or neglects to comply with a duty imposed
by par. (a) is liable for all damages to the highway or railroad grade
caused by such failure or neglect.  The authority in charge of main-
tenance of the highway or the railroad company which con-
structed or maintains the railroad grade may bring an action to
recover such damages.  An action under this paragraph shall be
commenced within the time provided by s. 893.59 or be barred.

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20985
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.83(2m)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1979/110
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1979/110,%20s.%2060
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/2017/115
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.87(2)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.87(2)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%2032
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.87(2)(c)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.87(3)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/893.59


DRAINAGE OF LANDS  88.9023 Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats.

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

(c)  The authorities in charge of maintenance of highways or
railroad companies maintaining railroad grades and their agents
and employees may enter any lands for the purpose of removing
an obstruction in a watercourse or highway drainage ditch which
is in violation of par. (a) and which is flooding or causing damage
to a highway under its jurisdiction.

(4) If a railway company fails to comply with sub. (2), any per-
son aggrieved thereby may file a complaint with the office of the
commissioner of railroads setting forth the facts.  The office shall
investigate and determine the matter in controversy in accordance
with ch. 195, and any order it makes in such proceeding has the
same effect as an order in any other proceeding properly brought
under ch. 195.

History:  1977 c. 29 s. 1654 (8) (c), (9) (f); 1979 c. 323; 1981 c. 347; 1993 a. 16,
123, 456.

Sub. (2) (c) requirements are mandatory conditions precedent to bringing an action
under this section.  Van v. Town of Manitowoc Rapids, 150 Wis. 2d 929, 442 N.W.2d
557 (Ct. App. 1989).

This statute preempts common law claims; the claims period under sub. (2) (c)
begins to run when the damage is first discovered and is not extended if damage con-
tinues.  Pruim v. Town of Ashford, 168 Wis. 2d 114, 483 N.W.2d 242 (Ct. App. 1992).

Despite a finding that a railroad was not responsible for increased water flow that
resulted in flooding, an order to the railroad to install a drainage pipe was proper.  Soo
Line Railroad v. Commissioner of Transportation, 170 Wis. 2d 543, 489 N.W.2d 672
(Ct. App. 1992).

Sub. (2) (a) imposes a duty on railroads to refrain from impeding water flow.  The
railroad commissioner may act prospectively under sub. (4) to prevent flooding.  Sub.
(2) (c) applies when there has been actual damage, but does not require actual damage
for the commissioner to act under sub. (4).  Chicago & North Western Transportation
Co v. Commissioner of Railroads, 204 Wis. 2d 1, 553 N.W.2d 845 (Ct. App. 1996),
95−2509.

This section does not impose on a circuit court a positive duty to grant injunctive
relief under specified conditions, but provides an alternative remedy to an action for
damages under ch. 32.  The common law preference for legal over equitable relief
applies.  As such, to obtain an injunction it must be shown that the injunction is neces-
sary to prevent future harm to the property and there is no adequate legal remedy.
Kohlbeck v. Reliance Construction Company, Inc. 2002 WI App 142, 256 Wis. 2d
235, 647 N.W.2d 277, 01−1404.

Parties who can state a claim against the Department of Transportation under both
ss. 32.10 and 88.87 may choose to file suit in either Dane County or the county in
which the property lies.  Kohlbeck v. Reliance Construction Company, Inc. 2002 WI
App 142, 256 Wis. 2d 235, 647 N.W.2d 277, 01−1404.

The state was not a proper party for claims against the Department of Transporta-
tion (DOT) as the two are distinct legal entities.  Service on the state of a summons
and complaint that named the state and not DOT as a party does not constitute service
on DOT necessary to establish personal jurisdiction over DOT.  Hoops Enterprises,
III, LLC v. Super Western, Inc. 2013 WI App 7, 345 Wis. 2d 733, 827 N.W.2d 120,
12−0062.

This section, by its terms, is not limited to faults in the construction of a railroad
grade.  If negligent maintenance, by itself or in conjunction with shortcomings in con-
struction, results in flooding, this section, and its limitations on the available reme-
dies, applies to the claims of an injured property owner.  Nothing in this section itself
supports the notion that its scope is limited to conduct that gives rise to repeated flood-
ing.  Boyer v. BNSF Ry. Co. 824 F.3d 694 (2016).

88.88 Railroad to construct ditch or sluiceway across
right−of−way.  (1) Whenever the owner of land desires to drain
the same by a blind or open ditch and, to properly drain such land,
a connecting ditch or sluiceway should be constructed across the
right−of−way of a railway company, such owner shall file with the
depot agent of such company nearest to such land a written peti-
tion stating the kind of ditch proposed to be built and requesting
the company to construct a ditch or sluiceway across its right−of−
way which will conform thereto.  Within 60 days after the filing
of such petition, the railway company shall construct such ditch
or sluiceway.  The petitioner shall pay the cost of such con-
struction and shall assume all expenses in connection with main-
taining such ditch or sluiceway on the railroad’s right−of−way.

(2) If the railway company fails to comply with sub. (1), the
person aggrieved thereby may file a complaint with the office of
the commissioner of railroads setting forth the facts.  The office
shall investigate and determine the matter in controversy in
accordance with ch. 195, and any order it makes in such proceed-
ing has the same effect as an order in any other proceeding prop-
erly brought under ch. 195.

History:  1977 c. 29 s. 1654 (9) (f); 1981 c. 347; 1993 a. 16, 123, 490.

88.89 Roads not to obstruct natural watercourse.
(1) Whenever any embankment, grade, culvert or bridge, includ-
ing the approaches to the culvert or bridge, built or maintained by
any person across a natural watercourse or natural draw obstructs

the watercourse or draw so that waters therein are set back or
diverted upon any lands in a drainage district, the person who built
the embankment, grade, culvert or bridge shall enlarge the water-
way through the embankment, grade, culvert or bridge and the
approaches thereto so that it will not set back or divert waters upon
lands in the district.

(2) The drainage board or the owner of any land upon which
water is set back or diverted by the obstruction described in sub.
(1) may serve notice upon the owner or maintainer of the embank-
ment, grade, culvert or bridge to enlarge the opening for the water-
way or to make new openings in order to permit the water to pass
without being set back or diverted onto the lands of the district.
If the owner of or person maintaining the embankment, grade, cul-
vert or bridge fails to comply with the directive of the notice within
60 days after receiving the notice, the drainage board on its own
behalf, or on petition of the injured landowner, may conduct a
hearing under sub. (3).

(3) Upon receipt of a petition under sub. (2), the drainage
board shall fix the time and place of a hearing on the petition and
shall issue an order to the owner or maintainer of the embankment,
grade, culvert or bridge to show cause why an order directing the
work to be done should not be issued.  At least 10 days before the
time fixed for the hearing on the petition, the order to show cause
shall be served on the owner or maintainer, or on both if both are
named in the petition, as prescribed in s. 801.11 for the service of
a summons.

(4) If the drainage board is satisfied that the embankment,
grade, bridge or culvert so obstructs the watercourse or draw that
it causes water to be set back or diverted upon lands in the drainage
district, the drainage board shall issue an order to the owner or
maintainer of the embankment, grade, bridge or culvert to enlarge
the waterway or construct a new waterway through the embank-
ment, grade, bridge or culvert, as the facts warrant.  The period of
time that the embankment, grade, bridge or culvert has been in
existence is no defense to a proceeding under this section.

(5) Any person who fails to comply with an order issued under
this section is liable to the injured party for all damages caused by
the failure.

History:  Sup. Ct. Order, 67 Wis. 2d 585, 774 (1975); 1977 c. 449; 1993 a. 456;
1995 a. 225.

88.90 Removal of obstructions from natural water-
courses.  (1) Whenever any natural watercourse becomes
obstructed so that the natural flow of water along the same is
retarded by the negligent action of the owner, occupant or person
in charge of the land on which the obstruction is located, the owner
or occupant of any lands damaged by such obstruction may
request the removal thereof by giving notice in writing to such
owner, occupant or person in charge of the land on which the
obstruction is located.

(2) If the obstruction is not removed within 6 days after receipt
of such notice and if the obstruction is located in a village or town,
the owner or occupant of the damaged lands may make complaint
to the village or town board, filing at the same time a copy of the
notice.  The village trustees or town supervisors, after viewing the
watercourse and upon being satisfied that the complaint is just,
shall make recommendations in writing to the owner or occupant
of the lands where the obstruction is located, for the removal of
such obstruction.  If such recommendations are not followed
within a reasonable time, the village or town board shall order the
obstruction removed.  The cost of view and of removal shall be
charged and assessed against the lands from which the obstruction
was removed and shall be collected as other special assessments
are collected.

(3) Whenever any natural watercourse becomes obstructed
through natural causes, the owner or occupant of any lands dam-
aged by the effect which the obstruction has upon the flow of the
water may go upon the land where the obstruction is located and
remove it at that person’s own expense.  Such person is not guilty
of trespass for entry upon the land but is liable for damage caused

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.87(3)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.87(2)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20195
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20195
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/29
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/29,%20s.%201654
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1979/323
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1981/347
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/16
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/123
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/150%20Wis.%202d%20929
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/442%20N.W.2d%20557
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/442%20N.W.2d%20557
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/168%20Wis.%202d%20114
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/483%20N.W.2d%20242
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/170%20Wis.%202d%20543
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/489%20N.W.2d%20672
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/204%20Wis.%202d%201
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/553%20N.W.2d%20845
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/wicourtofappeals/95-2509
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/2002%20WI%20App%20142
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/256%20Wis.%202d%20235
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/256%20Wis.%202d%20235
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/647%20N.W.2d%20277
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/wicourtofappeals/01-1404
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/2002%20WI%20App%20142
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/2002%20WI%20App%20142
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/256%20Wis.%202d%20235
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/647%20N.W.2d%20277
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/wicourtofappeals/01-1404
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/2013%20WI%20App%207
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/345%20Wis.%202d%20733
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/827%20N.W.2d%20120
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/wicourtofappeals/12-0062
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/824%20F.3d%20694
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.88(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20195
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/ch.%20195
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/29
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/29,%20s.%201654
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1981/347
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/16
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/123
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/490
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.89(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.89(3)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.89(2)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/801.11
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1977/449
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1995/225


Updated 17−18 Wis. Stats. 24 88.90 DRAINAGE OF LANDS

Updated 2017−18 Wis. Stats.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  September 1, 2020.

2017−18 Wisconsin Statutes updated through 2019 Wis. Act 186 and through all Supreme Court and Controlled Substances
Board Orders filed before and in effect on September 1, 2020.  Published and certified under s. 35.18.  Changes effective after
September 1, 2020, are designated by NOTES. (Published 9−1−20)

to crops or structures.  The rights and privileges conferred by this
subsection also extend to the agents or employees of the person
causing the obstruction to be removed.

(4) This section does not in any manner limit the scope of s.
88.87.

History:  1991 a. 316; 1995 a. 315.
Before proceeding under sub. (3), a permit to remove materials from the bed of a

navigable waterway under s. 30.20 is required.  State v. Dwyer, 91 Wis. 2d 440, 283
N.W.2d 448 (Ct. App. 1979).

If a municipality charges and assesses costs authorized under this section, it may
collect them in the same manner it collects special assessments under s. 66.0703.
However, if the municipality charges and assesses those costs under the authority
granted under this section, it need not comply with the requirements for special
assessments contained in s. 66.0703.  Neither the cost of viewing and removal under
sub. (2) and the cost of service to the property under s. 66.0703 includes the cost of
legal services incurred by the municipality in defending against challenges to the
removal of materials from a ditch.  Robinson v. Town of Bristol, 2003 WI App 97,
264 Wis. 2d 318, 667 N.W.2d 14, 02−1247.

88.91 Penalty for placing obstruction in ditches.
(1) Except as authorized by s. 88.93, no person shall place any
kind of obstruction to the free flow of water, including any soil
willfully deposited, in any drainage ditch, constructed under any
drainage law of this state or lawfully constructed by any other per-
son, without first obtaining the written consent of the drainage
board or other person or authority in charge of such ditch.

(2) Any person violating this section may be fined not more
than $100 and in addition is liable to the drainage district and to
all persons whose ditches or lands are injured by such obstruction
for all damages caused by the obstruction.

History:  1975 c. 108.
Cross−reference:  See also ch. NR 301, Wis. adm. code.

88.92 Private drains not to be connected with district
drains.  (1) Except as provided in s. 88.93 no person may con-
nect any drain with a district drain, extend any drain that connects
with a district drain or remove any spoil bank except under written
plans and specifications approved by the drainage board and
under any conditions imposed by the drainage board.  The drain-
age board may issue an order directing the removal or modifica-
tion of a drain connected or extended in violation of this section
or issue an order directing the restoration of any spoil bank
removed in violation of this section, including violations that
occurred before May 13, 1994.

(2) (a)  In this subsection, “damages” includes the payments
that the drainage district would have received during the time that
the illegal connection or extension existed if the territory drained
by the illegal connection or extension had been annexed to the dis-
trict and an assessment for connection of the drain under s. 88.405
had been levied.

(b)  Any person who violates sub. (1) is liable to the district for
all damages caused by the violation.

(3) The board shall preserve a copy of any plans and specifica-
tions approved under sub. (1).

History:  1993 a. 456.

88.93 Right to take water from drainage ditch.  Any
owner of lands which are located in or which adjoin a drainage dis-
trict and which border on a drainage ditch may take water from
such ditch for use in flooding lands for cranberry culture or for irri-
gation, if such water is taken from the ditch in such a manner as
not to injure the ditch and the taking thereof does not materially
defeat the purposes of such drainage and, in case the water is to
be used for irrigation, the permit required under s. 30.18 (2) (a) 2.
has been obtained.

History:  1985 a. 60.

88.94 Drains for individual landowners.  (1) Whenever
any owner of agricultural lands desires to install drainage upon not

more than 80 acres of such land, the owner may present a petition
to the drainage board or, if there is no drainage board in the county,
to the town supervisors of the town in which such land is located.
Such petition shall set forth that:

(a)  The petitioner desires to install drainage upon agricultural
lands owned by the petitioner;

(b)  Because of the contour of the land there is no suitable outlet
on lands owned by the petitioner;

(c)  The proposed drain will promote the general welfare and
health of the community;

(d)  It is impractical for the petitioner to drain the land without
crossing the lands of others; and

(e)  It is desired that a drain be laid out to a suitable natural out-
let, specifying the course of the drain and location of the proposed
outlet and ownership of lands through which such proposed drain
would be laid.

(2) After receiving the petition the drainage board or supervi-
sors of the town shall promptly fix the time and place of a hearing
on the petition and shall give notice of the hearing under s. 88.05
(2) (b) to the owners and occupants of all lands through or along
which the drain may pass and to the persons specified in s. 88.05
(4) (a).

(3) At the time and place fixed for hearing, the drainage board
or town supervisors shall meet and hear all interested persons
wishing to appear for or against the petition.  If the board or super-
visors decide that the facts set out in the application are true, that
a drain is necessary and that the benefits will exceed the cost of
construction, they shall by order lay out a drain through which
applicant’s lands may be drained as a public drain.  Otherwise,
they shall deny the application.  An order laying out a drain shall
specify the benefits and damages to lands of others through which
such drain will be laid out and shall provide that the drain may not
be constructed until the excess of damages over benefits, if any,
has been paid to the landowners entitled thereto.  The order also
shall contain a description of the location of the drain and specifi-
cations therefor.  Lands of others shall not be assessed for costs
even though benefited by the drain.

(4) Within 10 days after the making of an order laying out a
drain, the board or supervisors shall cause a copy of the order to
be sent by registered mail to each owner through whose lands the
drain will pass, but failure to mail the copy within 10 days does not
render the order void.  Such order is final unless appealed from to
the circuit court within 30 days after the mailing of the copy
thereof as provided in this subsection.

(5) Within 30 days after the time for appeal from the order has
expired or after the order is confirmed on appeal, the board or
supervisors shall cause a copy of the order to be recorded with the
register of deeds of the county in which the lands are located.
Thereupon, the drain becomes a public drain and the applicant
may proceed with construction after having paid any excess of
damages over benefits as specified in the order.

(6) This section does not authorize entry upon lands of another
without the consent of the owner thereof during any time when
there is any growing crop on such land, and no order issued under
this section is effective to authorize such entry.

(7) This section does not apply to the installation or construc-
tion of a drain across the right−of−way of any railroad company,
proceedings for which shall be as provided in s. 88.88.

(8) Expenses incurred by the drainage board under this section
shall be paid by the petitioner.

History:  1991 a. 316; 1993 a. 301, 456, 490.

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.87
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1995/315
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/91%20Wis.%202d%20440
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/283%20N.W.2d%20448
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/283%20N.W.2d%20448
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/2003%20WI%20App%2097
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/264%20Wis.%202d%20318
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/courts/667%20N.W.2d%2014
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/wicourtofappeals/02-1247
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.93
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1975/108
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/administrativecode/ch.%20NR%20301
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.93
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.405
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.92(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.92(1)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/30.18(2)(a)2.
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1985/60
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(2)(b)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.05(4)(a)
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/88.88
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1991/316
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/301
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/456
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/acts/1993/490

	WI Substantial Amendment 3_FINAL - FC Package.pdf
	CDBG-CLOSE PROGRAM CONTACT INFORMATION
	ATTN: CDBG-CLOSE Applications
	PLEASE NOTE:
	Contents
	What is CDBG?
	CDBG-CLOSE
	Eligible CDBG-CLOSE Applicants
	Maximum Project Period
	Other Federal Requirements
	At the completion of the environmental review (ER) process, DEHCR will issue an environmental clearance letter. In addition, please note:
	Audit

	Meeting a National Objective
	1. Documentation of Low-to-Moderate Income Benefit
	2. Documentation of Prevention or Elimination of Slums and Blight
	3. Project Maps –
	 See specific Program Requirements for Project Maps details.
	Please submit one original and one electronic copy to:
	Wisconsin Department of Administration Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
	Public Facilities
	Public Facilities for Economic Development Economic Development
	Housing Rehabilitation Planning
	Important Information:
	Application Submission:
	Please submit one original and one electronic version to:

	CDBG-CLOSE Forms
	Forms Submitted to DEHCR with Application – All Project Types
	Forms Submitted to DEHCR with Application – Public Facilities
	Forms Submitted to DEHCR with Application – Public Facilities for Economic Development
	Forms Submitted to DEHCR – Qualification Under Section 105 (a) (15) of the Housing and Community Development Act
	Environmental Review
	Davis-Bacon
	1. Adopting Resolution of Citizen Participation Plan
	2. Citizen Participation Plan
	Citizen Participation Plan for the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program
	PURPOSE
	PROGRAM OVERSIGHT
	CITIZEN PARTICIPATION
	NOTICE OF HEARINGS
	REQUIRED PUBLIC HEARINGS
	PROGRAM INFORMATION, FILES, and ASSISTANCE
	COMPLAINTS
	NON-ENGLISH SPEAKING PERSONS


	3. Citizen Participation Plan Public Hearing Notice
	Public Hearing Notice

	4. Citizen Participation Public Hearing Certification
	for Public Hearing #1
	CITIZEN PARTICIPATION #1 CERTIFICATION FORM INSTRUCTIONS
	5. Service Area Demographic Profile
	6. Potential Fair Housing Actions
	7. Fair Housing Ordinance
	8. Fair Housing Ordinance
	Fair Housing Ordinance

	9. Slum and Blight Certification (if required)
	For Area Basis projects:
	For Spot Basis Projects:
	SLUM & BLIGHT CERTIFICATION AND COMPLIANCE FORM INSTRUCTIONS
	Wisconsin Department of Administration
	Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources Bureau of Community Development
	Attn: CDBG Grant Application Reviewer 101 E. Wilson Street, 6th Floor
	P.O. Box #7970 Madison, WI 53707-7970

	10.  Relocation Plan/Anti-Displacement Policy
	Residential Anti-Displacement and Relocation Assistance
	WISCONSIN RESIDENTIAL ANTI-DISPLACEMENT AND RELOCATION ASSISTANCE PLAN FOR CDBG PROGRAMS
	Minimize Displacement
	Relocation Assistance to Displaced Persons
	One-for-One Replacement of Lower-Income Dwelling Units
	Replacement not Required Based on Unit Availability
	Contacts


	11.  Authorizing Resolution for Application Submission
	for the Submission of a Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Application
	Community Development Block Grant – Public Facilities (CDBG–PF) / Planning (CDBG-PLNG) program;
	WHEREAS, Federal monies are available under the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program, administered by the Wisconsin Department of Administration (DOA) Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources (DEHCR) for the purpose of the provi...
	development of a
	plan (CDBG-PLNG), or for the provision or improvement of public facilities (CDBG-PF); and WHEREAS, after public meeting and due consideration, the
	has recommended that an application be submitted to DOA for the following project(s):
	; and
	receive funds from this program; and
	need for the proposed project(s) and the benefit(s) to be gained there from;
	NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the
	does hereby approve and authorize the preparation and filing of an application for the above-
	that authority is hereby granted to
	to take the necessary steps to prepare and file the application for funds under this program in accordance with this resolution.

	12. Statement of Assurances
	[Initial each item.]
	13. Lobbying Certification
	LOBBYING CERTIFICATION FROM THE MUNICIPALITY
	14. Resolution to Adopt Excessive Use of Force Ordinance
	SAMPLE
	POLICY TO PROHIBIT THE USE OF EXCESSIVE FORCE AND THE BARRING OF ENTRANCES/EXITS FOR NON-VIOLENT CIVIL RIGHTS DEMONSTRATIONS

	15. Authorizing Resolution to Commit Matching Funds
	Authorizing Resolution to Commit Match Fund RESOLUTION NO.  [NUMBER]
	A RESOLUTION OF THE [GOVERNING BODY] OF THE [MUNICIPALITY TYPE] OF
	[MUNICIPALITY], providing a Guarantee of Matching Funds for the 2018 [CDBG RLE- ED XX] Application

	16. Environmental Review


	Applications and Application Specific Attachments
	A. Applications
	1(a) Public Facilities Application

	Community Development Block Grant CLOSE Grant Application for Public Facilities
	APPLICANT:   DATE:  / /

	ATTACHMENTS AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
	ATTACHMENTS AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
	ATTACHMENTS AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
	ATTACHMENTS AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
	ATTACHMENTS AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
	ATTACHMENTS AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
	ATTACHMENTS AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
	1(b) Public Facilities Application Specific Attachments
	i. Acquisition, Relocation and Demolition Questionnaire
	N/A).
	PLEASE NOTE:

	2(a) Public Facilities – Economic Development
	Community Development Block Grant CLOSE
	Grant Application for Public Facilities – Economic Development
	APPLICANT:   DATE:
	In addition to Applicant Match Funds, summarize the other Public and Private sources of project funding:
	(Authorized Representative)
	(Authorized Representative


	2(b) Public Facilities – Economic Development Application Specific Attachments
	i. Davis Bacon/Federal Labor Standards Law
	ii. Federal Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO-1) Report
	iii. Acquisition, Relocation and Demolition Questionnaire

	ACQUISITION, RELOCATION, & DEMOLITION QUESTIONNAIRE
	for a Community Development Block Grant (CDBG)
	N/A).
	PLEASE NOTE:
	iv. Employment Profile Certifications and Forms
	v. Job Creation Table


	JOB CREATION TABLE
	vi. Job Retention Table

	JOB RETENTION TABLE
	vii. Employee Self-Certification
	viii. Payroll Reports
	ix. Other Required Attachments

	3(a) Economic Development Application
	SECTION I: GENERAL INFORMATION
	1) Legal Applicant (Community/UGLG)
	2) Certification by Authorized Official:
	3) Administering Agency (e.g. Economic Development Corporation, Regional Planning Commission, Consultant)
	4) Contact Information for Other Agency Involved (if applicable)
	5) Developer or Business
	6) Project Information
	7) Project Map
	8) Current Employment Composition1
	9) Employee Benefits
	10) Projected Employment in Each Year1
	1Definitions:
	11) Project Consideration

	SECTION II: PROJECT PROFILE
	(Attach Exhibit 11 – Environmental Review Record Checklist)
	{Attach Exhibit 12a – Job Creation Table}
	The businesses must use the Applicant/ Employee Self-Certification Forms (Exhibit 12c) to survey employees to determine the current LMI percentage. Each employee is required to complete an Applicant/ Employee Self-Certification Form. The Family Income...
	Was the project(s) successful? Yes ☐ No ☐

	3(b) Economic Development Application Specific Attachments
	i. Davis Bacon/Federal Labor Standards Law
	ii. Federal Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO-1) Report
	iii. Business/Developer Investment and Job Creation Commitment Letter Business/Developer Investment and Job Creation Commitment Letter (Sample)
	iv. Acquisition, Relocation and Demolition Questionnaire

	ACQUISITION, RELOCATION, & DEMOLITION QUESTIONNAIRE
	for a Community Development Block Grant (CDBG)
	N/A).
	PLEASE NOTE:
	v. Job Creation Table


	JOB CREATION TABLE
	Vi. Job Retention Table

	JOB RETENTION TABLE
	Vii. Employee Self-Certification
	Viii. Payroll Reports
	Ix. Other Required Attachments

	4(a) Housing
	Non-Regional Housing Program
	4(b) Housing Application Specific Attachments
	5(a) Planning Application
	ATTACHMENTS AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
	ATTACHMENTS AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
	ATTACHMENTS AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
	ATTACHMENTS AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
	ATTACHMENTS AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
	ATTACHMENTS AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
	ATTACHMENTS AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION





